
TOWN OF PAONIA 

214 GRAND AVE 
REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY, MARCH 14, 2023 6:30 PM 

HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/86070663684

MEETING ID: 860 7066 3684  

ONE TAP MOBILE  

17193594580 

Roll Call 

Correspondence Received 
1. Comments on Vo-Tech Building Purchase

2. Janicky Omniprocessor Information

3. Citizen Kudos to Town Staff

4. Citizen Complaint

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 

Public Comment 

Consent Agenda 

Minutes 

November 22, 2023 Regular Meeting 

February 28, 2023 Regular Meeting 

Disbursements 

Liquor License Renewal 
Flying Fork Cafe 

Staff Reports 
Interim Administrator 

Finance Director 

 Director Request for Board approval to transfer funds. 

Police Chief 

 Blotter 

Public Works 

 Director Request for Board approval of asbestos removal bid. 

Actions & Presentations 

Public Hearing- 

Brandon Mason- Home Occupation Permit Application for Podcast Studio 

Other Items 

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/J/86070663684


1. Delta County request for Support and Direction Regarding Wildfire Mitigation on Town of Paonia

Property

2. Hotchkiss Chamber of Commerce updating Paonia Board of Trustees on Chamber activities and

requesting Town’s involvement in a North Fork Valley Chamber of Commerce 

3. Request to Install and Maintain a Pantry Shelf in Town Hall – Monica Foguth

4. North Fork Pool Park & Recreation Request for Board Direction on Options for the Skate Park

5. North Fork Valley Creative Coalition Request for Reimbursement of Corridor Dues

6.North Fork Valley Creative Coalition Request for Letter of Support for Town of Paonia for Colorado

Creative District Renewal 

7. Approval to Enter into Contract Negotiations with Selected Housing Firm

8. Ordinance 03-2023: Amending Street Closure Permits

9. Direction from the Board regarding possible zoning violation investigation - Interim Town

Administrator 

10. Request for Board Direction Establishing Needs & Desires Boundaries for Liquor Licensing - Town

Clerk & Town Attorney 

11. Approve the Mayor to sign documents allocating the Town’s 2023 Opioid Settlement Funds to the

Region 14 Opioid Abatement Council (Delta, Gunnison, Hinsdale, Montrose, Ouray, and San Miguel 

Counties) 

Mayor & Trustee Reports 

Adjournment 

2



 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

 

3



Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting. 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

II. CONSENT AGENDA

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

III. EXECUTIVE SESSION

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the event the Board plans to discuss more than 

one of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the 

announcement of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into 

executive session, there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



March 9, 2023 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 
5

Correspondence Received



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

November 22, 2022 

  

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

Roll Call 
PRESENT 

Mayor Mary Bachran 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Thomas Markle (attends on Zoom) 

Trustee Dave Knutson 

Trustee Paige Smith 

Trustee Dave Weber 

Trustee John Valentine 

 

ABSENT 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

 

 

Approval of Agenda 
Mayor Bachran makes a note that the I-Codes adoption needs to be a public hearing. 

Tonight, it will be a review discussion and the public hearing and adoption will be at the 

next meeting. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Weber, to approve the agenda. 

 

Motion carries unanimously 

 

Announcements 
There are two members of the North Fork High School Advanced Audio/ Visual Class in 

attendance, Teacher Clara Pena and Aiden Kinser. The class is helping to make a short 

video for the SIPA Grant, showing where the sound upgrades are needed and going to be 

used. The Town of Paonia is very grateful for their help. 

 

Town Administrator Finalists have been chosen: Evan Bolt, Guy Patterson and Melissa 

Fields-Allgeyer. The Town is taking letters of interest for a community leader panel for 

the interview process. Mayor Bachran asks that those letters of interest be emailed to 

Trustee Smith. 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem  Markle joins at 6:35 pm 

Joe Brewer, specialist in permaculture and regenerative agriculture, was in town giving a 

seminar that had some good tips on managing conversation that Trustee Knutson wrote 

on a flip chart and hung on the wall to share. 

 

 

14



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

Recognition of Community & Guests 

No Community Comment 

 

Consent Agenda 
Minutes: 

September 8, 2022 

 

Special Meeting Minutes: 

June 3rd, 2022 

August 17, 2022 

August 22, 2022 

November 3, 2022 

November 9, 2022 

November 10, 2022 

 

Disbursements 

 

Motion made by Trustee Weber, Seconded by Trustee Valentine, to approve the consent 

agenda. 

 

Trustee Smith had comments on several sets of minutes for readability, such as 

numbering new business for readability, better recording of actual wording of minutes. 

Mayor Bachran suggests that the Trustee write the suggestions down and send them to 

the Deputy Clerk to save time and confusion. 

 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to amend the main 

motion adding that Trustee Smith work with the Deputy Clerk to make suggested edits. 

 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle offers to show the staff how to use the transcription 

service to help in less time-consuming and more concise minute taking. 

 

Motion to amend carries unanimously. 

 

Trustee Weber adds a "thank you" to staff for working on getting minutes caught up, 

recognizing the hard work involved. 

 

Main Motion " to approve the consent agenda with Trustee Smith working with the 

Deputy Clerk to make suggested edits to the Minutes. 

 

Voting Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine and 

Trustee Weber 

 

Voting Nay: Trustee Smith 

 

Motion carries. 

 

15



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

Staff Reports 

Community member asks when they can speak and after finding they had missed their 

opportunity at "Recognition of Community & Guests" because they didn't hear, Mayor Bachran 

allows them to make a comment before "Staff Reports". 

Public Comment: 

M. Hollander: Has concerns about the building permit process and thinks everyone should be 

treated the same way. 

Trustee Weber informs that he checked on the project she is talking about and a building permit 

has been issued for it. 

Mayor Bachran reminds everyone that there is to be no back and forth discussion and in the 

future, to please contact people after the meeting to answer their questions. 

Staff Reports 

Interim Administrator Leslie Klusmire details what she has identified as projects needing taken 

care of after meeting with department heads, Board members, and several contractors. She shares 

some updates about capital projects, town attorney work, police department hires and purchases 

and grants with CDOT & DOLA. The Interim Administrator also provides some information on 

affordable housing studies, the building permit project spoke about by M. Hollander earlier, the 

old Hive building and her individual meetings with Board members that she will be submitting a 

report about at a later date. 

Trustee Smith asks Finance Director Jones about what SAMS is. Director Jones and Interim 

Administrator Klusmire explain that it is one of four different memberships the Town must have 

to receive grants. 

Trustee Smith also thanks Director Jones for including the grant updates in her report, which is 

helpful. 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem asks if it is possible to get some documentation on the SIPA grant, 

showing what its limitations are. And asks for clarification about the group helping make a video 

for it. 

Mayor Bachran explains that since the Town was unable to attend in person when the grant was 

awarded, that SIPA asked for a short video about how the funds would be used and that the 

group making the video is North Fork High School students in the Advanced Audio/Visual 

Class, not a hired group. 

 

 

 

Public Hearing 
 

16



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

 

 

Resolution 2022-13- Declaring the Decision to Opt-Out of FAMLI 

 

Public Hearing is opened at 6:56 pm 

 

Interim Administrator Klusmire asks if there has been a discussion about opting in or 

not. 

 

Trustee Smith asks whether or not the employees were surveyed about what their 

preference was and asks for some clarification about whether the new accrued leave 

that this program gives is payable on separation from employment or not. 

 

Town Attorney Cotton-Baez provides advice about the employees knowing that they 

can comment on the decision. He also directs the Board to the personnel guide for 

answers on the carry-over. 

 

Trustee Weber states that he feels the Town is more generous in leave time than the 

FAMLI plan. 

 

Trustee Knutson states that the Town went from Sick Leave to Paid Time Off which 

is much more structured. He continues that the polling of the employees is important 

because it can be a major impact on them and the law requires proof that the 

employees have been notified. Trustee Knutson then suggests that the issue be tabled 

until there is proof that that notification has happened and he doesn't view the packet 

being published as good enough. 

 

Interim Administrator Klusmire reads the section of the Personnel Manual that deals 

with PTO and PSL. 

 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith , to continue the 

public hearing to the December 13th meeting. 

 

Trustee Smith makes a motion to amend the main motion, Seconded by Trustee 

Weber to add that Interim Administrator Klusmire make sure the employees are 

canvassed before the next meeting. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

Main motion " to continue the public hearing to the December 13th meeting and 

having the interim administrator canvassing the employees before then." 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

Public Hearing is continued to the December 13th meeting. 

 

17



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

Unfinished Business 
 

Police Department Vehicle Purchase 
Mayor Bachran provides overview that during one of the budget sessions they had passed 

a motion to let the police department purchase a vehicle in the 2022 budget.Finance 

Director Jones clarifies that when they approve an amount they need to include the price 

of the vehicle and the cost of outfitting the vehicle as well. 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to approve the vehicle 

purchase maximum of $55,000. 

 

Trustee Smith asks a question about whether or not it is an unmarked vehicle. 

 

Trustee Knutson asks if they will still approve the purchase before it happens and Finance  

Director Jones answers that the reason they are seeking a blanket approval is that the 

vehicles sell fast and even the ones they are looking at now are likely already sold. 

 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle asks about a motion made at another meeting about 

establishing a vehicle replacement policy. 

 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Weber, to amend the main motion 

making the Maximum amount $60,500. 

 

Public Comment: 

 

C. Patterson: Asks if there is some sort of five-year plan from the police department with 

the Back the badge money. 

 

Mayor Bachran reminds the public that the only discussion right now is on amending the 

amount to $60,500 maximum for the new police vehicle. 

 

C. Patterson: says she understand but wonders if having a five or ten year plan involving 

that money would help in these decisions. 

 

T. Lord: A comment was made about robbing Peter to pay Paul, in this situation who is 

Peter and who is Paul? 

 

Unhearable name on recording: If we are using more than was budgeted for the vehicle, 

where is that extra money coming out of in the police budget? 

 

Finance Director Jones does reply that it would come from the Police Department 

reserves 

 

Motion on Amendment: 

 

Voting Aye: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine, Trustee Smith and Trustee Weber 

 

18



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

Voting Nay: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle 

 

Motion Carries. 

 

Main Motion "To approve the police vehicle, fully outfitted, purchase maximum of 

$60,500.00" 

 

Voting Aye: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine, Trustee Weber 

 

Voting Nay: Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle and Trustee Smith 

 

Main motion carries. 

 

Ordinance 2022-09: Amendment to Chapter 18 of the Municipal Code and adopting 

2018 I-Code 
Mayor Bachran outlines that this version of Ordinance 2022-09 came after a long 

discussion, after which Trustee Smith took considerable time going through and 

adding/changing things based on the discussion. Next, Building Official Dan Reardon, 

went through and made comments on those suggestions and that is the current version of 

the ordinance.  

 

Board Discussion: 

 

Trustee Smith explains that most of her changes were merely for clarification and 

cleaning up. Building Inspector Reardon made compelling arguments about why a few of 

her suggestions shouldn't be used and she agrees with him. She asks that those 

suggestions be removed. 

 

Trustee Weber asks Inspector Reardon if what they have come up with is consistent with 

surrounding communities and he agrees that it is. 

 

Mayor Bachran says that Trustee Stelter called her that day and asked that the Town 

insist on sprinklers in nursing homes and care facilities and in the ground floor of 

commercial buildings when there are residences above them. Inspector Reardon confirms 

that requirement is included, between this ordinance and the International Building Code. 

 

Trustee Smith asks that when the final draft is written, that the National Electrical Code 

be spelled out instead of its acronym on page 125. 

 

Inspector Reardon also reminds the Board that our Resolution fee schedule doesn't 

address all of the violations and fines spelled out in the Ordinance so recommends that be 

updated as well. 

 

 

 

 

19



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 7 

 

Street Closure Change of Ordinance Recommendation 
Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle explains briefly what decisions the Board still needs to 

make to finish out the proposed revisions to the Ordinance: insurance responsibility and 

restrictions on how many times a street can be closed. 

 

Town Attorney Nick Cotton-Baez suggests that the insurance language would be best 

from CIRSA but he is happy to work with them on it. 

 

Interim Administrator Klusmire explains that special events aren't covered under a 

blanket policy but have to buy a rider and then the Town has to collect the fee from the 

event holder. 

 

Board discusses the pro's and con's to this avenue 

 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith , to be consistent and 

require the event holder to be responsible for providing proof of  general liability 

insurance with their application. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

Trustee Valentine describes the public input meetings and how it was hard to nail down a 

good suggestion for how to handles street closures coming too frequently and there was 

not a consensus on how best to restrict it, when you consider that it has to apply to both 

the main business core of the town and residential neighborhoods for block parties etc. 

Trustee Smith states that she also wants to see a very clear policy that prevents the matter 

from coming to the Board of Trustee's to be the final word after it is adopted. 

 

Trustee Weber agrees that Board should not have the authority to make exceptions to law 

and they should leave the hours the way they were originally set. 

 

Mayor Bachran agrees that the Board should be taken out of the permit process but 

makes the point that the original hours were from pre-COVID and that the pandemic 

changed the way business is looked at and done dramatically. 

 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle clarifies that the Board approval parts were for the 

people who were upset there wasn't a process to go through for exceptions. He 

recommends that the Board approval part be included so they can make exceptions, 

without breaking the law. 

 

Trustee Smith points out that if they set the rules, then people will plan their events 

within those rules. There were businesses downtown that weren't happy with a three day 

street closure just as there were others that were happy about it.  

 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, that section (l) says 

commercial streets not be closed more than 6 times in one calendar year. 

20



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 8 

 

Public Comment: 

 

M. McEnnis: Is there a balance between restrictive and fluid? For example: setting 

criteria for an organization to meet if an exception can be made ie. public support? 

 

Unknown: Does not want the businesses on Grand to be the ones who decide if the public 

gets to close the streets. 

 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle clarifies that the petition is not meant to decide whether 

or not a closure happens but be used as a courtesy and information gathering for future 

decision making. 

 

Town Attorney Cotton Baez asks for clarification on the term commercial district. 

 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion , Seconded by Trustee Valentine to amend the main 

motion to say 8 events per calendar year. 

 

Public Comment: 

 

S. Patterson: it should be days not events 

 

Motion to amend to 8 events. 

 

Voting Aye: Trustee Valentine, Trustee Knutson 

 

Voting Nay: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle,Trustee Smith, Trustee Weber 

 

Main Motion " that section (l) says C-1 and C-2 streets not be closed more than 6 times in 

one calendar year. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Valentine, that section (m) say 

that street closures can not exceed 10 hours in duration, except on Sundays and State 

recognized holidays. Any street closure falling outside of this limit shall require a review 

and approval of the Board of Trustees. 

 

Board discussion about what Sundays and holidays hour limit should be. 

 

Trustee Knutson rewords his motion, that section (m) say that street closures can not 

exceed 10 hours in duration. Any street closure application falling outside of these limits 

shall require a review and approval of the Board of Trustees. 

 

Board discussion again about the position this puts Trustees in about making exceptions 

with no guidelines to follow for approval or denial. 

21



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 9 

 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to amend the main motion 

to add' and not more than one day in duration', after 10 hours in duration and strike the 

option of review and Board approval. 

 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to split 

the motion into two distinct amendment motion. 

 

Vote to amend main motion (1) "amend motion to add 'and not more than one day in 

duration" after “cannot exceed more than 10 hours in duration" 

 

Voting Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Smith, Trustee Weber 

 

Voting Nay: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine 

 

Motion to amend carries. 

 

Vote to amend main motion (2) striking the clause for Board review and approval. 

 

A poll is requested by Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle due to confusion of motion 

 

Poll: (Aye: to keep the Board review and approval process) 

 

Trustee Knutson: Aye 

Trustee Valentine: Aye 

Trustee Smith: Nay 

Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle: Aye to retain 

Trustee Weber: Nay 

 

Motion carries to keep Board of Trustee's review and approval. 

 

Main motion:  that section (m) say that the Town administrator can approve street 

closures but the closure can not exceed 10 hours in  duration and one consecutive day. 

Any street closure application falling outside of these limits shall require a review and 

approval of the Board of Trustees. 

 

Board discussion proceeds on the best way to word the motion so that it is clear. 

 

Town Attorney Nick Cotten-Baez asks for clarification on what the Boards intent is and 

then suggests that in the future, instead of trying to 'draft on the fly' they can inform him 

of their intent and allow him to draft the appropriate language. 

 

The Board asks the Town attorney draft their intent and he clarifies what they are asking 

for: town administrator approval, closures not longer than 10 hours in duration, no street 

closures more than one day in a row, no more than  6 street closures in a C-1 or C-2 

district in a calendar year, and that street closures falling outside those limits will be 

required to be reviewed and approved by the Board of Trustees.  

22



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 10 

 

 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Valentine, to take a five-minute 

recess. 

 

Motion passes unanimously. 

 

Meeting resumes at 8:24 pm 

 

Flag Policy Recommendations 
Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle and Trustee Valentine provide background on the 

developing of the Flag Policy and public information meetings leading to it. Board voted 

to remove restrictive language and they tried to include permissive language instead. 

 

Board Discussion includes that Paonia is a statutory town, discomfort with people putting 

up their own flag displays for safety and liability reasons, how this would impact school 

event and town sponsored event banners, takes away the ability of sponsorship and 

promotion of special events like BMW, Cherry Days, Mountain Harvest Festival etc, 

ceremonial vs special occasion, DMEA poles and what should be allowed on them, Town 

should own anything that flies on Town owned property.Trustee's also discuss whether as 

a municipality there is any obligation to advertise or promote graduations or events. 

 

Trustee Valentine asks the Town attorney if the language about ceremonial/ 

commemorative flags opens the town up for a lawsuit. 

 

Town Attorney Cotten-Baez responds that it was the primary reason for his comment in 

the prior meeting. Says that the policy is very good at the beginning when it comes to 

government speech but when it opens the door for the public to apply for a permit to hang 

their own, it blurs the line between government speech and freedom of expression. There 

needs to be parameters of government speech in the policy and right now it is too open 

ended to protect the Town. He could make some suggestions based on what other 

municipalities have done. He continues on with multiple suggestions that could be 

covered in a policy ie: insurance, materials, maintenance. The Town Attorney also talked 

about the importance of defining town sponsorship and government speech. 

 

Board discussion continues with topics about town purchased banners and signs only and 

striking section B. 

 

Interim Administrator Klusmire suggests changing it to Town Owned and then it could 

become a matter of the organizations donating them. 

 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith , to strike section b of the 

flag policy and replace it with Town owned banners and flags. 

 

Board discussion includes this putting the board back in the same position that they are 

already in, not wanting a divided community and staying away from controversy, giving 

23



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11 

 

it back to Town Attorney, section (b) has some language that is still needed, no more new 

ideas coming out of streets committee. 

 

Town Attorney asks for clarification about Section (b) and points out that as long as 

groups can submit applications for approval or denial it opens the door to freedom of 

expression instead of it being government speech. It is the approval and Denial process 

that is the issue. 

 

Board discussion continues with suggestions of leaving it to the private sector to hang 

things in their windows and stop bringing it to the Board to approve or deny. 

 

Public Comments: 

 

Appreciate Trustees Valentine and Markle and their time spent to help find a solution and 

make sure everyone was heard, Paonia should celebrate these heritage days and months 

like other places.  

 

Eliminate the approval and disapproval process, follow National law, Paonia is more than 

a municipality. 

 

Quite a few Board members are quick to allow religious decorations and if those are 

allowed so should Pride flags. 

 

Founding Fathers intent was about not allowing government to dictate religion. What is a 

heritage flag? 

 

Objects don't cause controversy, peoples way of thinking does. These situations open 

good conversations between neighbors. 

 

Freedom in your own space not what can my government do, protect, say, give me. 

Be very careful about flying flags for special groups, that is dangerous territory. Only 

government speech on public property. 

 

Paonia is welcoming, keep it that way. Don't go with the easy option, don't vote easy. 

If you are going to ask for a committee and involve the community, then do not throw 

away what they came up with. 

 

Please keep and adopt Section 3 (b) 

 

Many State and Federal government buildings celebrate all the heritage months, follow 

their examples. 

 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Weber to split the 

motion. 

 

Board discussion: while government should be representative of community, it is not. 

24



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 12 

 

Trustee Valentine makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to amend the 

motion  to say strike section (b) except for 3 (b) 

 

Aye: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine 

Nay: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Smith, Trustee Weber 

 

Main motion (1) Motion to strike Section B 

 

Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Weber, Trustee Smith 

Nay: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Weber 

 

Motion carries. 

 

Main motion (2): motion to only have the Town fly town owned banners and flags 

 

Aye: Trustee Smith, Trustee Weber 

Nay: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine 

 

Motion fails. 

 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Weber to adopt the flag policy as 

amended 

 

Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Weber, Trustee Smith 

Nay: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine 

 

The motion carries. 

New Business 
 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Valentine to extend the meeting to 

9:45 pm. 

 

Voting Aye:  Trustee Knutson, Trustee Smith, Trustee Weber, Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem 

Markle 

Voting Nay: Trustee Valentine 

 

Board decides to move  Resolution 2022-15 Water Rates and Charges, Ordinance 2022-

08. Sewer Rates and Resolution 2022-14 Garbage Rates to the Special Meeting on 

November 29th at 5 pm after the RCAC Sewer Cost Analysis Report. 

 

Appointment to the Tree Board 
Trustee Valentine makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson to accept the 4 

applicants for the Tree Board to fill the 4 spots that are open. 

 

Voting Aye: Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine, Trustee Smith and Trustee Weber 

25



 

  

NOVEMBER 22, 2022 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 13 

 

Voting Nay: Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle 

 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle calls point of order and states that with multiple people 

talking it is very hard to hear and asks the Board to please follow procedure so only one 

person is talking at a time. 

 

Cancellation of Second Meeting in December 

 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to cancel the second 

meeting in December.  

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

Town Hall Closure Request 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson to approve the Town Hall 

Closure requests for the holidays. 

Motion carries unanimously. 

Resolution 2022-15 Water Rates and Charges 
Moved to November 29, 2022 Special Meeting 

 

Ordinance 2022-08 Sewer Rates 

Moved to November 29, 2022 Special Meeting 

Resolution 2022-14 Garbage Rates  
Moved to November 29, 2022 Special Meeting 

 

Mayor's Reports 
 

Committee Reports 
Personnel: 

Town Clerk is a statutory requirement and the knowledge of Clerk duties is needed. The 

expertise of the role is needed, and the staff needs to have someone who can answer 

questions. 

 

Adjournment 

Meeting Adjourns at 9:44 pm 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk                          Mary Bachran, Mayor  

26



 

  

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

February 28, 2023 

  

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

Roll Call 
Mayor Bachran calls the meeting to order at 6:30 pm 

 

PRESENT 

Mayor Mary Bachran 

Trustee Dave Knutson 

Trustee Paige Smith 

Trustee Dave Weber 

Trustee John Valentine 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

 

ABSENT 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Thomas Markle 

 

Correspondence Received 
 

Street Closure Comments 

 

Approval of Agenda 
Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve the agenda. 

 

Announcements 
Mayor Bachran makes an announcement about the Paonia Ditch Meeting coming up and Cory 

Heiniger is going as well as making the Towns proxy votes. 

 

Trustee Weber announces he no longer has access to his dweber@townofpaonia.com email. It 

now requires a two-factor authentication that requires a cell phone and he does not have one. He 

can be reached by phone or in person. 

 

Public Comment 
No members of the public wanted to speak. 

 

Consent Agenda 
 

Minutes 

September 15, 2022 Special Meeting 

October 4, 2022 Special Meeting 

February 14, 2023 Regular Meeting 

27



 

  

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

Disbursements 

February 14, 2023 

February 28, 2023 

 

 

Motion made by Trustee Weber, Seconded by Trustee Smith to approve the consent 

agenda. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

Staff Reports 
 

Finance Director 

Public Works Director 

 

Trustee Knutson and the rest of the Board publicly thank the Public Works committee for 

their wonderful job of snow removal during the big storm. The Town looked better than it 

had in a long time. 

 

Trustee Smith asks follow-up questions about the estimates for the track vehicle and what 

fund it will come out of. 

 

Trustee Smith ask questions about the $7000 bill for snow removal. Public Works 

Director Heiniger answers that the cause of that bill was having two snow plows break 

down during removal and having to bring in outside help, it is not a normal cost. 

 

Actions & Presentations 
 

Public Hearings 
None Scheduled 

 

Other Items 
 

1. Multi-Modal Trail and Park/Open Connectivity - Colorado West Land Trust 

 

Libby Collins from Colorado West Land Trust gave a presentation on the work they have 

done to finish a trail, crossing multiple properties, starting at the river park and ending at 

the Paonia Library. They have worked with the owner of the riverbank property about 

crossing and they have agreed to the project. 

 

Ms. Collins is requesting that the Council agree to further discussion with Colorado West 

Land Trust about the project to finish the trail, what comes next and to discuss 

collaboration on the project. 

28



 

  

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

The Board discusses that this project has been in the works for some time and is much 

desired, cost of maintenance and operations, safety issues for the river crossing, whether 

they can use the already approved bridge design and how best to further the discussion. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Weber, Seconded by Trustee Stelter, to have Colorado West 

Land Trust continue conversations with Mayor Bachran and Interim Administrator Leslie 

Klusmire about this project. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

2. Phoenix Rising Resources Contract Approval - Master Plan for Town of Paonia 

Calla Rose Ostrander presents for Phoenix Rising Resources. 

 

Trustee Knutson states that he likes the idea of coordination with the Affordable Housing 

firm when they are chosen. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Weber, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to approve the contract 

with Phoenix Rising Resources. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

3. Energy & Environment Symposium Scholarship - Trustee Knutson 

Trustee Knutson provides some background on how he became the Local Government 

Designee and how he would take care of the rest of the trip cost. 

 

Board discussion continues about whether this is something that is still needed for our 

area, BLM leases, watersheds, Oil & Gas Commission starting to consider health and 

safety issues, airshed concerns, conversations about permitting, methane capture, pipeline 

constructions and many other issues that can and will affect our area in the future. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Smith, Seconded by Trustee Weber, to approve the remaining 

cost for the Energy & Environment symposium of $197.50 for Trustee Knutson's 

attendance. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

4. SIPA Audio Upgrade -Trustee  Markle & Trustee Valentine 

Trustee Valentine gives an overview of the sound issues and the research leading them to 

the OWL system. He further described the set-up, ease of use and benefits and drawbacks 

of both. He also went over the itemized list of prices that was included in the packet, 

explaining what was needed and why. Trustee Valentine has plans to go to Region 10 in 

Montrose to see and ask questions about their OWL set-up. Interim Town Administrator 

Klusmire and Town Attorney Cotton-Baez also share their own experiences with places 

they have worked with an OWL system. 

29



 

  

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Stelter to authorize Trustee 

Valentine to begin purchasing the needed items for the OWL Laboratories system and 

accessories with the funds from the SIPA Grant for the sound system upgrade. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

5. Approval of Resolution 04-2023 Establishing Roles and Responsibilities of Town 

Committees 

Interim Administrator Klusmire provides an overview of the current committee roles and 

why they should be reviewed and updated to have more traditional roles for liability and 

Board advisory purposes. 

 

Board discussion covers committee set-ups, how committees can provide valuable help 

with setting policy and information gathering, the benefits of formality vs informality, 

possibility of reforming the Governmental Affairs & Public Safety committee and having 

a work session to work on the details. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Weber, that the committees line 

out their duties by the end of March . 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Weber, that at the April 25th, 

2023 meeting from 6:30 - 8:00 pm be a Work Session on committee roles and duties. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

6. Administrator Search Update 

Trustee Smith and Trustee Valentine, Personnel Committee, gave an update. They  have 

received 18 applications with the last one being submitted on  February 24th, 2023. They 

will be going through and winnowing the  selection down before passing the rest on to 

the Board to narrow down  further. 

 

The Board discussed how they wanted to proceed, whether  it was a different caliber of 

candidates, whether they wanted to  continue with the layered interview approach, 

background checks, levels  of experience they were looking for, whether to change the 

final  interview process and how to narrow down the list. 

  

7.Approval of Intent to Ask Senators Bennett & Hickenlooper for Congressionally 

Directed Funds for Water/Sewer Projects 

Mayor Bachran introduced this topic and then explained that after doing some research 

that these funds wouldn't likely help with water/sewer projects since the funds have to go 

through the appropriations process and wouldn't be available until 2024. The Mayor then 

asked the Board how they would feel about still asking for the funding to buy the 

decommissioned school building at Fourth and Grand from the school district for $2.5 

million. 

30



 

  

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

The Board discussed possible building remediation, the many different uses that could be 

available ie. town hall, affordable housing, community center, senior center; land use and 

worth, operations cost, March 10th funding deadline, property values and planning for 

the future. 

 

Motion is made by Trustee Stelter, Seconded by Trustee Smith to approve the request to 

ask for congressional Funding to move forward on this project 

 

Public Comment: 

 

C. Patterson: The price for that property used to be $1.2 million so maybe the School 

District would be flexible on pricing and when she looked at it previously the operations 

costs were about $30,000/yr. 

 

S. Patterson: Suggests talking to the realtor since they know a lot about the property and 

believes that the School District would be flexible on the price. Also suggests looking at 

other available properties instead of just focusing on the VoTech building. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

8.Approval of Intent to Apply for DOLA and Tier I DOLA EIAF Grant for Dorris 

Sewer Line Replacement 

The Mayor introduces this topic by specifically talking about the Dorris sewer line, which 

is in rougher shape than it was originally thought. There is a maximum of $200,000 and it 

could move this project forward quickly though there is a possibility that the Town may 

have to move on this project before the grant could be approved. 

 

Board discussion covers, rough mapping, matching funds, timing, DOLA suggestions,, 

engineering is putting together bid packets currently, and it would be for the Dorris line 

only. If the sewer line looks like it is preparing to collapse, the Town will move 

immediately to replace the sewer line and the funding will be unusable at that point. 

 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Stelter to approve applying for the 

DOLA and Tier I DOLA EIAF grant for the Dorris sewer line. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

9.Approval of Intent to Apply for DOLA & Colorado Water Conservation Planning 

Grants re: Hydro-geological study of Paonia/Crawford Spring  Complexes 

Mayor Bachran provides information on these grants; one would be used as a match for 

the other; a $200,000 grant with a $25,000 match. This project must be done before 

Spring Redevelopment can start. 

 

Board discussion includes that the River District has reached out and has offered to help 

find the funding for this project, what a hydro-geological study can be used for, 

31



 

  

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

discussion on infiltration beds and engineering plans, DOLA, River District and the 

CDPHE. 

 

Trustee Weber makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson to approve the application 

for DOLA & Colorado Water Conservation Planning Grants for hydro-geological study 

of the Paonia/Crawford Spring complexes. 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

 

Executive Sessions 
None Scheduled 

 

Mayor & Trustee Reports 

 

Mayor's Report February 14, 2023 (requested) 

Mayor's Report February 28, 2023 

Parks Committee February  

 

Trustee Smith asked question about the status of grants included in the February 14, 2023 

Mayor's report. 

Board discussion includes ideas for signs for community notification, fixing the website 

for better information, Region 10 grant processes, committee notification requirements, 

energy funding opportunities, Munidoc utilization. 

Trustee Smith and Trustee Weber ask for a copy of the GOCO rejection letter. 

Further discussion about packet modification after the fact. 

Mayor Bachran asks for signatures for support letter for the Congressional Funding letter. 

 

Adjournment 
 

Meeting adjourns at 8:38 pm. 

 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk                          Mary Bachran, Mayor  

32



To: The Honorable Mayor Mary Bachran and Board of Trustees 

From: Samira Vetter, Town Clerk  

Date: February 14, 2023 

RE: Flying Fork Café Finding of Fact 

Staff Recommendation: Approve Flying Fork Café Liquor License Renewal 

 The application is complete. 

 Local fees are paid and State fees are in the possession of the Town Clerk to be sent to 

the State with the application. 

 Paonia Police Department has no concerns or issues with the renewal. 

 The Town Clerk’s office has no concerns or issues with the renewal. 

 

33



34



35



36



37



1 

 

To: The Honorable Mayor Mary Bachran and Board of Trustees 

From: Leslie Klusmire, Interim Town Administrator 

RE: Administrator’s Report 

Date:  March 14, 2023 

 

Board Priorities Work Session on Monday, March 13th – 5 to 9 pm:  This work session will be over 
by the time your regular meeting rolls around. In preparation, the department heads met two 
weeks ago and turned in their 2023 goals and projects last week. We had an ‘all-staff’ meeting 
Monday at noon to hear from everyone what they thought the priorities should be. Department 
heads gave you their input. Your work from Monday night will be folded into an online and paper 
survey to gather the community’s opinions. All this will come to you at your first meeting in April 
so that you can adopt the Town’s 2023 goals and work program. This will become the basis for 
reporting updates from Town staff. 

 
Phoenix Rising Resources LLC– Town of Paonia Master Plan Project: The firm is scheduling a 
master plan “kick-off” joint Planning Commission & Board of Trustees work session toward 
the end of the month. Please fill in the doodle poll from the consultants I sent on March 8th.  
No public comment will be taken at this meeting. The firm’s proposal includes extensive 
public involvement at later dates. 

 

 

Water and Sewer Improvements, including those necessary to lift the tap moratorium: 
We continue to plug away at improving Paonia’s water and sewer infrastructure. We have 
received the proposal for the structural inspection of the 2 mg gallon tank roof, and the Public 
Works crew will schedule that inspection. 

 

JDSHydro identified a long-term solution to the leak near the railroad. The Public Works staff 
will be rerouting that line so that it no longer extends under the tracks in that location. They 
are conducting a helium test to locate the leak better. 
 
DOLA wants the Town to apply for an Energy Impact Tier 1 grant (EIG) to pay for 50% of the 
sewer line replacement on Dorris. We may be adding some other wastewater treatment plant 
upgrades to this grant. The Town has budgeted $100,000 for the Dorris line, and the EIG grant 
requires a 50% match. The EIG money won’t be available until July. We are proceeding with 
the bid package and will put it out to bid before receiving the grant. We would not be able to 
sign a contract and start the project until the grant is awarded. If the line begins to fail, we will 
proceed with replacement without the benefit of the DOLA grant. 
 
The Mayor’s pre-qualification application for the Town’s water needs was accepted as 
complete.  The CDPHE is scheduling the Town’s pre-qualification meeting for the Drinking 
Water projects in April. SGM and JDSHydro engineers and our public works staff will be on the 

38



2 

 

call. The Town will likely phase its loan applications with the most crucial projects in the first 
round. These include spring redevelopment, 2mg tank rehabilitation, and replacing the 8100’ 
thin-walled steel pipe.  The Town plans to apply for a $1,000,000 Energy Impact Tier II grant in 
August to supplement this loan. 
 
I am finishing the CDPHE pre-qualification application to replace all the VCP (clay) sewer pipe. 
 
We were stalled in our efforts to obtain an estimate for a hydrogeology study. Finding a 
hydrogeologist that could do that work proved challenging. JDSHydro assisted us in finding the 
right expertise, and Jeremiah is now talking with Wright Water Engineers, who are working up 
a proposal. After much discussion, the Tuesday afternoon water and sewer project 
management team believes that the hydrogeology study has to be started before we can 
engineer the spring redevelopment project. Currently, we are focusing our planning efforts on 
the best way to tease out the parts of this effort that will allow the Town to lift the water 
moratorium in three years. This is a complex and challenging undertaking because we are 
working with a lot of unknowns. 
 
Funding for the hydrogeology study (which Delta County and the Town of Crawford have 
pledged to support) will most likely come from a DOLA planning grant ($25,000), the Colorado 
Water Conservation Board ($100,000), and the Colorado River District, which has funding to 
bridge the gap. 
 
Town Administrator Search: I met with the Personnel Committee, and we selected eight 
candidates for screening interviews. In attempting to schedule those interviews, we’ve only 
had four board members available at any of the meeting time options in the next few weeks. 
The Personnel Committee is deciding how they want to proceed. 
 
Realistically, it’s looking like you won’t have a candidate on board until the end of May. 
Although final interviews and selection could take place in April, you’ll need to negotiate a 
contract, and then the person most likely has to give notice and move here. I’m hoping it goes 
faster, but from experience, this hire tends to take a long time to get into place. 
 
Committee Role Descriptions: The Board of Trustees Streets, Water/Sewer/Trash, Public 
Safety, Government, and Parks Committees committed to write down and turn in their roles 
to the Town Clerk in April. We have yet to receive any to date. I am holding off on any further 
work with the functions of committees until those are received. 
 
Land Use Training Work Session on March 23rd: This is essential training for the Town of 
Paonia Board of Adjustment, Planning Commission, and Board of Trustees. A significant 
number of prior land use decisions in the Town did not follow the Town’s code or comply with 
land use laws. I have drafted a lengthy handout for the training that Nick is reviewing. I hope 
to send it out next week so the boards will have time to review it before the training. It will 
also be posted on the Town website.  
 

39



3 

 

Although no public comment will be taken at the training, it would be good to invite realtors 
and other folks affected by Town land use decisions to listen in. Please bring your questions 
for Nick. If you can send them to me ahead of time, I’ll forward them to Nick so he can prepare 
answers beforehand. You’ll leave better informed about how land use laws work in statutory 
towns and know how to proceed with these applications. 

 
Code and Personnel Handbook Changes: I have been unable to do much with the code in the 
last couple of weeks. I will continue to work on the administrative chapter as time allows. I 
am drafting the content, and he’ll do the final edit to ensure it’s defensible. I want to work on 
the zoning code next. This project is a backburner to the other day-to-day work we need to 
do. However, we hope to have the administrative chapter for you soon. I also think the 
Personnel Handbook needs a significant overhaul. The goal is to ensure that the Personnel 
Handbook and the Code are clear and consistent. Revising the Personnel Handbook should be 
easier because there are standard templates to start with, and CIRSA will review the final 
draft and make recommendations for revisions. 

 

40



Finance Report as of 3/9/23 presented at the 3/14/23 meeting: 

 

Monthly: 

Payroll has been completed, reviewed, and released for payrolls up through 3/10/2023. 

Bank statements through 2/28/2023 have been reconciled and reviewed. 

Norris Retirement is pending with an effective date of 3/24/23. 

Banking: 

Bank Balances provided on the Disbursement Report as of 3/09/23. 

Required Filings: 

Annual Census Reporting – Due 12/20/22-Extension filed. 

CY22 Form 536 Local Highway Finance Report-due 6/1/2023. 

CTF Spending Reporting -  

Year-End: 

Financial Review by account - in process. 

Audit: 

Site Visit starts 4/17/2023. 

Budget: 

No changes to report 
 
Other (Continued): 

ClearGov – Final numbers to be sent-Pending! 

 

OTHER TO DO ITEMS: 

None to report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



GRANT/LOAN UPDATES:   

PENDING 

DWRF02 – Pre-Qualification Application – Submitted = $23,000,000 

DOLA Planning Grant = $25,000  

 

RECEIVED: 

IHOP Housing Grant = $59,850  

Colorado Grand = $17,000 

ARPA-received $184,616.40 in 2021 and 2022.  

CDOT Grant 5th Street Intersection = $792,961 

SIPA-sound system micro grant 2022 = $6,500 

 

Please note: This report is not a comprehensive list of all projects but acts as a highlight of 

included packet documents, ongoing, and upcoming projects. 

42



BANK BALANCES 2023

BANK ACCOUNT JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY X

UBB (FSBC) PREV BAL 357,071.40           235,084.74            402,604.63           402,604.63           402,604.63           402,604.63           402,604.63           

OPS - 0733 CKS/DR 445,366.36           178,291.65            

DEP/CR 323,379.70           345,811.54            

END BAL 235,084.74           402,604.63            402,604.63           402,604.63           402,604.63           402,604.63           402,604.63           X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) PREV BAL 991.90                   1,084.25                1,703.82               1,703.82               1,703.82               1,703.82               1,703.82               

PAYROLL - 3629 CKS/DR 56,525.01             64,216.67              

DEP/CR 56,617.36             64,836.24              

END BAL 1,084.25               1,703.82                1,703.82               1,703.82               1,703.82               1,703.82               1,703.82               X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC)-3858 PREV BAL 25,025.00             25,025.00              25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             

GRANT CKS/DR -                         -                          

PASS-THRU DEP/CR -                         -                          

END BAL 25,025.00             25,025.00              25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) (FCNB) PREV BAL 40,912.00             40,912.00              40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             

INTERNAL - 0571 CKS/DR -                         -                          

GRANTS DEP/CR -                         -                          

END BAL 40,912.00             40,912.00              40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) - 0911 PREV BAL 12,750.00             12,750.00              12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             

PARK CKS/DR -                         -                          

CONTRIBUTION DEP/CR -                         -                          

INT/CR -                         -                          

END BAL 12,750.00             12,750.00              12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) - 2318 PREV BAL 58,594.73             58,602.20              58,608.94             58,608.94             58,608.94             58,608.94             58,608.94             

WWTP CKS/DR -                         -                          

DEP/CR -                         -                          

INT/CR 7.47                       6.74                        

END BAL 58,602.20             58,608.94              58,608.94             58,608.94             58,608.94             58,608.94             58,608.94             X

RATE 0.15% 0.15%

 UBB (FSBC) (FCNB) PREV BAL 10,419.54             10,420.42              10,421.22             10,421.22             10,421.22             10,421.22             10,421.22             

CONSERV CKS/DR -                         -                          

TRUST 0857 DEP/CR -                         -                          

INT/CR 0.88                       0.80                        

END BAL 10,420.42             10,421.22              10,421.22             10,421.22             10,421.22             10,421.22             10,421.22             X

RATE 0.10% 0.10%

OPERATING ACCOUNTS

RESESTRICTED FUND ACCOUNTS

43



BANK BALANCES 2023

BANK ACCOUNT JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY X

UBB (FSBC) - 3637 PREV BAL 2,397,077.20       2,397,484.41        2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       

MMKT CKS/DR -                         -                          

RESERVE DEP/CR -                         -                          

INT/CR 407.21                   367.86                    

END BAL 2,397,484.41       2,397,852.27        2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       2,397,852.27       X

RATE 0.20% 0.20%

COLO PREV BAL 1,789,274.23       1,796,211.53        1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       

TRUST CKS/DR -                         -                          

PLUS+ DEP/CR -                         -                          

INVESTMENT INT/CR 6,937.30               6,539.45                

END BAL 1,796,211.53       1,802,750.98        1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       1,802,750.98       

AVG RATE 4.56% 4.74% X

UBB (14) (FSBC) PREV BAL 203,950.52           203,950.52            203,950.52           203,950.52           203,950.52           203,950.52           203,950.52           

18MO CKS/DR -                         -                          

CD-2143 DEP/CR -                         -                          

INT/CR -                         -                          

END BAL 203,950.52           203,950.52            203,950.52           203,950.52           203,950.52           203,950.52           203,950.52           X

AVG RATE 0.35% 0.35%

UBB (31) (FSBC) PREV BAL 261,115.54           261,378.93            261,378.93           261,378.93           261,378.93           261,378.93           261,378.93           

18MO CKS/DR -                         -                          

CD-2143 DEP/CR -                         -                          

INT/CR 263.39                   -                          

END BAL 261,378.93           261,378.93            261,378.93           261,378.93           261,378.93           261,378.93           261,378.93           X

AVG RATE 0.40% 0.40%

TOTAL PREV BAL 5,157,182.06      5,042,904.00       5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      #

TOTAL CKS/DR 501,891.37          242,508.32           -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

TOTAL DEP/CR 379,997.06          410,647.78           -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

TOTAL INT/CR 7,616.25              6,914.85               -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                         -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

TOTAL 2023 ACCOUNTS 5,042,904.00      5,217,958.31       5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      5,217,958.31      

TOTAL 2022 ACCOUNTS 3,809,158.13      3,908,928.65       3,953,717.60      4,009,417.96      4,168,574.16      4,286,812.33      4,666,136.75      

TOTAL 2021 ACCOUNTS 2,695,410.75      2,794,267.13       2,827,035.60      2,878,900.52      3,033,101.71      3,353,077.83      3,460,866.44      

TOTAL 2020 ACCOUNTS 2,498,095.32      2,507,992.28       2,530,243.83      4,222,013.58      2,766,714.22      2,844,095.58      2,838,734.18      

TOTAL 2019 ACCOUNTS 1,952,778.56      2,154,496.81       2,216,740.65      2,268,526.46      2,560,627.61      2,606,146.61      2,665,999.92      

TOTAL 2018 ACCOUNTS 2,243,850.59      2,643,430.19       2,609,936.21      2,758,682.91      2,787,133.34      2,909,775.06      2,883,634.79      

TOTAL 2017 ACCOUNTS 1,916,629.29      1,856,495.51       1,837,973.49      2,027,530.45      2,363,845.59      2,079,469.54      2,015,506.17      

TOTAL 2016 ACCOUNTS 987,595.88          1,322,980.68       1,116,198.52      1,523,989.77      1,917,756.35      1,967,252.20      1,874,857.87      

TOTAL 2015 ACCOUNTS 1,653,400.33       1,907,317.22        2,079,530.21       2,000,000.74       1,759,581.96       1,718,267.39       1,593,788.44       

TOTAL 2014 ACCOUNTS 2,036,560.85       2,012,766.27        2,053,803.28       2,046,353.56       2,069,077.88       2,002,370.22       1,956,418.34       

TOTAL 2013 ACCOUNTS 2,361,290.03       2,369,419.89        2,376,310.46       2,323,916.46       2,320,709.32       2,286,978.98       1,978,090.95       

TOTAL 2012 ACCOUNTS 2,362,402.55       2,256,299.75        2,246,468.64       2,213,216.49       2,202,233.11       2,152,976.82       2,357,742.26       

2022 VS 2023 1,233,745.87       1,309,029.66        1,264,240.71       1,208,540.35       1,049,384.15       931,145.98           551,821.56           

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS

44



BANK BALANCES 2022

BANK ACCOUNT JAN JULY AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC X

UBB (FSBC) PREV BAL 225,029.68           255,061.81           443,675.60           267,693.29           280,364.71            375,014.37            266,465.55            

OPS - 0733 CKS/DR 398,510.48           308,356.18           543,181.83           339,022.65           211,535.78            450,633.61            221,891.81            

DEP/CR 274,483.75           496,969.97           367,199.52           351,694.07           306,185.44            342,084.79            312,497.66            

END BAL 101,002.95           443,675.60           267,693.29           280,364.71           375,014.37            266,465.55            357,071.40            X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) PREV BAL 25.00                     3,234.63               15.00                     97.35                     209.70                    302.05                    23,375.45              

PAYROLL - 3629 CKS/DR 45,021.34             51,310.35             47,533.58             49,812.02             48,498.43              65,305.86              68,549.95              

DEP/CR 45,021.34             48,090.72             47,615.93             49,924.37             48,590.78              88,379.26              46,166.40              

END BAL 25.00                     15.00                     97.35                     209.70                   302.05                    23,375.45              991.90                    X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC)-3858 PREV BAL 25.00                     25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00              25,025.00              25,025.00              

GRANT CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

PASS-THRU DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

END BAL 25.00                     25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00             25,025.00              25,025.00              25,025.00              X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) (FCNB) PREV BAL 25.00                     25.00                     40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00              40,912.00              40,912.00              

INTERNAL - 0571 CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

GRANTS DEP/CR 16,024.38             40,887.00             -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

END BAL 16,049.38             40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00             40,912.00              40,912.00              40,912.00              X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) - 0911 PREV BAL 12,563.11             12,750.00             12,750.00             12,750.00             12,799.23              12,750.00              12,750.00              

PARK CKS/DR 4,813.11               -                         -                         -                         49.23                      -                          -                          

CONTRIBUTION DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         49.23                     -                          -                          -                          

INT/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

END BAL 7,750.00               12,750.00             12,750.00             12,799.23             12,750.00              12,750.00              12,750.00              X

RATE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

UBB (FSBC) - 2318 PREV BAL 58,482.72             58,550.45             58,557.91             58,565.37             58,572.59              58,580.05              58,587.27              

WWTP CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

INT/CR 12.42                     7.46                       7.46                       7.22                       7.46                        7.22                        7.46                        

END BAL 58,495.14             58,557.91             58,565.37             58,572.59             58,580.05              58,587.27              58,594.73              X

RATE 0.25% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

 UBB (FSBC) (FCNB) PREV BAL 10,406.97             10,414.30             10,415.18             10,416.06             10,416.92              10,417.80              10,418.66              

CONSERV CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

TRUST 0857 DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

INT/CR 1.33                       0.88                       0.88                       0.86                       0.88                        0.86                        0.88                        

END BAL 10,408.30             10,415.18             10,416.06             10,416.92             10,417.80              10,418.66              10,419.54              X

RATE 0.15% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10%

UBB (FSBC) - 0563 PREV BAL (9.19)                      0.00                       0.00                       0.00                       0.00                        0.00                        0.00                        

SPACE TO CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

CREATE DEP/CR 10.00                     -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

INT/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

END BAL 0.81                       0.00                       0.00                       0.00                       0.00                        0.00                        0.00                        X

RATE 0.00% CLOSED

OPERATING ACCOUNTS

RESESTRICTED FUND ACCOUNTS

45



BANK BALANCES 2022

BANK ACCOUNT JAN JULY AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC X

UBB (FSBC) - 3637 PREV BAL 1,392,857.03       1,694,912.81       1,845,208.96       2,095,552.56       2,195,905.28        2,196,278.31        2,396,670.06        

MMKT CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

RESERVE DEP/CR -                         150,000.00           250,000.00           100,000.00           -                          200,000.00            -                          

INT/CR 354.89                   296.15                   343.60                   352.72                   373.03                    391.75                    407.14                    

END BAL 1,393,211.92       1,845,208.96       2,095,552.56       2,195,905.28       2,196,278.31        2,396,670.06        2,397,077.20        X

RATE 0.30% 0.200% 0.200%

COLO PREV BAL 1,758,506.32       1,762,652.96       1,765,131.73       1,768,506.23       1,772,319.09        1,777,150.16        1,782,752.64        

TRUST CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          0

PLUS+ DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

INVESTMENT INT/CR 109.84                   2,478.77               3,374.50               3,812.86               4,831.07                5,602.48                6,521.59                

END BAL 1,758,616.16       1,765,131.73       1,768,506.23       1,772,319.09       1,777,150.16        1,782,752.64        1,789,274.23        

AVG RATE 0.07% 0.03% 2.25% 2.62% 3.21% 3.83% 4.30% X

UBB (14) (FSBC) PREV BAL 203,237.95           203,592.95           203,592.95           203,592.95           203,772.64            203,772.64            203,772.64            

18MO CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

CD-2143 DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

INT/CR -                         -                         -                         179.69                   -                          -                          177.88                    

END BAL 203,237.95           203,592.95           203,592.95           203,772.64           203,772.64            203,772.64            203,950.52            X

AVG RATE 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35%

UBB (31) (FSBC) PREV BAL 260,073.18           260,592.42           260,852.42           260,852.42           260,852.42            261,115.54            261,115.54            

18MO CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

CD-2143 DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

INT/CR 262.34                   260.00                   -                         -                         263.12                    -                          -                          

END BAL 260,335.52           260,852.42           260,852.42           260,852.42           261,115.54            261,115.54            261,115.54            X

AVG RATE 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40%

UBB (FSBC) PREV BAL -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          

LOC CKS/DR -                         -                         -                         -                         

DEP/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         

INT/CR -                         -                         -                         -                         

END BAL -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          X

AVG RATE

TOTAL PREV BAL 3,921,222.77      4,286,812.33      4,666,136.75      4,743,963.23      4,861,149.58       4,961,317.92       5,081,844.81       

TOTAL CKS/DR 448,344.93          359,666.53          590,715.41          388,834.67          260,083.44           515,939.47           290,441.76           

TOTAL DEP/CR 335,539.47          735,947.69          664,815.45          501,667.67          354,776.22           630,464.05           358,664.06           

TOTAL INT/CR 740.82                  3,043.26              3,726.44              4,353.35              5,475.56               6,002.31               7,114.95               
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                         -                         -                         

TOTAL 2022 ACCOUNTS 3,809,158.13      4,666,136.75      4,743,963.23      4,861,149.58      4,961,317.92       5,081,844.81       5,157,182.06       

TOTAL 2021 ACCOUNTS 2,695,410.75      3,460,866.44      3,534,971.86      3,678,531.65      3,773,355.32       3,880,916.63       3,921,222.77       

TOTAL 2020 ACCOUNTS 2,498,095.32      2,838,734.18      2,859,369.34      2,808,076.56      2,958,371.20       2,891,292.77       2,851,002.80       

TOTAL 2019 ACCOUNTS 1,952,778.56      2,665,999.92      2,668,988.15      2,554,128.62      2,617,541.25       2,579,426.94       2,573,516.58       

TOTAL 2018 ACCOUNTS 2,243,850.59      2,883,634.79      2,888,148.39      2,489,282.80      2,373,303.20       2,385,227.66       2,261,306.20       

TOTAL 2017 ACCOUNTS 1,916,629.29      2,015,506.17      1,857,731.32      2,565,761.51      2,498,308.06       2,542,350.77       2,592,978.01       

TOTAL 2016 ACCOUNTS 987,595.88          1,874,857.87      1,894,042.44      1,883,051.68      1,879,795.32       1,992,492.28       1,777,483.60       

TOTAL 2015 ACCOUNTS 1,653,400.33       1,593,788.44       1,677,560.21       1,550,452.03       1,568,412.32        1,476,434.43        1,721,006.44        

TOTAL 2014 ACCOUNTS 2,036,560.85       1,956,418.34       1,991,633.33       2,054,088.02       2,074,813.39        2,032,794.46        1,921,074.79        

TOTAL 2013 ACCOUNTS 2,361,290.03       1,978,090.95       1,887,185.49       2,153,583.57       2,175,646.11        2,188,694.46        2,112,110.50        

TOTAL 2012 ACCOUNTS 2,362,402.55       2,357,742.26       2,373,017.68       2,356,132.02       2,552,358.60        2,553,516.47        2,473,702.32        

2020 VS 2021 1,113,747.38       1,205,270.31       1,208,991.37       1,182,617.93       1,187,962.60        1,200,928.18        1,235,959.29        

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS

LINE-OF-CREDIT

$200,000.00

46



 

 

Town Board Staff Report 

Subject: Transfer of Funds 

Author: Cindy Jones 

Representing: Finance 

Date: 3/9/2023 
 
Specific request: Transfer $2,390,000 from United Business Bank to ColoTrust General Fund Account 

 

Summary Recommendation 
I would like approval to transfer $2,390,000 from United Business Bank Summit Money Market Account 
(which is paying .20% APY) to ColoTrust General Fund Account (which as of March 9, 2023, was paying 
4.8387% Daily Yield) 
 
Executive Summary 

To improve the town’s yield on funds invested: 

United Business Bank is paying .20% APY. 

ColoTrust is paying 4.7751% daily yield as of February 28, 2023 

 

The Intent 
To increase interest revenue for the General Fund 
 
Background 
The bank had in the past been competitive with interest rates, however under the new administration 
rate are increasing significantly with ColoTrust. 
 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 
The option would be to leave it at United Business Bank earning .20% interest approximately $367.86 
per month. 
or 

Move the fund to ColoTrust earning 4.8387% interest or approximately $9,071.88 per month. 

 
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
Transfer of Funds has no Fiscal Impact. 
 
Attachments 
2021-09-28 COLOTRUST PLUS+ PROFILE 
2022-04 COLOTRUST PLUS INVESTMENT POLICY 
2022-10.11 COLOTRUST PLUS INFORMATION STATEMENT 

47



September 28, 2021

CP
53.9%

ABCP
28.9%

REPO
6.4%

COLL-BD
1.0%

MMF
4.5% CD

3.6%

TREAS
1.7%

CP - Commercial Paper; ABCP - Asset-backed commercial paper; REPO -
Repurchase Agreement; COLL-BD - Collateralized Bank Deposits; MMF -
Money Market Fund; TREAS - Treasury

Portfolio Composition as of September 28, 2021

www.spratings.com

  
The COLOTRUST PLUS+ portfolio invests in U.S. 
Treasury securities, federal instrumentality 
securities, agency securities, repurchase 
agreements, tri-party repurchase agreements, 
collateralized bank deposits, commercial paper 
that, at the time of purchase, is rated in its highest 
rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations that 
regularly rate such obligations, and highly-rated 
corporate bonds. The portfolio's weighted average 
maturity to reset (WAM(R)) is kept under 60 days, 
which helps to enhance liquidity and limits market 
price exposure. Portfolio securities are priced to 
market on a daily basis.      

Rationale

Overview

Management

Portfolio Assets

Participants should consider the investment objectives, risks and charges and expenses of the pool before investing. The investment guidelines
which can be obtained from your broker-dealer, contain this and other information about the pool and should be read carefully before 
investing.

  
S&P Global rates Colorado Local Government 
Liquid Asset Trust (COLOTRUST PLUS+) 'AAAm'. 
The rating signifies our forward-looking opinion about 
a fixed-income fund's ability to maintain principal 
value (i.e., stable net asset value, or 'NAV'). This is 
accomplished through conservative investment 
practices and strict internal controls. S&P Global 
monitors the portfolio on a weekly basis.

  
COLOTRUST PLUS+ is a short-term money-market 
fund organized in conformity with Part 7 of Article 75 
of Title 24, Colorado Revised Statutes. The portfolio 
offers Colorado governmental entities a convenient 
and efficient means to pool their funds to take 
advantage of short-term investments and maximize 
net interest earnings. The investment objective of  
COLOTRUST PLUS+'s is to obtain as high a level of 
current income as is consistent with the 
preservation of capital and liquidity. The other 
portfolio offered by the trust is Colorado Local 
Government Liquid Asset Trust (COLOTRUST 
PRIME), which is also rated 'AAAm'. The 
COLOTRUST PLUS+ portfolio has been in operation 
since May 16, 1994.      

  
The investment adviser for COLOTRUST PLUS+ is 
Public Trust Advisors LLC (Public Trust), a 
Colorado-based investment adviser, registered with 
the SEC. The administrative, marketing, and 
operational functions of the portfolio are also 
performed by Public Trust. The Trust is subject to 
the general supervision of the Board of Trustees. 
The Board of Trustees is elected by COLOTRUST 
Participants. The portfolio manager is responsible 
for making all of the investment decisions for the 
portfolio. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. is custodian of the 
portfolio's securities and cash.      

AAAm

AAm

Am

BBBm

BBm

Dm

Plus (+) or Minus (-)

Principal Stability Fund 
Ratings Definitions

                       A fund rated 
'AAAm' demonstrates 
extremely strong capacity to 
maintain  principal stability 
and to limit exposure to 
principal losses due to credit 
risk.
'AAAm' is the highest 
principal stability fund rating 
assigned by S&P Global 
Ratings

               A fund rated 'AAm' 
demonstrates very strong 
capacity to maintain principal 
stability and to limit exposure 
to principal losses due to 
credit risk. It differs from the 
highest-rated funds only to a 
small degree. 

           A fund rated 'Am' 
demonstrates strong capacity
to maintain principal stability 
and to limit exposure to 
principal losses due to credit 
risk, but is somewhat more 
susceptible  to the adverse 
effects of changes in 
circumstances and economic 
conditions than funds in 
higher-rated categories

               A fund rated 'BBm' 
demonstrates speculative 
characteristics and uncertain 
capacity to maintain principal 
stability. It is vulnerable to 
principal losses due to credit 
risk. While such funds will 
likely have some quality and 
protective characteristics, 
these may be outweighed by 
large uncertainties or major 
exposures to adverse 
conditions. 

            A fund rated 'Dm' has 
failed to maintain principal 
stability resulting in a realized
or  unrealized loss of 
principal.

  
The ratings may be modified 
by the addition of a plus (+) or
minus (-) sign to show 
relative standing within the 
rating categories.

                    A fund rated 
'BBBm' demonstrates 
adequate capacity to 
maintain principal stability 
and to limit exposure to 
principal losses due to credit 
risk. However, adverse 
economic conditions or 
changing circumstances are 
more likely to lead to a 
reduced capacity to maintain 
principal stability.

AAAm
Stable NAV Government Investment 
Pool

Public Trust Advisors, LLC

Randy Palomba, CFA & Neil Waud, CFA

About the Pool
Pool Rating

Pool Type

Investment Adviser

Portfolio Manager

Pool Rated Since
Custodian

Distributor

Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust
(COLOTRUST PLUS+)

POOL PROFILE

S&P Global Ratings Analyst: Wendy Immerman - +  1 (212) 438 5052

April 1996
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Public Trust Advisors LLC (Public Trust)

48



AAAm

0

20

40

60

80

100

Days

Portfolio Maturity Distribution as of September 28, 2021

*S&P 'AAAm' Money Fund Indices are calculated weekly by iMoneyNet, Inc., and are
comprised of funds rated or assessed by S&P Global Ratings to within the specific rating
categories. The S&P Global Ratings Rated LGIP Indices are calculated weekly by S&P
Global Ratings and are comprised of 'AAAm' and 'AAm' government investment pools.

The yield quoted represents past performance. Past performance does not 
guarantee future results. Current yield may be lower or higher than the yield 
quoted. 

0.0%

0.2%

0.4%

0.6%

0.8%

1.0%

S&P Rated GIP Index/All Fund

Portfolio 7 Day Net-Yield Comparison *

Principal Stability Rating
Approach and Criteria

*As assessed by S&P Global Ratings

A-1+
60.0%

A-1
40.0%

Portfolio Credit Quality as of September 28, 2021 *

   A S&P Global Ratings 
principal stability fund rating, 
also known as a "money 
market fund rating", is a 
forward-looking opinion about 
a fixed income fund's capacity 
to maintain stable principal 
(net asset value). When 
assigning a principal stability 
rating to a fund, S&P Global 
Ratings analysis focuses 
primarily on the 
creditworthiness of the fund's 
investments and 
counterparties, and also its 
investments' maturity structure
and management's ability and 
policies to maintain the fund's 
stable net asset value. 
Principal stability fund ratings 
are assigned to funds that 
seek to maintain a stable or an
accumulating net asset value.

  Generally, when faced with 
an unanticipated level of 
redemption requests during 
periods of high market stress, 
the manager of any fund may 
suspend redemptions for up to 
five business days or meet 
redemption requests with 
payments in-kind in lieu of 
cash.  A temporary suspension
of redemptions or meeting 
redemption requests with 
distributions in-kind does not 
constitute a failure to maintain 
stable net asset values. 
However, higher rated funds 
are expected to have stronger 
capacities to pay investor 
redemptions in cash during 
times of high market stress 
because they generally 
comprise shorter maturity and 
higher quality investments.

  Principal stability fund 
ratings, or money market fund 
ratings, are identified by the 'm'
suffix (e.g., 'AAAm') to 
distinguish the principal 
stability rating from a S&P 
Global Ratings traditional 
issue or issuer credit rating. A 
traditional issue or issuer 
credit rating reflects S&P 
Global Ratings view of a 
borrower's ability to meet its 
financial obligations. Principal 
stability fund ratings are not 
commentaries on yield levels.

0

250

500

750

1000

1250

1500

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Net Assets WAM (R) * WAM (F) **

Net Assets, WAM (R) and WAM (F)

Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust (COLOTRUST PLUS+)

Pool portfolios are monitored weekly for developments that could cause changes in the ratings. Rating decisions are based on periodic 
meetings with senior pool executives and public information.

Data Bank as of September 28, 2021

$1.00002 $11,770.81

57 days 89 days 0.02%

 Net Asset Value per Share..............

 WAM (R) * .......................................

 * Weighted Average Maturity (Reset)

7 Day Yield.............................

 Net Assets (millions)...................

 WAM (F) **..................................

 ** Weighted Average Maturity (Final)

Inception Date....................... May 1994

S&P Global Ratings is neither associated nor affiliated with the fund.
   Copyright © 2021 by Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC. All rights reserved. No content (including ratings, credit-related analyses and data, valuations, model, software or other application or output 
therefrom) or any part thereof (Content) may be modified, reverse engineered, reproduced or distributed in any form by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written permission 
of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC or its affiliates (collectively, S&P). The Content shall not be used for any unlawful or unauthorized purposes. S&P and any third-party providers, as well as their directors, 
officers, shareholders, employees or agents (collectively S&P Parties) do not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, timeliness or availability of the Content. S&P Parties are not responsible for any errors or 
omissions (negligent or otherwise), regardless of the cause, for the results obtained from the use of the Content, or for the security or maintenance of any data input by the user. The Content is provided on an “as 
is” basis. S&P PARTIES DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE 
OR USE, FREEDOM FROM BUGS, SOFTWARE ERRORS OR DEFECTS, THAT THE CONTENT’S FUNCTIONING WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR THAT THE CONTENT WILL OPERATE WITH ANY SOFTWARE OR 
HARDWARE CONFIGURATION. In no event shall S&P Parties be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary, compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal 
fees, or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost profits and opportunity costs or losses caused by negligence) in connection with any use of the Content even if advised of the possibility of such 
damages.
    Credit-related and other analyses, including ratings, and statements in the Content are statements of opinion as of the date they are expressed and not statements of fact. S&P’s opinions, analyses and rating 
acknowledgment decisions (described below) are not recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell any securities or to make any investment decisions, and do not address the suitability of any security. S&P assumes 
no obligation to update the Content following publication in any form or format. The Content should not be relied on and is not a substitute for the skill, judgment and experience of the user, its management, 
employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment and other business decisions. S&P does not act as a fiduciary or an investment advisor except where registered as such. While S&P has obtained 
information from sources it believes to be reliable, S&P does not perform an audit and undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent verification of any information it receives.
    To the extent that regulatory authorities allow a rating agency to acknowledge in one jurisdiction a rating issued in another jurisdiction for certain regulatory purposes, S&P reserves the right to assign, withdraw 
or suspend such acknowledgement at any time and in its sole discretion. S&P Parties disclaim any duty whatsoever arising out of the assignment, withdrawal or suspension of an acknowledgment as well as any 
liability for any damage alleged to have been suffered on account thereof. 
    S&P keeps certain activities of its business units separate from each other in order to preserve the independence and objectivity of their respective activities. As a result, certain business units of S&P may have 
information that is not available to other S&P business units. S&P has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of certain non-public information received in connection with each analytical 
process.
    S&P may receive compensation for its ratings and certain analyses, normally from issuers or underwriters of securities or from obligors. S&P reserves the right to disseminate its opinions and analyses. S&P's public
ratings and analyses are made available on its Web sites, www.standardandpoors.com (free of charge), and www.ratingsdirect.com and www.globalcreditportal.com (subscription), and may be distributed through 
other means, including via S&P publications and third-party redistributors. Additional information about our ratings fees is available at www.standardandpoors.com/usratingsfees.
    S&P GLOBAL RATINGS, S&P, GLOBAL CREDIT PORTAL and RATINGSDIRECT are registered trademarks of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC.

49



 

 

   

PLUS+ Information 

Statement 

 October 2021 

50



 
  

 

 

2 

 

Table of Contents 

PLUS+ Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Participants ........................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Investment Objectives ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Income Allocations ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Determination of Net Asset Value ......................................................................................................................... 4 

Description of Shares ............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Eligible Investments ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Investment Restrictions ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

Computation of Yield ............................................................................................................................................. 6 

Investment Risks .................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Suitability .............................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Fees and Expenses ................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Withdrawals .......................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Investing in PLUS+ ................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Reporting ............................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Statements ............................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Board of Trustees .................................................................................................................................................. 9 

The Investment Advisor and Administrator ........................................................................................................... 9 

Custodian ............................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Legal Counsel ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Independent Accountants.................................................................................................................................... 10 

 

51



 
  

 

 

3 

PLUS+ Introduction 

The Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust (COLOTRUST or the Trust) was organized 

in 1985 in accordance with the Investment Funds - Local Government Pooling Act, (Part 7, 

Article 75, Title 24, C.R.S.) to allow Colorado governmental entities to pool their funds to take 

advantage of short-term investments and maximize net interest earnings. The Trust is a 

professionally managed local government investment pool trust fund available only to 

governmental entities in Colorado. 

COLOTRUST PLUS+ (PLUS+) is one of three portfolios the Trust offers to Colorado 

governmental entities that are or become COLOTRUST Participants. As further described 

herein, PLUS+ was established by the Trust in accordance with Investment Funds - Local 

Government Pooling Act, (Part 7, Article 75, Title 24, C.R.S.) PLUS+ is a professionally 

managed portfolio consisting of U.S. Treasury securities, federal instrumentality securities, 

agency securities, repurchase agreements, tri-party repurchase agreements, collateralized 

bank deposits, commercial paper that, at the time of purchase, is rated in its highest rating 

category by at least two nationally recognized organizations which regularly rate such 

obligations, corporate bonds, and government money market funds rated ‘AAAm.’  PLUS+ is 

designed to generate current income while maintaining liquidity and preserving capital. 

PLUS+ was created pursuant to the COLOTRUST Indenture of Trust (the Indenture). The most 

recently Amended and Restated Indenture was adopted by the COLOTRUST Board of Trustees 

(the Board) and became effective on May 1, 2021. Governmental entities that participate in 

the PLUS+ portfolio are referred to as “Participants” in the Indenture and this Information 

Statement. The Indenture allows COLOTRUST Participants to register and participate in 

PLUS+. Each potential PLUS+ Participant receives a copy of the Indenture, the Information 

Statement, Investment Policy, and current financial statements before becoming a 

Participant.   

Participants 

PLUS+ is available to any Colorado local government that is or becomes a Participant by 

taking appropriate official action to adopt the COLOTRUST Indenture of Trust, open an account 

in the Trust, and maintain a balance in the account. Each Participant appoints a Designee, 

and all official communications between the Trust and a Participant are through the Designee. 

Investment Objectives 

PLUS+ is designed to provide daily liquidity while generating current income and preserving 

capital for Colorado governmental entities by investing only in securities that are legal 

pursuant to the Legal Investments Act (Part 6, Article 75, Title 24, C.R.S.) and the Public 

Deposit Protection Act (Articles 10.5 and 47 of Title 11, C.R.S.) (the Statutes).  

PLUS+ is presently allowed by the Trust’s investment policies to maintain a portion of its 

assets in U.S. Treasury securities or repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury 

52



 
  

 

 

4 

securities. It may also invest its assets in securities of a Federal Farm Credit Bank, a Federal 

Home Loan Bank, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal National 

Mortgage Association, or the Government National Mortgage Association, and other federal 

instrumentality or agency security permitted by the Legal Investments Act, or repurchase 

agreements collateralized by those securities. PLUS+ may also invest in commercial paper 

and corporate notes rated in the highest rating category by one or more nationally recognized 

organizations that regularly rate such obligations. The policy also provides that PLUS+ may 

not invest more than 5% of its portfolio in the commercial paper of any single issuer nor may 

PLUS+ own more than 5% of any issuer’s total commercial paper program. In addition, the 

portfolio may invest in collateralized bank deposits and ‘AAAm’ rated government money 

market funds. The portfolio may invest in securities with a maximum maturity of 397 days 

for fixed-rate debt and non-sovereign floating-rate debt or 762 days for sovereign 

government floating-rate debt. The average weighted maturity may not exceed 60 days to 

reset or 90 days to final maturity.   

COLOTRUST is registered with the Securities Commissioner of the State of Colorado in 

accordance with the Local Government Investment Pool Trust Fund Administration and 

Enforcement Act (Part 9, Article 51, Title 11, C.R.S.). 

COLOTRUST adheres to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) guidelines for its 

accounting and financial reporting principles. In accordance with FASB guidance, the Trust 

utilizes ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure” to define fair value, establish a 

framework for measuring fair value, and expand disclosure requirements regarding fair value 

measurements.  

COLOTRUST PLUS+ is rated 'AAAm' by S&P Global Ratings. S&P's definition of a 'AAAm' rating 

is “safety is excellent” and a fund has “superior capacity to maintain principal value and limit 

exposure to loss.” These ratings are neither a market rating nor a recommendation to buy, 

hold, or sell the securities by the rating agencies. 

No assurance can be given that the Trust will achieve its investment objective or that any benefits described in this 

information statement will result from the investment of monies in the Trust.  

Income Allocations 

All net income of the PLUS+ portfolio is determined as of the close of business each day (and 

at such other times as the Board may determine) and is credited immediately thereafter pro 

rata to each Participant’s account. Net income that has thus accrued to the Participants is 

converted as of the close of business of each day into additional shares that are thereafter 

held in each Participant’s account. Reinvested net income is converted into full and fractional 

shares at the rate of one share for each one dollar credited. Net income for each portfolio 

each day consists of (1) all accrued interest income on assets of the portfolio; plus or minus 

(2) any amortized purchase discount or premium; less (3) accrued expenses.  

53



 
  

 

 

5 

Determination of Net Asset Value 

The Trust determines the NAV of the shares of PLUS+ as of the close of business each day. 

The NAV per share of the PLUS+ portfolio is computed by dividing the total value of the 

securities and other assets of the portfolio, less any liabilities, by the total outstanding shares 

of the PLUS+ portfolio. Liabilities, which include all expenses and fees of the PLUS+ portfolio, 

are accrued daily.  

For the purpose of calculating the NAV per share, the securities held by PLUS+ are valued as 

follows: (1) securities for which market quotations are readily available are valued at the most 

recent bid price or yield equivalent as obtained from one or more market makers for such 

securities; (2) all other securities and assets are valued at fair market value determined in 

good faith.  

The result of this calculation is a share value that is rounded to the nearest penny. 

Accordingly, the price at which PLUS+ shares are sold and redeemed will not reflect net 

realized or unrealized gains or losses on securities that amount to less than $.005 per share. 

The Trust will endeavor to minimize the amount of such gains or losses. However, if net 

unrealized gains or losses should exceed $.005 per share, the NAV per share will change from 

$1.00 or be maintained at $1.00 per share by retention of earnings or the reduction, on a pro 

rata basis, of each Participant’s shares in the event of losses or by a pro rata distribution to 

each Participant in the event of gains.  

It is a fundamental policy of PLUS+ to maintain a NAV of $1.00 per share, but for the reasons 

herein stated there can be no assurance that the NAV will not vary from $1.00 per share. The 

NAV per share of PLUS+ may be affected by general changes in interest rates resulting in 

increases or decreases in the value of the securities held by the Trust. The market value of 

such securities will vary inversely to changes in prevailing interest rates. Thus, if interest rates 

have increased from the time a security was purchased, such security, if sold, might be sold 

at a price less than its cost. Similarly, if interest rates have declined from the time a security 

was purchased, such security, if sold, might be sold at a price greater than its cost. If a 

security is held to maturity, no loss or gain is normally realized as a result of these 

fluctuations. 

Description of Shares 

The beneficial interests of the Participants in the assets of the PLUS+ portfolio and the 

earnings thereon are, for convenience of reference, divided into shares that are used as units 

to measure the allocation of beneficial interest among Participants. All shares participate 

equally in distributions and have equal liquidation and other rights. The shares have no 

preference, conversion, exchange, or preemptive rights. For all matters requiring a vote of 

Participants, each Participant, through its Designee, is entitled to one vote with respect to 

each matter, without regard to the number of shares held by the Participant.  

54



 
  

 

 

6 

Eligible Investments 

The PLUS+ portfolio invests in securities that are legal pursuant to the Statutes. For a more 

complete description of permitted investments please refer to the PLUS+ Investment Policy, 

available on www.colotrust.com. 

Investment Restrictions 

The Trust may buy and sell and enter into agreements to buy and sell the permitted 

investments subject to the restrictions described below. These restrictions are considered to 

be fundamental to the operation and activities of the Trust and may not be changed without 

a majority vote of the Participants. 

1. The Trust may not make any investment other than a permitted investment. 

 

2. The Trust may not make any investment other than investments authorized by the 

Board's investment policy, Indenture, and the statutes of the state of Colorado, as the 

same may be amended from time to time; provided, however, the Board and the Trust 

shall not be responsible for insuring compliance with any investment restrictions 

provided for in a Participant’s home rule charter or elsewhere. 

 

3. The PLUS+ portfolio may invest in permitted securities with maximum maturities as 

outlined by the Legal Investments Act (Part 6, Article 75, Title 24, C.R.S.). 

 

4. The Trust may neither borrow money nor incur indebtedness whether or not the 

proceeds thereof are intended to be used to purchase permitted investments except 

as a temporary measure to facilitate withdrawal requests which might otherwise 

require unscheduled dispositions of PLUS+ portfolio investments and only as to the 

extent permitted by law. 

 

5. The Trust may not buy securities from or sell securities to the Administrator, the 

Investment Advisor, the Custodian, or any member of the Board (Trustee), or with 

any affiliate, officer, director, employee, or agent of any of them.  

The Trust may not enter into any repurchase agreements for any securities that are not listed 

as” permitted investments” in the previous section. In addition, all such agreements must be 

initially collateralized at 102% and additional securities must be provided if the market value 

of the collateral falls below 101.5%.  

Computation of Yield 

The Trust quotes a daily and seven-day average yield for the PLUS+ portfolio in reports and 

information published by the Trust. To obtain the daily yield, a daily yield factor is first 

calculated. The factor is the net income for that day divided by the number of shares 

outstanding. The factor is then multiplied by 365 (366 in a leap year) to produce the daily 

55



 
  

 

 

7 

yield. The seven-day average yield is obtained by averaging the daily yield for seven 

identified, consecutive days. The Trust may also quote the PLUS+ portfolio yield from time-

to-time on other bases for the information of its Participants.  

The yields quoted from time-to-time should not be considered a representation of the yield of 

the PLUS+ portfolio in the future since the yield is not fixed. Actual yields will depend not only 

on the type, quality, and maturities of the investments held by the PLUS+ portfolio and 

changes in interest rates on such investments but also on changes in the portfolio’s expenses 

during the period.  

Yield information may be useful in reviewing the performance of the PLUS+ portfolio and for 

providing a basis for comparison with other investment alternatives. 

Investment Risks 

There are several risks associated with pooled investments. Such risks could adversely impact 

the pool’s performance, or in extreme instances lead to a loss of the principal investment.  

Credit Risk – Credit risk results from the possibility that an issuer of a security defaults by 

failing to pay the principal or interest in a timely manner. Any negative change to the credit 

quality of the PLUS+ portfolio holdings could lead to a decline in share price. 

Interest Rate Risk – The potential that changes in overall interest rates could negatively 

impact the values of the fixed-income securities held within the PLUS+ portfolio. Changes to 

interest rates tend to have a greater impact on longer maturity fixed-income securities.  

Liquidity Risk – Liquidity risk results from the inability to efficiently convert assets into cash 

without suffering losses. 

Other Forms of Risk – Investing involves risks including the possible loss of principal that 

PLUS+ investors would have to bear. The investment decisions made by COLOTRUST for 

Participants are subject to certain risks and such decisions may not always be profitable. 

COLOTRUST does not guarantee returns or performance against stated benchmarks. Many 

factors affect performance including changes in market conditions and interest rates and in 

response to other economic, political, or financial developments.  

Suitability 

It is the PLUS+ investors’ responsibility to review the PLUS+ Information Statement and 

Investment Policy in order to determine whether PLUS+ is a suitable and eligible investment 

under the investors’ relevant Investment Policy. 

Fees and Expenses 

The Trust has entered into an agreement with Public Trust Advisors, LLC, effective February 7, 

2020 whereby Public Trust is paid a fee, calculated daily and paid monthly, at an annual rate 

of up to 0.12% (12 basis points) of the individual PLUS+ investment of each Participant. This 

56



 
  

 

 

8 

fee will accrue on a daily basis for the duration of the investment in PLUS+. Public Trust may, 

from time-to-time, choose to voluntarily waive fees for the benefit of the fund participants. 

Public Trust is responsible for payment of the costs of operation of the Trust including but not 

limited to Administrator and Investment Advisor fees, Custodian fees, ratings agency fees, 

operational, and marketing expenses.  

Withdrawals 

Withdrawals from the PLUS+ portfolio may be made by wire transfer, ACH funds, or transfer 

between Participants. Requests for withdrawal from accounts with pre-established wire 

instructions in the PLUS+ portfolio will be honored on a same day basis if received prior to 

11:00 a.m. The Trust requests 24-hour notice for wire transfer withdrawals of $1 million or 

more. 

Investing in PLUS+ 

PLUS+ is available to existing Participants as well as to new Participants. Prior to investing in 

PLUS+, Participants are required to submit a PLUS+ Account Registration Form, which is 

available on www.colotrust.com. 

Upon the Participants’ receiving acknowledgement of PLUS+ registration from COLOTRUST, 

shares of PLUS+ are acquired by the Participant in the portal or by check contribution form. 

There is no minimum initial investment amount, nor a minimum required balance after the 

purchase is made. PLUS+ contributions and transfers must be submitted via the portal by 

11:00 am MT.   Funds received after 11:00 a.m. but before 4:00 p.m. (late funds) will be 

invested overnight by the Trust’s Administrator in the Trust’s interest-bearing bank account 

at UMB Bank that is fully collateralized in compliance with the Public Deposit Protection Act, 

Article 10.5 of Title 11 C.R.S. All interest earnings attributable to late funds invested in the 

Trust’s interest-bearing bank account will be distributed on a pro rata basis to each 

Participant’s account the next business day. 

Reporting 

Each Participant receives quarterly and annual financial statements of the Trust as well as a 

monthly statement of the Participant’s PLUS+ account(s). The annual financial statements 

are issued as of the Trust’s fiscal year end on December 31 each calendar year. Participants 

are advised to review the financial statements of the Trust that are furnished to them. The 

reports also include sufficient information to establish compliance with the investment policy 

established in the Indenture and other information required by the statutes of the state of 

Colorado and by regulations promulgated by the Securities Commissioner of the State of 

Colorado.  

The Trust answers inquiries from Participants at any time during business hours. Inquiries 

may be made by mail, email at info@colotrust.com, via the Internet at www.colotrust.com, 

57



 
  

 

 

9 

or by phone at (303) 864-7474 from the Denver area or at (877) 311-0219 outside of the 

Denver area. The telefax number is (877) 311-0220. The mailing address is COLOTRUST, 717 

17th Street, Suite 1850, Denver, Colorado 80202. 

Statements 

In addition to the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Trust, a monthly statement 

is provided for the accounts of PLUS+ Participants. The Statement will provide the month’s 

beginning balance, purchases, redemptions, income earned, income earned year-to-date, 

month-end balance, and transaction activity summary.  

Board of Trustees 

The Board is responsible for assuring compliance with the Indenture and the investment 

restrictions therein. The Board has the power to administer the Trust and the affairs of the 

Trust. Further information about the COLOTRUST Board of Trustees, its structure, roles and 

responsibilities is available on www.colotrust.com and in the COLOTRUST Information 

Statement.  

The Board is responsible for the investments of the Trust and for the general administration 

of the business and affairs of the Trust; however, the Trustees are not required personally to 

conduct all of the business of the Trust and consistent with its ultimate responsibility, the 

Board has appointed an Administrator, an Investment Advisor, a Custodian, Legal Counsel, 

and an Independent Accountant. The Board may assign such duties to the Administrator, 

Investment Advisor, and Custodian as it deems to be necessary or desirable for the efficient 

management of the Trust.  

The Investment Advisor and Administrator 

Pursuant to an agreement with the Trust, Public Trust Advisors, LLC (Public Trust) serves as 

the Investment Advisor and Administrator of the Trust.  

As Investment Advisor, Public Trust provides investment services to the Board. Public Trust 

is an investment advisory firm located in Denver, Colorado.  

Public Trust is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment 

advisor under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.  

As Administrator, Public Trust services all Participant accounts in the Trust, determines and 

allocates income of the Trust, provides certain written confirmation of the investment and 

withdrawal of funds by Participants, provides administrative personnel and facilities to the 

Trust, determines the net asset value of the Trust, and performs all related administrative 

services for the Trust. At least quarterly, the Administrator provides the Board with a detailed 

evaluation of the performance of the Trust based upon a number of factors. This evaluation 

includes a comparative analysis of the Trust’s investment results in relation to industry 

58



 
  

 

 

10 

standards such as the performance of comparable money market mutual funds and various 

indices of money market securities.  

The Agreement with Public Trust may not be assigned, by operation of law or otherwise, by 

Public Trust, without the express written consent by the Trust and may be terminated without 

penalty on 45 days written notice at the option of the Trust or Public Trust.  

The Trust is prohibited from buying securities from and selling securities to Public Trust and 

any of its affiliates.  

Custodian 

UMB Bank, N.A. serves as Custodian for the Trust pursuant to a Custodian Agreement. UMB 

Bank acts as safekeeping agent for the Trust’s investment portfolios and serves, in accordance 

with the statutes of the state of Colorado, as the depository in connection with the direct 

investment and withdrawal mechanisms of the Trust. UMB Bank does not participate in the 

Trust’s investment decision-making process.  

On occasion, the Trust uses other custodians for some permitted investments such as tri-

party repurchase agreements.  

The Custodian Agreements remain in effect until terminated by either the Trust or the 

Custodian. The Agreements are not assignable without the prior written consent of the Trust 

and may be terminated without penalty on 60 days written notice at the option of the Trust 

or the Custodian.  

Legal Counsel 

At the present time, Butler Snow, LLP serves as General Counsel to the Trust.  

Independent Accountants 

At the present time, CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP serves as independent certified public accountants 

to audit the annual Financial Statements of the Trust. The audit contains statements of assets 

and liabilities, of operations, and of changes in net assets of the Trust prepared in conformity 

with generally accepted accounting principles. The opinion of the independent certified public 

accountant on such financial statements is based on an examination of the books and records 

of the Trust made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. 

 

The investment advisor providing these services is Public Trust Advisors, LLC (Public Trust), an investment adviser 

registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended. Registration with the SEC does not 

imply a certain level of skill or training. Public Trust is required to maintain a written disclosure brochure of our 

background and business experience. If you would like to receive a copy of our current disclosure brochure, please 

contact us. Additionally, this registration provides no guarantee of return or protection against loss. Many factors 

affect performance including changes in market conditions and interest rates and in response to other economic, 

political, or financial developments. Investment involves risk including the possible loss of principal. No assurance 

59



 
  

 

 

11 

can be given that the performance objectives of a given strategy will be achieved. Past performance is no 

guarantee of future results. Any financial and/or investment decision may incur losses. No assurance can 

be given that PLUS+ will achieve its investment objective. 

 

Contact Information  

 

717 17th Street, Suite 1850  

Denver, CO 80202 

Phone: (877) 311-0219  

Fax: (877) 311-0220 

clientservices@colotrust.com 

www.colotrust.com 

 

 

60



57666791.v1 

  

PLUS+ Investment Policy 

 Effective October 1, 2021 

61



 
  

 

 

 

2 

Introduction  

COLOTRUST is a statutory trust organized and existing under the laws of the state of Colorado 

in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Funds Local Government Pooling Act (Part 

7, Article 75, Title 24, C.R.S.), the Funds Legal Investments Act (Part 6, Article 75, Title 24, 

C.R.S.), and the Public Deposit Protection Act (Articles 10.5 and 47 of Title 11, C.R.S.). 

COLOTRUST is registered with the Securities Commissioner of the State of Colorado as 

required by the Local Government Investment Pool Trust Fund Administration and 

Enforcement Act (Part 9, Article 51, Title 11, C.R.S.)  

COLOTRUST currently offers three portfolios, COLOTRUST PRIME, COLOTRUST PLUS+ and 

COLOTRUST EDGE. 

COLOTRUST provides a professionally managed investment program for local governments. 

The general objective of COLOTRUST PLUS+ is to generate a high level of investment income 

for the Participants while maintaining liquidity and preserving capital by investing only in 

investments authorized by the Statutes.  

No assurance can be given that COLOTRUST will achieve its investment objective or that any 

benefits described in the information statements will result from the investment of moneys in 

COLOTRUST.  

COLOTRUST is specifically designed for Colorado local governments. Accordingly, COLOTRUST 

has limited its portfolios by investing only in instruments permitted under the Legal 

Investments Act (Permitted Investments). The COLOTRUST Board of Trustees maintains 

investment policies for COLOTRUST that are, by nature, more restrictive than the Legal 

Investments Act. Participants receive 30 days prior notice of any changes in the investment 

policies.  

 

  

62



 
  

 

 

 

3 

PLUS+ Investment Policy 

 

Any security issued by, fully guaranteed 

by, or for which the full credit of the United 

States Treasury is pledged for payment:  

• The maximum final maturity per 

fixed United States Treasury 

investment is 13 months (397 

days). 

 

• The maximum final maturity per 

floating United States Treasury 

investment is two years (762 days). 

   

Any security issued by, fully guaranteed 

by, or for which the full credit of the 

following is pledged for payment: The 

Federal Farm Credit Bank, the Federal Land 

Bank, a Federal Home Loan Bank, the 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, 

the Federal National Mortgage Association, 

the Export-Import Bank, the Tennessee 

Valley Authority, the Government National 

Mortgage Association, the World Bank, or 

an entity/organization that is not listed in 

this paragraph but is created by, or the 

creation of which is authorized by, 

legislation enacted by the United States 

Congress and that is subject to control by 

the Federal government that is at least as 

extensive as that which governs an entity 

or organization listed in this paragraph. No 

subordinated security may be purchased 

pursuant to this paragraph.  

• The maximum exposure per U.S. 

government related/guaranteed 

issuer is 33%.   

 

• The maximum final maturity per 

U.S. government related/ 

guaranteed fixed-rate investment is 

13 months (397 days).    

 

• The maximum final maturity per 

U.S. government related/ 

guaranteed floating rate investment 

is two years (762 days). 

Repurchase agreements and tri-party 

repurchase agreements with member 

banks of the Federal Reserve System 

and/or dealers in U.S. Government 

Securities in accordance with C.R.S. 24-75-

601.1.  

A Master Repurchase Agreement (e.g. The 

Bond Market Association standard 

agreement, 1996 version) and applicable 

COLOTRUST annexes must be signed by all 

parties and on file prior to executing any 

transaction.  

Tri-party repurchase agreements are 

permissible with COLOTRUST Board 

approved counterparties and third-party 

custodians (acting for both the party and 

the counterparty). These third-party 

custodians are not permitted to hold 

deposits for COLOTRUST and are therefore 

not required to meet the Colorado PDPA 

requirements.  

Written Tri-party custodian agreements (in 

addition to The Bond Market Association 

1996 standard repurchase agreement) 
must be signed by all parties and on file 

prior to executing any transaction.  

This Investment Policy restricts the COLOTRUST PLUS+ portfolio to the following: 

 

63



 
  

 

 

 

4 

Collateral (purchased securities) shall be 

limited to the following and shall be 

indicated as such on Schedule 1 ‘Schedule 

of Eligible Securities’ of the Tri-party 

custodian agreement: U.S. Treasuries 

(bills, bonds, notes, strips), Federal 

National Mortgage Association (FNMA), 

Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLB), Federal 

Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 

(FHLMC), Federal Farm Credit Banks 

(FFCB), GNMA I/II Single Family, GNMA 

I/II Others-Fixed Rate, GNMA I/II Others, 

Adjust Rate and Agency Mortgage Backed 

(Pass-Through Fixed Rate and Pass-

Through Adjustable Rate). 

Term repurchase agreements (TRA) are 

considered eligible investments under the 

following conditions:  

• For TRAs between two and five 

business days, a maximum of 10% 

of the portfolio with any one dealer.

   

• For TRAs with maturities of more 

than five business days, a 

maximum of 5% of the portfolio. 

   

• TRAs shall not exceed 30 calendar 

days.   

 

• TRAs shall fulfill all requirements of 

the 1996 version of The Bond 

Market Association master 

repurchase agreement.   

The Repurchase Agreements between 

COLOTRUST and the various approved 

counterparties require that the aggregate 

market value of all purchased securities 

from any particular counterparty be at least 

102% (the margin) of the aggregate 

purchase price of the purchased securities.  

The Board recognizes that market 

fluctuations constantly increase or 

decrease the value of securities; that there 

is value in maintaining ongoing positive 

relationships between COLOTRUST and the 

various counterparties; that the accepted 

practice in the industry allows minor 

deviations from strict application of 

margins; and that there is a cost of 

changing collateral securing repurchase 

agreements. For those reasons, the 

portfolio manager may use discretion 

before directing that a counterparty supply 

additional purchased securities until such 

time as the margin falls below 101.5%. If 

the aggregate collateral level of the 

counterparty falls below 101.5%, the 

portfolio manager shall notify the 

counterparty to provide sufficient 

additional securities to restore the margin 

to at least 102%. The portfolio manager 

will require additional collateral to return 

the margin to at least 102% on the next 

business day. 

Any security that is a general or revenue 

obligation of any state of the United States, 

the District of Columbia, any territorial 

possession of the United States, or of any 

political subdivision, institution, 

department, agency, instrumentality, or 

authority of any of such governmental 

entities. At the time of purchase, the 

security must be rated in one of its two 

highest rating categories by two or more 

NRSROs that regularly rate such 

obligations. 

• The maximum exposure per 

municipal issuer is 5%.   

  

• The maximum final maturity per 

municipal investment is 13 months 

(397 days). 

64



 
  

 

 

 

5 

 

Any corporate or bank security 

denominated in United States dollars that, 

at the time of purchase, carries at least two 

credit ratings from any of the NRSROs that 

is not rated below 1) A1, P1, or F1 if the 

security is a money market instrument or 

2) AA- or Aa3 or their equivalents if it is 

any other kind of security. These rating 

requirements first apply to the security 

being purchased, and then, if the security 

itself is unrated, to the issuer provided that 

the security contains no provisions 

subordinating it from being a senior debt 

obligation of the issuer.  

• The maximum exposure per 

corporate or bank security issuer is 

5%.    

 

• The maximum final maturity per 

corporate or bank security fixed or 

floating rate investment is 13 

months (397 days). 

Commercial paper or bankers’ acceptances 

denominated in United States dollars that, 

at the time of purchase, carry at least two 

credit ratings from any of the NRSROs and 

are not rated below A-1, P-1, or F-1.  

An Approved Commercial Paper List will be 

maintained by the investment advisor 

designating those commercial paper names 

that are eligible for investment by 

COLOTRUST PLUS+. All additions to this list 

must be approved by the Board of 

Trustees.  

At the time commercial paper is purchased: 

• No more than 5% of the portfolio 

may be invested in any single 

commercial paper issuer.    

• The portfolio may not own over 5% 

of any issuer’s total commercial 

paper program at the time of 

purchase.    

 

Any deposit that meets the requirements in 

the Public Deposit Protection Act under CRS 

11-10.5-107, et seq. 

Any money market fund that is registered 

as an investment company under the 

Federal Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended if, at the time COLOTRUST 

invests in such fund:  

• The investment policies of the fund 

include seeking to maintain a 

constant share price;  

 

• No sales or load fee is added to the 

purchase price or deducted from the 

redemption price of the investment; 

 

• The investments of the fund consist 

only of securities with a maximum 

remaining maturity as specified in 

Rule 2a-7 under the Federal 

Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended or any successor 

regulation under such act regulating 

money market funds, so long as 

such Rule 2a-7 is not amended to or 

such successor regulation does not 

increase the maximum remaining 

maturity of such securities to a 

period that is greater than three 

years, and if the fund has assets of 

one billion dollars or more or has 

the highest current credit rating 

from one or more NRSRO;  

 

• The dollar weighted average 

portfolio maturity of the fund meets 

65



 
  

 

 

 

6 

the requirements specified in Rule 

2a-7 under the Federal Investment 

Company Act of 1940, as amended 

or any successor regulation under 

such act regulating money market 

funds so long as such Rule 2a-7 is 

not amended to increase the dollar 

weighted average portfolio maturity 

of a fund to a period greater than 

one hundred eighty days. 

 

• No more than 10% of the portfolio 

may be invested in any single AAAm 

rated money market fund that 

meets the above criteria. 

 

 

Adopted November 10, 1994  

Revised February 19, 1999  

Revised May 7, 1999 

Revised November 5, 1999  

Revised May 5, 2000  

Revised October 3, 2003  

Revised December 3, 2004  

Revised August 7, 2009  

Revised September 8, 2011  

Revised August 10, 2012  

Revised January 1, 2016  

Revised January 1, 2018  

Revised February 6, 2020  

Revised August 6, 2020 

Revised March 5, 2021  

Approved October 1, 2021  

 

 

 

Contact Information  

717 17th Street, Suite 1850  

Denver, CO 80202 

Phone: (877) 311-0219  

Fax: (877) 311-0220 

clientservices@colotrust.com 

www.colotrust.com 

 

66



 

 

Paonia Police Department 

DEPARTMENT BRIEFING:  SUMMARY OF PROGRESS 03/01/2023  

 
 
 

 
Confirmed an existing MOU is in place with the 

Delta County Sheriff’s Department regarding 

patrol and enforcement activity by the Paonia 

Police Department on Grand Avenue from 5th 

Street to Highway 133. This will include Paonia 

K-8 school zone enforcement and monitoring. 

 

 

 

 
 

Used the department drone in conjunction 

with public works to visually inspect a 

local water source that was difficult to 

access due to the remote location and 

inclement weather.  

 

 

 
Two members of the department attended 

mental health crisis training put on by 

Integrated Insight Therapy. This group works 

with law enforcement to provide on-site mental 

health support to individuals in need. 

 

 
 

  

Two members of the department 

attended Standardized Field Sobriety 

Training. The department now has 

three officers on alternating 

schedules with DUI recognition and 

enforcement capabilities. 

 

 

 
New lateral transfer officer cleared our 

Field Training Program and is now 

fully operational and in our patrol 

rotation. 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

67



Paonia Police Department
Law Incident Table, by Date and Time

Date Occurred:   02/01/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:52:34 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
16:57:20 ERROR PPD PPD
18:53:44 RUNAWAY PPD PPD
20:24:59 Information

Address
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO 
DORRIS AVE, Paonia, CO
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO
PAONIA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   02/02/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
13:18:23 Wanted Person PPD DIST3
15:20:50 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
SAMUEL WADE RD, Paonia, CO 
HIGHWAY 133, Hotchkiss, CO PPD DIST3

19:04:30 WELFARE CHECK POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
23:35:01 ALARM GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   02/03/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
14:46:28 WELFARE CHECK PPD PPD
15:40:24 THEFT PPD PPD
18:21:44 SUSPICIOUS

MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO 
POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO 
3RD ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   02/06/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
14:54:10 ANIMAL CONTROL MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   02/08/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
11:30:42 SUICIDE/ATTEMPT BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
15:36:51 Information GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   02/09/23

68



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 2 of 3

Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
13:22:54 VIN INSPECTION

Address
GRAND AVE; PAONIA POLICE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   02/10/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
16:53:09 ANIMAL CONTROL PAN AMERICAN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   02/11/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
10:09:06 MISSING PERSON BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
11:23:33 ANIMAL CONTROL 4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

16:19:40 ANIMAL CONTROL 3RD St., Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   02/12/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:29:57 Disturbance

Address
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

18:57:31 RESTR/PROT ORDR PPD PPD   A
22:30:41 911/hangup PPD PPD
22:32:06 911/hangup

BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO 
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO
MEADOWBROOK CT, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   02/13/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
14:23:44 Wanted Person ORCHARD AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD    A
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   02/14/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
13:50:06 Information GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   02/16/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
20:27:21 WELFARE CHECK GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD UTL
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

69



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 3 of 3

Report Includes:
All dates between `00:00:01 02/01/23` and `00:00:01 02/28/23`, All agencies matching `PPD`, All disposition's, All natures,
All location codes, All cities

Date Occurred:   02/18/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
16:28:35 ANIMAL CONTROL 4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW
16:36:07 ANIMAL CONTROL 4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   02/19/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
15:51:08 RESTR/PROT ORDR BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD   A
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   02/22/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:16:13 Information PPD PPD
13:59:26 Traffic Stop

Address
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
SAMUEL WADE RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3 CIT

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   02/23/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
16:46:52 ANIMAL CONTROL 2nd St., Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW
16:53:06 SHOPLIFTING 2ND ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   02/26/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
19:53:17 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
MINNESOTA CREEK RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Total reported: 34

CIT - 2, VW - 4, UTL - 1, A - 3

CITATION = CIT
VERBAL WARNING = VW
UNABLE TO LOCATE = UTL
ARREST - 3

70



 

 

Town Board Staff Report 

Subject: Asbestos Removal  

Author: Cory Heiniger 

Representing: Public Works 

Date: 03/14/2023 
 
Specific request: Bid approval for Asbestos Removal in Apple Valley Shed. 

 

Summary recommendations:  We received 2 bids for removal of Asbestos in the apple valley shed. 

 

 Valley Restoration & Construction Inc: $12516.60. 

 Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services: $7165.95 
 
Executive Summary:  Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services submitted a more complete bid package and 
was the cheaper option.  My recommendation would be to accept their bid and move forward with the 
project. 
 
Background:  The shed incurred damage from a motor vehicle and during the inspection process Plateau 
Engineering found 2 patches that contained Asbestos. 
 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider:  The asbestos removal has to happen before we are 
able to do anything with that building.  I don’t have any other options or alternatives available. 
 
 
Attachments: Photos of the asbestos patches 

 

71



72



73



1

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

Client: Heiniger, Cory
Property: 45 Pan American Ave

Paonia, CO 81428

Operator: DAVID.HI

Estimator: Regional Asbestos Mitigation Company

Type of Estimate: Asbestos Abatement
Date Entered: 1/27/2023 Date Assigned:

Price List: COGJ8X_JAN23
Labor Efficiency: Restoration/Service/Remodel

Estimate: HEINIGER_CORY

ADDITIONAL DAMAGE DISCLOSURE
Building containment in accordance to state regulation may require us to adhere to some finished surfaces which may result
cosmetic damages to the adhered to surfaces.

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services will take every precaution possible within reason to prevent collateral damages to the
surfaces that have been adhered to according to the state requirements, BUT Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services is not
responsible for any said damages that may result from the adhesive to said surfaces.

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS LISTED ARE THE ASBESTOS REMEDIATION STAGES

PROJECT SET-UP
Before the project starts the State requires that the proper negative air pressure must be established, then all of the
decontamination chambers must be installed. The shower is also set up with filter and hot water tank with attached running
water. Electricity must be maintained throughout the entire project. This is completed prior to any abatement begins.

STAGE 1 This is the Pre-Clean Process
Wet wipe and HEPA vacuum all surfaces that are not being removed.

STAGE 2 This is the Containment Process.
Install one layer of certified 6mil poly on the floor, install one layer of certified 4mil on the walls, add an additional layer of
certified 6mil on the floor, another layer of certified 4mil on the walls, and then a final layer of certified 4mil on the ceiling. Two
layers on the floor, two layers on the walls and one layer on the ceiling. Openings in the structure such as windows, doors, vents
and outlets requires an additional layer certified 6mil poly. All poly must have a 12in overlap.

STAGE 3          All non-affected items must be cleaned and removed prior to the abatement
Clean and remove all unaffected property before ACM removal begins. This normally consists of appliances and personal
property.

STAGE 4 This includes the removal of all ACM contaminated materials/items
Remove, double bag and prepare for proper disposal of all affected ACM debris.

STAGE 5 Final cleaning to prepare for Final Air Clearance Testing

74



2

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

HEINIGER_CORY 1/31/2023 Page: 2

This includes the removal of the first layer of poly on the floor, then wet wipe and HEPA vacuum that surface. Then, repeat that
process per layer of poly. This is to be done for each layer on every surface. At the completion of the bagging and disposal of all
of the poly then the structure has to be wet wiped and HEPA vacuumed. This is all completed in preparation for Final Air
Clearances. This is mandated and randomly inspected by the State of Colorado according to the standards listed in the State of
Colorado Regulation 8 Guidelines.

FINAL AIR CLEARANCES
Final air clearances are completed by a third-party Certified Industrial Hygienist. The Hygienist enters into the containment area,
completes a visual inspection then uses a leaf blower to agitate the air, then collects air samples to inspect for ACM to be present
or not in the area where the ACM was removed. The Hygienist then uses a microscope to determine if the area has been
sufficiently cleaned.

PROJECT COMPLETION
Upon receiving Final Air Clearance results, then all of the waste load-outs, equipment rooms, clean rooms, showers, and
equipment are sealed ready for disposal or transportation. The water that was used from showering is filtered and disposed of.
The State is then notified with a Waste Manifest from the site that the debris was disposed of.

XCATIMATE ESTIMATION SOFTWARE
*All prices are used directly from Xactimate when available, and they include standard removal prices only. The containment
process varies depending on contamination factors and the ACM debris removal requirements.

75



3

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

HEINIGER_CORY 1/31/2023 Page: 3

HEINIGER_CORY

Main Level

General

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TAX TOTAL

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE FOR THE PERMIT, CERTIFIED SUPERVISION, MONITORING AND PERSONAL PROTECTIVE
EQUIPMENT.

1.  Taxes, insurance, permits & fees 1.00 EA 0.00 400.00 0.00 400.00
(Bid item)

*Standard permitting takes two weeks to get authorization from the State to proceed, unless there is an emergency letter provided  by the
homeowner that is accepted by the State.

2.  Hazardous Waste/Mold Cleaning- 24.00 HR INCLUDED
Supervisory/Admin- per hour

*A Certified Asbestos Supervisor is required during all Asbestos removal work. The estimate reflects no charge because the Supervisor is  most
cases is working as part of the abatement team. inside containment.

3.  Equipment setup, take down, and 4.00 HR 0.00 72.85 0.00 291.40
monitoring (hourly charge)

*This includes setting up multiple stage chambers and negative air scrubbers and venting them to the outside.

4.  Add for personal protective 12.00 EA 0.00 13.43 15.31 176.47
equipment (hazardous cleanup)

*Project is expected to take 3 day with 2 technicians. 2 changes  per day for each technician.

5.  Respirator cartridge - HEPA only 6.00 EA 0.00 16.59 9.46 109.00
(per pair)

*Respirator cartridges are replaced daily for each technician.

The following items are for the disposal of the Asbestos debris

6.  Hazardous waste hauling & disposal 0.20 EA 0.00 775.00 6.04 161.04
- (Bid item)

*Asbestos debris is required to be disposed of at a landfill that is certified and regulated to accept hazardous waste materials. The Asbestos
debris is manually loaded and unloaded by Certified Asbestos workers, and the cost of the disposal is not based on standard debris

The following line items are for the daily monitoring of Asbestos Workers air quality that is required by OSHA on every Asbestos project.

7.  Powered Air-Purifying Respirator 1.00 DA INCLUDED
(PAPR) - per day

8.  PAPR cartridge - HEPA only 1.00 EA INCLUDED
(single cartridge)

9.  Asbestos test fee - self test (per 4.00 EA INCLUDED
sample)

10.  Final air clearances 1.00 EA 0.00 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00

Totals:  General 30.81 2,337.91

76



4

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

HEINIGER_CORY 1/31/2023 Page: 4

Equipment Room LxWxH 10' x 10' x 8'

320.00 SF Walls
420.00 SF Walls & Ceiling
11.11 SY Flooring
80.00 SF Long Wall
40.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

100.00 SF Ceiling
100.00 SF Floor
40.00 LF Floor Perimeter
80.00 SF Short Wall

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TAX TOTAL

11.  10 x 10 Containment Room 0.50 EA 0.00 500.00 9.74 259.74

*This is a 10X10 area that is required to be built to stage the shower, pop-up chambers, negative air scrubbers and monitoring equipment.

The items listed below are the pop-up chambers that are required to enter and exit the Asbestos contaminated areas. These chambers are
also required for the Asbestos debris removal as well as the workers access.

12.  Containment 140.00 SF 0.00 1.14 2.13 161.73
Barrier/Airlock/Decon. Chamber

*Includes four chambers - two  clean rooms and two dirty rooms. Total 5-stage chamber with safety shower.

13.  Temporary safety shower 1.00 EA NOT REQUIRED

14.  Temporary heater - electric - per 3.00 DA INCLUDED
day - Water Heater

15.  Contaminated water dump fee - 1.00 EA INCLUDED
(Bid item)

THIS IS A BREAK DOWN OF THE EQUIPMENT AND DECONTAMINATION OF THE EQUIPMENT THAT IS LOCATED IN THE
EQUIPMENT ROOM.

16.  Negative air fan/Air scrubber (24 1.00 DA 0.00 70.00 0.00 70.00
hr period) - No monit.

*1 machine for 1 days each

17.  Add for HEPA filter (for negative 1.00 EA 0.00 198.75 17.34 216.09
air exhaust fan)

*At the end of every project each negative air machine requires that the filter be disposed of and a new filter is installed.

18.  Equipment decontamination charge 1.00 EA 0.00 66.29 0.53 66.82
- HVY, per piece of equip

*All tools and equipment are decontaminated after every project.

Totals:  Equipment Room 29.74 774.38

77



5

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

HEINIGER_CORY 1/31/2023 Page: 5

Garage LxWxH 15' x 12' x 8'

432.00 SF Walls
612.00 SF Walls & Ceiling
20.00 SY Flooring

120.00 SF Long Wall
54.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

180.00 SF Ceiling
180.00 SF Floor
54.00 LF Floor Perimeter
96.00 SF Short Wall

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TAX TOTAL

STAGE ONE:     PRE-CLEANING PROCESS (Includes HEPA Vacuum and Wet-wipe of non-contaminated surfaces prior to beginning
the Asbestos removal)

19.  HEPA Vacuuming - Light - (PER 792.00 SF 0.00 0.59 0.00 467.28
SF)

STAGE TWO:          CONTAINMENT PROCESS (Includes 2 layers of poly installed on the Floor and Walls and 1 Layer for the Ceiling,
EXCEPT for the surfaces or materials where the Asbestos Materials is being removed)

20.  Containment 1,344.00 SF 0.00 1.38 20.43 1,875.15
Barrier/Airlock/Decon. Chamber

STAGE THREE:          REMOVAL OF NON-CONTAMINATED ITEMS (May require cleaning)

All miscellaneous trim, interior doors, window treatments, etc. will be removed and salvaged when possible. This is included in our price, even
though it may not be listed in this estimate.

STAGE FOUR:     REMOVAL OF ALL ASBESTOS MATERIALS (Includes labor to demo and double bag or wrap debris)

21.  Tear out wet plaster, cleanup, bag 60.00 SF 2.88 0.00 1.20 174.00
for disposal

STAGE FIVE:     FINAL CLEANING AND POLY REMOVAL (Includes HEPA Vacuuming and Wet-Wiping of ALL surfaces)

22.  HEPA Vacuuming - Detailed - 792.00 SF 0.00 1.15 0.00 910.80
(PER SF)

23.  Clean more than the walls and 792.00 SF 0.00 0.79 0.75 626.43
ceiling

Totals:  Garage 22.38 4,053.66

Total: Main Level 82.93 7,165.95

Line Item Totals: HEINIGER_CORY 82.93 7,165.95

78



6

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

HEINIGER_CORY 1/31/2023 Page: 6

Grand Total Areas:
752.00 SF Walls 280.00 SF Ceiling SF Walls and Ceiling1,032.00
280.00 SF Floor 31.11 SY Flooring 94.00 LF Floor Perimeter
200.00 SF Long Wall 176.00 SF Short Wall 94.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

0.00 Floor Area 0.00 Total Area 0.00 Interior Wall Area
0.00 Exterior Wall Area 0.00 Exterior Perimeter of

Walls

0.00 Surface Area 0.00 Number of Squares 0.00 Total Perimeter Length
0.00 Total Ridge Length 0.00 Total Hip Length

79



7

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services

6140 S. Gun Club Road
Suite K6 #244
Aurora, CO. 80016
Denver (303) 690-7777 Western Slope (970) 242-0016
www.RegionalAMS.com
EIN# 45-5002972

HEINIGER_CORY 1/31/2023 Page: 7

Summary
Line Item Total 7,083.02

Material Sales Tax 82.93

Replacement Cost Value $7,165.95
Net Claim $7,165.95

Regional Asbestos Mitigation Company

All LEAD testing requirements have and will be adhered to as a result of any and all asbestos abatement work required.
The LEAD testing protocol requirements are supplied by the EPA, RRP and OSHA and are available on any government
web site or can be supplied with this estimate/invoice.

80



81



82



To: The Honorable Mayor Mary Bachran and Board of Trustees 

From: Samira Vetter, Town Clerk  

Date: February 14, 2023 

RE: Brandon Mason/ Filip Sipos Home Occupation Permit Finding of Fact 

Recommendation: Approve Home Occupation Permit for 120 Dorris Avenue. 

 Application is complete. 

 All notifications have been made and proof has been attached. 

 All fees have been paid. 

 

Additional Information: 

Filip Sipos is the occupant of the property the Home Occupation Permit is applied for. He is the 

employee in this situation and Brandon Mason the original applicant/owner of the business. 

 

 

 

 

 

83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



 
 

 
    Created: 2022-11-04 15:57:15 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 3) 

 
Page 1 of 2 

Sec. 16-11-20. Home occupations. 

A home occupation shall be permitted as an accessory use, provided that a home occupation permit is 
granted by the Town and the criteria for home occupations are met.  

(1) Permit required. A person desiring to establish a home occupation within the Town shall apply as 
follows:  

(a) An application shall for home occupation shall be made to the Town Administrator, or its 
designee, in the form provided by the Town and accompanied by the appropriate fee as set by 
Resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(b) Upon the receipt of a completed application for a home occupation permit, the Town 
Administrator, or its designee, shall notify the applicant within ten (10) days that such application 
is complete.  

(c) Thereafter the Town Administrator, or its designee, shall notify the applicant and set a date of 
public hearing before the Town Board of Trustees that will allow time for publication and 
notification of adjoining property holders.  

(d) Upon the setting of a public hearing before the Board of Trustees the Town Clerk shall notify the 
property owners within two hundred (200) feet of the applicant's property by regular mail at the 
applicant's expense. The notification will include the nature of the application, a copy of this 
Article and the time and place of a public hearing.  

(2) Revoke the permit. A home occupation permit may be revoked by the Town Administrator if at any 
time the home occupation fails to meet the criteria listed below.  

(3) Nontransferability. Home occupation permits are issued to an individual for a specific property and use. 
Permits are not transferable should the property be sold or rented to other persons.  

(4) Criteria for home occupations. A home occupation shall be allowed as a permitted accessory use, 
provided that the following conditions are met:  

(a) The use must be conducted entirely within a dwelling or accessory structure and carried on by 
the occupants of the dwelling and no more than one (1) non-occupant employee.  

(b) The use must be clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the dwelling for dwelling purposes 
and must not change the residential character thereof.  

(c) The total area used for such purposes may not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the first-floor 
area of the user's dwelling unit.  

(d) There shall be no change in the outside appearance of the building or premises or other visible 
evidence of the conduct of such home occupation, including advertising signs or displays or 
advertising that solicits or directs persons to the address. A wall-mounted identification sign of 
not more than two (2) square feet shall be permitted.  

(e) There shall not be conducted on the premises the business of selling inventory, supplies or 
products, provided that incidental retail sales may be made in connection with other permitted 
home occupation.  

(f) There must be no exterior storage on the premises of material or equipment used as a part of the 
home occupation.  

(g) No equipment or process shall be used in such home occupation, which creates any glare, fumes, 
odors or other objectionable conditions detectable to the normal senses off the lot if the 

91



 
 

 
    Created: 2022-11-04 15:57:15 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 3) 

 
Page 2 of 2 

occupation is conducted in a single-family dwelling or outside the dwelling unit if conducted in 
other than a single-family dwelling.  

(h) No traffic shall be generated by such home occupation in greater volumes than would normally 
be expected in a residential neighborhood, and any need for parking generated by the conduct of 
the home occupation shall be met with additional off-street parking spaces that are not located 
in a required yard adjacent to a street.  

(i) Under no circumstances shall any of the following be considered a home occupation: Antique 
shop, barber shop, a beauty parlor (with more than one [1] chair), clinic, mortuary, nursing home, 
restaurant, veterinarian's clinic or dance studio.  

(Ord. No. 83-116, Art. XVIII, 1983; Ord. No. 2000-02, Art. XVIII, 2000; Ord. No. 2014-04, § 1, 1-13-2015; Ord. No. 
2019-06 , § 2, 8-13-2019) 

 

92



Page 1 of 4

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-06

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF 

PAONIA, COLORADO, AMENDING CHAPTER 16, ARTICLE 11, 

SECTION 20 TO THE TOWN OF PAONIA MUNICIPAL CODE

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the “Town”), in the County of Delta and State of Colorado, is 

a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-23-301, the Town has the power regulate buildings and 

other structures for the purposes of promoting health, safety and the general welfare of the 

community; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees determines that it is in the best interest of the community and 

the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town to amend the Town Code to 

administratively facilitate the process for obtaining a Home Occupation provision of the Town 

Municipal Code.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1.  Legislative Findings.

The recitals to this Ordinance are adopted as findings of the Board of Trustees in support of the 

enactment of this Ordinance.

Section 2. Amendment of Town Code.

Sec. 16-11-20 shall be repealed and amended to the Town Code as follows:

Sec. 16-11-20. - Home occupations.

A h o m e o c c u p a t i o n s h a l l b e p e r m i t t e d a s a n a c c e s s o r y u s e , p r o v i d e d t h a t a h o m e 

o c c u p a t i o n   p e r m i t   i s   g r a n t e d   b y   t h e   T o w n   a n d   t h e   c r i t e r i a   f o r   h o m e   o c c u p a t i o n s   a r e   m e t . 

  ( 1 ) P e r m i t r e q u i r e d .   A p e r s o n d e s i r i n g t o e s t a b l i s h a h o m e o c c u p a t i o n w i t h i n 

t h e   T o w n   s h a l l   a p p l y   a s   f o l l o w s : 

  ( a ) A n a p p l i c a t i o n s h a l l f o r h o m e o c c u p a t i o n s h a l l b e m a d e t o t h e 

T o w n A d m i n i s t r a t o r , o r i t s d e s i g n e e , i n t h e f o r m p r o v i d e d b y t h e T o w n a n d a c c o m p a n i e d b y 

t h e   a p p r o p r i a t e   f e e   a s   s e t   b y   R e s o l u t i o n   o f   t h e   B o a r d   o f   T r u s t e e s . 

93



Page 2 of 4

( b ) U p o n t h e r e c e i p t o f a c o m p e t e d a p p l i c a t i o n f o r a h o m e o c c u p a t i o n 

p e r m i t , t h e T o w n A d m i n i s t r a t o r , o r i t s d e s i g n e e , s h a l l n o t i f y t h e a p p l i c a n t w i t h i n t e n ( 1 0 d a y s 

t h a t   s u c h   a p p l i c a t i o n   i s   c o m p l e t e .         

  ( c ) T h e r e a f t e r t h e T o w n A d m i n i s t r a t o r , o r i t s d e s i g n e e , s h a l l n o t i f y t h e 

a p p l i c a n t a n d s e t a d a t e o f p u b l i c h e a r i n g b e f o r e t h e T o w n B o a r d o f T r u s t e e s t h a t w i l l a l l o w 

t i m e   f o r   p u b l i c a t i o n   a n d   n o t i f i c a t i o n   o f   a d j o i n i n g   p r o p e r t y   h o l d e r s . 

  ( d ) U p o n t h e s e t t i n g o f a p u b l i c h e a r i n g b e f o r e t h e B o a r d o f T r u s t e e s 

t h e T o w n C l e r k s h a l l n o t i f y t h e p r o p e r t y o w n e r s w i t h i n t w o h u n d r e d ( 2 0 0 ) f e e t o f t h e 

a p p l i c a n t ' s p r o p e r t y b y r e g u l a r m a i l a t t h e a p p l i c a n t ' s e x p e n s e . T h e n o t i f i c a t i o n w i l l i n c l u d e 

t h e   n a t u r e   o f   t h e   a p p l i c a t i o n ,   a   c o p y   o f   t h i s   A r t i c l e   a n d   t h e   t i m e   a n d   p l a c e   o f   a   p u b l i c   h e a r i n g . 

  ( 2 ) R e v o k e t h e p e r m i t .   A h o m e o c c u p a t i o n p e r m i t m a y b e r e v o k e d b y t h e T o w n 

A d m i n i s t r a t o r   i f   a t   a n y   t i m e   t h e   h o m e   o c c u p a t i o n   f a i l s   t o   m e e t   t h e   c r i t e r i a   l i s t e d   b e l o w . 

  ( 3 ) N o n t r a n s f e r a b i l i t y .   H o m e o c c u p a t i o n p e r m i t s a r e i s s u e d t o a n i n d i v i d u a l 

f o r a s p e c i f i c p r o p e r t y a n d u s e . P e r m i t s a r e n o t t r a n s f e r a b l e s h o u l d t h e p r o p e r t y b e s o l d o r 

r e n t e d   t o   o t h e r   p e r s o n s . 

  

    ( 4 ) C r i t e r i a f o r h o m e o c c u p a t i o n s .   A h o m e o c c u p a t i o n s h a l l b e a l l o w e d a s a 

p e r m i t t e d   a c c e s s o r y   u s e ,   p r o v i d e d   t h a t   t h e   f o l l o w i n g   c o n d i t i o n s   a r e   m e t : 

  ( a ) T h e u s e m u s t b e c o n d u c t e d e n t i r e l y w i t h i n a d w e l l i n g o r a c c e s s o r y 

s t r u c t u r e a n d c a r r i e d o n b y t h e o c c u p a n t s o f t h e d w e l l i n g a n d n o m o r e t h a n o n e ( 1 ) n o n - 

o c c u p a n t   e m p l o y e e . 

  ( b ) T h e u s e m u s t b e c l e a r l y i n c i d e n t a l a n d s e c o n d a r y t o t h e u s e o f t h e 

d w e l l i n g   f o r   d w e l l i n g   p u r p o s e s   a n d   m u s t   n o t   c h a n g e   t h e   r e s i d e n t i a l   c h a r a c t e r   t h e r e o f . 

  ( c ) T h e t o t a l a r e a u s e d f o r s u c h p u r p o s e s m a y n o t e x c e e d t w e n t y - f i v e 

p e r c e n t   ( 2 5 % )   o f   t h e   f i r s t - f l o o r   a r e a   o f   t h e   u s e r ' s   d w e l l i n g   u n i t . 

  ( d ) T h e r e s h a l l b e n o c h a n g e i n t h e o u t s i d e a p p e a r a n c e o f t h e b u i l d i n g 

o r p r e m i s e s o r o t h e r v i s i b l e e v i d e n c e o f t h e c o n d u c t o f s u c h h o m e o c c u p a t i o n , i n c l u d i n g 

a d v e r t i s i n g s i g n s o r d i s p l a y s o r a d v e r t i s i n g t h a t s o l i c i t s o r d i r e c t s p e r s o n s t o t h e a d d r e s s . A 

w a l l - m o u n t e d   i d e n t i f i c a t i o n   s i g n   o f   n o t   m o r e   t h a n   t w o   ( 2 )   s q u a r e   f e e t   s h a l l   b e   p e r m i t t e d . 

  ( e ) T h e r e s h a l l n o t b e c o n d u c t e d o n t h e p r e m i s e s t h e b u s i n e s s o f s e l l i n g 

i n v e n t o r y , s u p p l i e s o r p r o d u c t s , p r o v i d e d t h a t i n c i d e n t a l r e t a i l s a l e s m a y b e m a d e i n 

c o n n e c t i o n   w i t h   o t h e r   p e r m i t t e d   h o m e   o c c u p a t i o n . 

94



Page 3 of 4

  ( f ) T h e r e m u s t b e n o e x t e r i o r s t o r a g e o n t h e p r e m i s e s o f m a t e r i a l o r e q u i p m e n t 

u s e d   a s   a   p a r t   o f   t h e   h o m e   o c c u p a t i o n . 

  ( g ) N o e q u i p m e n t o r p r o c e s s s h a l l b e u s e d i n s u c h h o m e o c c u p a t i o n , w h i c h 

c r e a t e s a n y g l a r e , f u m e s , o d o r s o r o t h e r o b j e c t i o n a b l e c o n d i t i o n s d e t e c t a b l e t o t h e n o r m a l 

s e n s e s o f f t h e l o t i f t h e o c c u p a t i o n i s c o n d u c t e d i n a s i n g l e - f a m i l y d w e l l i n g o r o u t s i d e t h e 

d w e l l i n g   u n i t   i f   c o n d u c t e d   i n   o t h e r   t h a n   a   s i n g l e - f a m i l y   d w e l l i n g . 

  ( h ) N o t r a f f i c s h a l l b e g e n e r a t e d b y s u c h h o m e o c c u p a t i o n i n g r e a t e r v o l u m e s 

t h a n w o u l d n o r m a l l y b e e x p e c t e d i n a r e s i d e n t i a l n e i g h b o r h o o d , a n d a n y n e e d f o r p a r k i n g 

g e n e r a t e d b y t h e c o n d u c t o f t h e h o m e o c c u p a t i o n s h a l l b e m e t w i t h a d d i t i o n a l o f f - s t r e e t 

p a r k i n g   s p a c e s   t h a t   a r e   n o t   l o c a t e d   i n   a   r e q u i r e d   y a r d   a d j a c e n t   t o   a   s t r e e t . 

  ( i ) U n d e r n o c i r c u m s t a n c e s s h a l l a n y o f t h e f o l l o w i n g b e c o n s i d e r e d a h o m e 

o c c u p a t i o n : a n t i q u e s h o p , b a r b e r s h o p , a b e a u t y p a r l o r ( w i t h m o r e t h a n o n e [ 1 ] c h a i r ) , c l i n i c , 

m o r t u a r y ,   n u r s i n g   h o m e ,   r e s t a u r a n t ,   v e t e r i n a r i a n ' s   c l i n i c   o r   d a n c e   s t u d i o . 

Section 3.  Severability.

If any provision, clause, sentence or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the 

other provisions of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 

application, and, to this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.

Section 4.  Repeal of Prior Ordinances.

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.

Section 5.  Ordinance Effect.

Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed and any and all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed, provided, however, that the repeal of any 

ordinance or parts of ordinances of the Town shall not revive any other section of any ordinance 

or ordinances hereto before repealed or superseded and further provided that this repeal shall not 

affect or prevent the prosecution or punishment of any person for any act done or committed in 

violation of any ordinance hereby repealed prior to the taking effect of this Ordinance.

Section 6.  Effective Date.

This Ordinance shall take effect thirty days after adoption.

INTRODUCED, READ AND REFERRED to public hearing before the Board of 

Trustees of the Town of Paonia, Colorado, on the 9th day of July 2019.

95



Page 4 of 4

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION

By:________________________________

CHARLES STEWART, Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________________

J. CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk

HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, 

Colorado, this 13th day of August 2019.

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION

By:________________________________

  CHARLES STEWART, Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________

J. CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk

96



97



Town of Paonia 

February 17, 2023 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

In compliance with the Municipal Code of the Town of Paonia Section 16-11-20, Colorado, the 

Paonia Board of Trustees will hold a public hearing to consider a request for: 

Home Occupation Application for Brandon Mason: 

Podcast Studio 

120 Dorris Avenue, Paonia CO 81428 

The public hearing on the application, filed with the Town Clerk on February 2, 2023, will be 

held on March 14, 2023 at or after 6:30 pm before the Board of Trustees of the Town of 

Paonia in 

the Town Hall 214 Grand Avenue, Paonia CO 81428. 

At said time and place, any interested persons may appear to be heard in reference to the 

issuance of the Home Occupation License. 

If you are unable to attend but wish to comment, you may submit written comments to 

Paonia Town Hall: 214 Grand Avenue, PO Box 460, Paonia, CO 81428, or 

paonia@townofpaonia.com until March 10, 2023 at 3 pm. 

� 111ffe 
amira M Vetter 

Town Clerk 

Office: 970-527- 4101 / 214 Grand Avenue/ P.O Box 460, Paonia, CO 81428-0460 
townofpaonia.colorado.gov 

98



For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

99

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader


 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Delta County request for Support and Direction Regarding Wildfire 

Mitigation on Town of Paonia Property 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100



 

Delta County Administration Building 
560 Dodge Street 
Delta, CO 81416 
970-874-2100 

 

 

 
February 24, 2023  

 
Town of Paonia 
214 Grand Ave 
Paonia, CO 81428 
 

Request for Support and Direction regarding Wildfire Mitigation on Town of Paonia Property  

 

Town of Paonia Trustees, 

As many of you are aware, wildfire risk is a high threat hazard for many communities in Delta County.  In 
an effort to tackle several priority wildfire mitigation projects in Delta County within the Wildland Urban 
Interface (WUI), in 2022, Delta County applied for the Colorado Strategic Wildfire Action Program 
(COSWAP) grant.  

The grant, at the time of application in 2022, was designed to utilize the State of Colorado Department of 
Corrections State Wildland Inmate Fire Teams (SWIFT) to conduct fire mitigation work in high priority WUI 
areas across the state.  This grant is unique from other mitigation grants in that it doesn’t require local 
jurisdictions to contribute matching funds. Instead, the grant was designed to pay the SWIFT crews to do 
several weeks worth of work on projects across the state.   

During the application process, Delta County Emergency Management identified property owned by the 
Town of Paonia as a priority area for wildfire mitigation. The Delta County Community Wildfire Protection 
Plan (CWPP), finalized in 2011 identified Cedar Hill, or commonly known as “P” hill to many Paonia 
residents, as a high risk area for wildfire due to the dense cedar and pinyon juniper forest on the property.  

The 25.91 acre parcel is owned by the Town of Paonia and includes the cell tower that overlooks Grand 
Avenue, which is identified as critical infrastructure to the community. The County, at the time of the 
application, approached then administrator Corinne Ferguson and requested to submit the Cedar Hill 
project as part of the COSWAP grant for mitigation funding so the Town and County could mitigate a high 
wildfire risk area at no cost to the Town or County.  Administrator Ferguson agreed and the County applied 
for the COSWAP Grant and was ultimately awarded funding in the form of SWIFT Crew teams to do work 
on Cedar Hill, on a project near Delta on G50 Road, at Volunteer Park and near Cedaredge for the US 
Forest Service.  

In January 2023, Delta County was notified that the Department of Corrections SWIFT crews would not be 
available to complete mitigation projects in 2023 as originally planned due to staffing shortages on the 
SWIFT teams. However, the Department of Natural Resources advised the State was still committed to 
funding the wildfire mitigation through the COSWAP Grant and gave the County the option of receiving a 
cash grant to hire professional fire fuels mitigation contractors or to utilize the grant funding through DNR 
to contract Western Colorado Conservation Corps out of Grand Junction to do mitigation work.  

101



 
As the COSWAP Grant application identified and agreed to fund mitigation work on Cedar Hill which is 
owned by the Town of Paonia, Delta County is seeking direction from the Town on how the Trustees would 
like to proceed in best accomplishing the mitigation work on Cedar Hill in 2023 utilizing one of these 
options.   

The ultimate goal of this project is to conduct mitigation work on Cedar Hill which will thin the density of 
fuels and create a healthier ecosystem on a 25+ acre parcel of land immediately adjacent to town and 
several subdivisions and critical infrastructure.  While we can’t give specifics on the scope of work at this 
time and what the mitigation work will look like in regards to the number of trees thinned or trimmed, 
the following summary from the Colorado State Forest Service does a great job of summarizing the 
objectives for this project.  

The Colorado State Forest Service in the Pinon-Juniper Management Quick Guide Series,  referenced as an 
attachment,  defines the goal of  fuel mitigation in Pinon and Juniper forests  as: “To achieve the desired 
spacing, thin the trees so that, on average, tips of individual tree limbs do not touch their neighbors, or 
allow for a minimum five feet of space between tree crowns. Spacing reduces competition and allows 
remaining trees space to grow. Random clumps of trees may be left and occasional larger openings created 
for greater forest diversity.”  See attachment below for more prescription information.  

To proceed with the COSWAP Grant and mitigation project, the County is requesting the Town Trustees 
give direction on how you would like to proceed with accomplishing the mitigation work. If the Board 
agrees to proceed with the mitigation project, the Board has the choice of: 

1) The County can put the project out to bid for private contractors using a cash grant from the 
Department of Natural Resources and the scope of work will depend on the bids from 
contractors; or  

2) The Board can request the county opt to have DNR contract with the Western Colorado 
Conservation Corps (WCCC) to conduct approximately four to five weeks of hand timing work on 
Cedar this summer that DNR will pay for directly.  

Regardless of option chosen, the Town will receive quality fire mitigation, thin dangerous fuels, help 
mitigate fire risk to the Town and surrounding properties and create a healthier pinon-juniper forest on 
Cedar Hill.  

Due to the grant requirements and scheduling of the Western Colorado Conservation Corps and 
contractors for the summer of 2023, the County needs a commitment to proceed with the project and 
the desired goals of the Town for the project and whether we should put it out for bid or use the WCCC 
by March 17, 2023 to ensure that crews are available to complete the project in 2023.  

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact one of the below representatives from the County.  

 

Sincerely, 

Matthew Jennings        

Matt Jennings      Kris Stewart 
Delta County Grant Administrator    Emergency Management Coordinator 
Enclosure 

102



 
ATTACHMENTS RELATED TO THE COSWAP GRANT  

1) Proposed projects to Colorado Department of Natural Resources from Delta County 
2) Map of project areas 
3) Photos of Cedar Hill 
4) Colorado State Forest Service Pinon Juniper Best Management Practices 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS AS PROPOSED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES IN THE 
COSWAP GRANT IN 2022: 

Project # 1 – Town of Paonia | Cedar Hill – 25.91 acres-4 weeks of SWIFT crews 

Description of Task and Methods: 

Perform fire mitigation work for thinning of pinyon/juniper trees on property owned by the Town of 
Paonia that overlooks the Town of Paonia. The Cedar Hill property has a cellular communication tower 
at the summit and is a critical piece of infrastructure for the Paonia Community. Work will include 
removal of dead or dying trees from the property, thinning trees along the access road to the cell tower 
and thinning of trees on property to remove dead/dying limbs and chipping trees and spreading the 
chips no more than 4 inches deep across the project area. Larger trees and limbs that can’t be chipped 
should be piled for removal for pile burning off site.  

Deliverable: Thin fuel load on Cedar Hill with goal of improving access to cell tower and minimizing fire 
risk to the Town of Paonia and cell tower which is critical infrastructure.  

Community Wildfire Protection Plans and Hazard Mitigation Plan identify that these are areas of concern 
and one of the risks to the community is limited roads for evacuation from wildfires.  The work on Cedar 
Hill in Paonia is a collaborative project with the Town of Paonia on Town owned property that overlooks 
Paonia. The crest of the hill has a cellular tower which is the only cell tower in the Paonia area and is 
critical infrastructure for the Paonia community.  

 

103



 
Other projects funded through COSWAP Grant: 

Project # 2 – Delta County | Volunteer Park – 2.34 acres-1 week of SWIFT crews 

Description of Task and Methods:  Use chainsaws to thin brush and trees between roadway and around the duck 
ponds back to the river to thin ladder fuels and dense brush that could ignite from vehicles or children playing in 
the grass at the park.  Work with Road & Bridge crew for determination of best methods but recommend chipping 
and spreading on the ground where possible or piling on site for removal by Road & Bridge crews.   

Deliverable: Thin the fuel loads and brush on the northern boundary of the Volunteer Park property along the 
North Fork of the Gunnison River and West property line to improve fire mitigation and risk to neighboring 
properties. Mulch biomass or pile for removal by county road & bridge for future pile burning.  

 

Project # 3– Delta County | G50 Bridge – 11 acres-2 weeks of SWIFT crews  

Description of Task and Methods:  Use chainsaws to cut stump tamarisk.  Work with Road & Bridge crew 
for determination of best methods but recommend chipping and spreading on the ground where possible or piling 
on site for removal by Road & Bridge crews.   

Deliverable: Thin the fuel loads and brush and improve riparian area on the northern bank of the Gunnison 
River at the G50 bridge.  

 

#4 United States Forest Service-3 weeks of SWIFT crews 

Description of Task and Methods:  The FS, BLM, and City of Delta are planning a cross-boundary prescribed burn 
on the south side of the Grand Mesa, called the East Pipeline Prescribed Burn.  It will include approximately 2,631 
acres (FS: 1440; BLM: 556; City of Delta: 635) and is located in the City of Delta’s municipal watershed.  The 
purpose of the project is to reduce fuels in the municipal watershed and adjacent to the Cedaredge WUI, improve 
wildlife habitat, stimulate aspen regeneration, and improve range condition.  This project will serve as an anchor 
for other treatments planned on the southwest flanks of the Grand Mesa as shown in the attached map titled 
Grand Mesa Slope. 

104



 
 

 

Map from COSWAP Application of Project Locations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

105



 
Photos from Cedar Hill: 

 

 

106



 

 

 

 

 

 

107



 

 

 

108



 

 

109



 

 

 

110



 

 

 

111



 

 

 

112



 

 

113



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

NFV/Hotchkiss Chamber of Commerce Updating Paonia Board of 

Trustees on Chamber Activities and Requesting Town’s Involvement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

114



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

115



TOWN OF PAONIA 
REQUEST TO BE PLACED ON AGENDA 
PO Box 460 
Paonia, CO 81428  
970/527-4101 
Paonia@townofpaonia.com 

Here are things you need to know: 

Formal Board agenda items should be matters of substance for the Board to consider. Examples 
include: Presentations to the Board seeking support or wishing to inform the Board of plans 

that affect the Town, Committees presenting their goals and accomplishments, Items that need 
Board approval to proceed.  

Submitting an agenda request does not guarantee placement on an agenda.  The Mayor will 
determine if this is an appropriate item for consideration on the Board of Trustees’ formal 

agenda.  

Should this request be denied, the requester may present their item in writing to the Board 
under correspondence received or by making a verbal comment within the established time 

limit at the beginning of a regular meeting. 

Please complete the following information and return this form no later than Tuesday, two  
weeks prior to the Board meeting to the Town Hall at 214 Grand Avenue. If the regular meeting 

is on the Tuesday the 28th, the request must be received before 5pm on Tuesday the 14th. 

If your issue is placed on the agenda, be aware that your presentation is limited to 5 minutes. 

Office hours are Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Regular Board meetings are scheduled for the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month. 

Subject: Up to 6 words (example: Town Park, Potholes, Open Meetings, etc.) 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Name of Requester or Presenter: _______________________________ 

Representing: (Group or Agency name, or Self) ___________________________ 

Date of submittal: ______________________________________________ 

Date of Requested Board Meeting: (Insert Board Meeting date) _______________ 

Specific request:  

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

North Fork Valley Chamber of Commerce

Terry O'Brien

NFV/Hotchkiss Chamber of Commerce

03/01/2023

03/14/2023

Five (5) minutes to present an update of Chamber of Commerce activities 
in the North Fork Valley and a new coordinated North Fork Valley 
business community by the formation of a North Fork Valley Chamber of 
Commerce.
Five (5) minutes for questions.

116



Describe the problem that requires resolution* or the topic(s) to be presented: 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation (Please state your recommendation here, along with the main points 
needed for approval of your request, at most 50 words.) Example: The Paonia Association 
recommends the Board pass an ordinance preventing elk from standing in the road. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

What staff member have you spoken to about this?  Please summarize your discussion:  
 
_________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________ 

• What is the problem that needs to be addressed?
• Please start with defining the problem, not describing the solution.
• Please explain briefly why it is essential that the Town address this

problem.
• This section should be no more than 4-5 sentences long.

With the Paonia Chamber closure, Crawford Chamber suspending 
operations until August or indefinitely, and the Delta Area Chamber without 
an Executive Director or other full-time paid staff, there is a need for a North 
Fork Valley Chamber of Commerce presence.   

The North Fork Valley Chamber Formation Committee recommends the 
Board stays informed of the coordinated marketing efforts of businesses in 
the North Fork Valley and specifically the Town of Paonia.  And to the level 
the Board desires, the Board provides steering input to a North Fork Valley 
Chamber of Commerce.

Phone conversation with Town of Paonia clerk (male) and emails with Town 
Clerk Samira M Vetter.

117



Contact information: 

Name:  
Physical Address:   
Mailing Address:  

E-mail:  
Daytime Phone:  _____________________ 

Office Use Only: 
Received: 

03/01/23
Approved for Agenda:
          03/02/23
 Board Meeting Date: 
          03/14/23
 

Terry O'Brien

406 Highway 133 Hotchkiss, CO 81419

PO Box 158 Hotchkiss CO 81419

tobrien@disc.com

970-433-5831

Print Form Email Form

118



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Request to Install and Maintain a Pantry Shelf in Town Hall – Monica 

Foguth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

119



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

120



TOWN OF PAONIA 
REQUEST TO BE PLACED ON AGENDA 
PO Box 460 
Paonia, CO 81428  
970/527-4101 
Paonia@townofpaonia.com 

Here are things you need to know: 

Formal Board agenda items should be matters of substance for the Board to consider. Examples 
include: Presentations to the Board seeking support or wishing to inform the Board of plans 

that affect the Town, Committees presenting their goals and accomplishments, Items that need 
Board approval to proceed.  

Submitting an agenda request does not guarantee placement on an agenda.  The Mayor will 
determine if this is an appropriate item for consideration on the Board of Trustees’ formal 

agenda.  

Should this request be denied, the requester may present their item in writing to the Board 
under correspondence received or by making a verbal comment within the established time 

limit at the beginning of a regular meeting. 

Please complete the following information and return this form no later than Tuesday, two  
weeks prior to the Board meeting to the Town Hall at 214 Grand Avenue. If the regular meeting 

is on the Tuesday the 28th, the request must be received before 5pm on Tuesday the 14th. 

If your issue is placed on the agenda, be aware that your presentation is limited to 5 minutes. 

Office hours are Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Regular Board meetings are scheduled for the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month. 

Subject: Up to 6 words (example: Town Park, Potholes, Open Meetings, etc.) 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Name of Requester or Presenter: _______________________________ 

Representing: (Group or Agency name, or Self) ___________________________ 

Date of submittal: ______________________________________________ 

Date of Requested Board Meeting: (Insert Board Meeting date) _______________ 

Specific request:  

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Little free pantry in town hall

Monica foguth

Self

03/01/2023

03/01/2023

I would like to put a book shelf in the town hall hallway.  This shelf is to be used for free shelf stable foods and
necessity toiletry items.  People can donate and take as needed.  I would check on it to make sure it's okay every
few days.

121



Describe the problem that requires resolution* or the topic(s) to be presented: 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation (Please state your recommendation here, along with the main points 
needed for approval of your request, at most 50 words.) Example: The Paonia Association 
recommends the Board pass an ordinance preventing elk from standing in the road. 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

What staff member have you spoken to about this?  Please summarize your discussion:  

_________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________ 

• What is the problem that needs to be addressed?
• Please start with defining the problem, not describing the solution.
• Please explain briefly why it is essential that the Town address this

problem.
• This section should be no more than 4-5 sentences long.

In Paonia we have only one food pantry open 1 day a month.  People don't have many options for food and toiletry
items if they are in need here. People also don't have many options for donating if they would like to.  We also don't
have one that is easily accessible during most business hours and protected from the environment.

The town hall would need to allow a shelf to be placed in the town hall hallway and appropriate signage to be
placed on the shelf to indicate it's purpose.

I spoke with Samira about putting a little free pantry in the town hall hallway.

122



Contact information: 

Name: 
Physical Address: 
Mailing Address: 

E-mail:
Daytime Phone:  _____________________ 

Office Use Only: 
Received: 

03/02/23
Approved for Agenda:
          03/02/23 
Board Meeting Date:
03/14/23

Monica foguth

9 3rd st Paonia co 81428

PO box 1701 Paonia co 81428

moonstarmonica@protonmail.com

970-314-4372

Print Form Email Form

123



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

North Fork Pool Park & Recreation Request for Board Direction on 

Options for the Skate Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

124



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

125



TOWN OF PAONIA 
REQUEST TO BE PLACED ON AGENDA 
PO Box 460 
Paonia, CO 81428  
970/527-4101 
Paonia@townofpaonia.com 
 
Here are things you need to know: 

 

Formal Board agenda items should be matters of substance for the Board to consider. Examples 
include: Presentations to the Board seeking support or wishing to inform the Board of plans 

that affect the Town, Committees presenting their goals and accomplishments, Items that need 
Board approval to proceed.  

Submitting an agenda request does not guarantee placement on an agenda.  The Mayor will 
determine if this is an appropriate item for consideration on the Board of Trustees’ formal 

agenda.  

Should this request be denied, the requester may present their item in writing to the Board 
under correspondence received or by making a verbal comment within the established time 

limit at the beginning of a regular meeting. 
 

Please complete the following information and return this form no later than Tuesday, two  
weeks prior to the Board meeting to the Town Hall at 214 Grand Avenue. If the regular meeting 

is on the Tuesday the 28th, the request must be received before 5pm on Tuesday the 14th. 

If your issue is placed on the agenda, be aware that your presentation is limited to 5 minutes. 

 
Office hours are Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

Regular Board meetings are scheduled for the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month. 
 
Subject: Up to 6 words (example: Town Park, Potholes, Open Meetings, etc.) 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Requester or Presenter: _______________________________ 

Representing: (Group or Agency name, or Self) ___________________________ 

Date of submittal: ______________________________________________ 

Date of Requested Board Meeting: (Insert Board Meeting date) _______________ 
 
Specific request:  

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Moving forward with the Skatepark

Max Heepke

NFPPRD

3/2/2023

3/14/2023

To report the feedback provided by GOCO after declining our Town Park Revitilization Project.
To present the 2 options moving forward.

126



 

Describe the problem that requires resolution* or the topic(s) to be presented:  

 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
    
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation (Please state your recommendation here, along with the main points 
needed for approval of your request, at most 50 words.) Example: The Paonia Association 
recommends the Board pass an ordinance preventing elk from standing in the road. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
What staff member have you spoken to about this?  Please summarize your discussion:  
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
  

 

 

 

• What is the problem that needs to be addressed? 
•  Please start with defining the problem, not describing the solution. 
• Please explain briefly why it is essential that the Town address this 

problem. 
•  This section should be no more than 4-5 sentences long. 

Paonia's Skatepark is in desperate need of improvements in order to continue offering a safe and healthy
recreational space for our youth.
The Town has received funds from various grants, governmental bodies, and individuals that needs to be utilized
for this project.
GOCO dismissed our grant proposal for the Town Park Revitialization (which included building a new skatepark)
this round, but offered feedback and encouraged us to apply again later in the year.
The NFPPRD would like to ask the Town Board how they would like to proceed and to discuss the details of our
partnership in this effort.

Option 1: The Town partners with the NFPPRD to use our current funds (~$115,000) to hire a contractor to design
and build permanent improvents on the current skatepark.

Option 2: The Town partners with the NFPPRD to pursue another GOCO Grant to build a new skatepark and make
other significant improvements to Paonia Town Park.

The NFPPRD has met with Leslie (Interim Town Administrator), Cory Heiniger (Public Works), and Dave Kneutson
(Board Member) to discuss the details and implications of the two options.

At this time, we are of the opinion that we should use existing funds to make improvements to the current
skatepark. This will have an immediate positive effect for our town that can be considered a leveraged item if the
Town of Paonia decides to pursue another GOCO Grant to improve Town Park in the future when more pressing
issues have been resolved.

127



Contact information: 

Name: 
Physical Address: 
Mailing Address: 

E-mail:
Daytime Phone:  _____________________ 

Office Use Only: 
Received: 

3/2/23
Approved for Agenda:
3/2/23 
Board Meeting Date:
3/14/23 

Max Heepke

28 Pan American Ave

28 Pan American Ave

max@northforkrecreation.com

970.380.2637

Print Form Email Form

128



Explanation of our options moving forward regarding the Paonia Skatepark. 

 

Background: The Town of Paonia and NFPPRD were turned down for this round of GOCO 

grants, but we were encouraged to apply for next round in August 2023. Here is the feedback 

from GOCO; 

● We clearly demonstrated the need for a new skatepark, dogpark, and other features. 

They would have liked to have seen more information about the members/makeup of 

Paonia In Motion Focus Groups. 

● They would liked to have seen more information regarding the Town’s ability to provide 

stewardship of the proposed projects while tackling the ongoing “water crisis.” 

● They encouraged the Town to apply to other time-sensitive grants to provide 

supplemental funds for the project making our timing more “urgent.” 

 

The NFPPRD has an agreement with the Town of Paonia to lease and make improvements to 

the current skatepark. We would like to revisit this agreement with the new members of the 

Board of Trustees and choose one of the following options together. 

 

Option 1: Make improvements to the current skatepark with existing funds; NFPPRD’s 

preferred option. Between a handful of small grants, donations from community members, and 

pledges by the County of Delta and Town of Paonia, there is $115,150 available to put towards 

improving the skatepark.  

 
The Town of Paonia currently manages these funds. 

In late January, Max Heepke and Jay Canode met with Chris Berry, an experienced skatepark 

builder out of Colorado Springs, at the Paonia Skatepark to get his opinion on the condition of 

the current slab. He felt it was in good enough condition to keep and that this budget would be 

sufficient to build a series of concrete features. 

Making these significant improvements to the skatepark could be listed as “Leveraged Items” on 

future GOCO Grant applications if the Town decides to pursue a GOCO Grant at a more 

convenient time in the future. 

If the Trustees choose this option there are a few things that need to be decided; 

1. Who will write the RFP and choose the contractor? Town of Paonia employees or 

NFPPRD employees? 

2. Who will manage the funds? Town of Paonia or NFPPRD? 

129



3. Will the current Town Board honor the pledge of in-kind work to be performed by 

Paonia Town Employees that was pledged by a former board? 

 

 

Option 2: Apply for the next round of GOCO Grants to secure the funds to build a new 

skatepark and make other significant improvements to Paonia Town Park. This is the high-

demand high-reward option. Many actions need to be taken before re-applying; 

1. The Town of Paonia would need to apply to other smaller grants in order to make the 

GOCO application appear more “urgent.” Possible grants include; DOLA REDI and Main 

Street Grants to improve electric utilities and restrooms. 

2. The Town of Paonia would need to host a community workshop to receive and 

document more direct community input in order to demonstrate which improvements are 

most desired. 

3. The Town of Paonia would need to perform a physical survey of the park to identify the 

exact locations of these potential improvements along with the head of Paonia Public 

Works. 

4. The Town of Paonia needs to research costs for other park improvements to add to the 

estimated budget for the GOCO grant in August. NFPPRD has researched some of the 

costs for the concept paper submitted in August and could be a resource for the Town in 

this endeavor. 

5. The Town of Paonia must decide what type of partnership, if any, they would like to have 

with the NFPPRD in relation to the additional new skatepark build. GOCO can divide the 

grant and make funds available to the NFPPRD for the portion pertaining to the 

skatepark and they would be the administrator for that portion only. The remainder of the 

grant would be administered by the Town of Paonia for the other park improvements. 

6. An MOU designating duties and responsibilities of each entity would need to be drawn 

up and signed by the NFPPRD and the Town of Paonia. 

 

 

130



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition Request for Reimbursement of 

Corridor Dues 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

131



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

132



TOWN OF PAONIA 
REQUEST TO BE PLACED ON AGENDA 
PO Box 460 
Paonia, CO 81428  
970/527-4101 
Paonia@townofpaonia.com 
 
Here are things you need to know: 

 

Formal Board agenda items should be matters of substance for the Board to consider. Examples 
include: Presentations to the Board seeking support or wishing to inform the Board of plans 

that affect the Town, Committees presenting their goals and accomplishments, Items that need 
Board approval to proceed.  

Submitting an agenda request does not guarantee placement on an agenda.  The Mayor will 
determine if this is an appropriate item for consideration on the Board of Trustees’ formal 

agenda.  

Should this request be denied, the requester may present their item in writing to the Board 
under correspondence received or by making a verbal comment within the established time 

limit at the beginning of a regular meeting. 
 

Please complete the following information and return this form no later than Tuesday, two  
weeks prior to the Board meeting to the Town Hall at 214 Grand Avenue. If the regular meeting 

is on the Tuesday the 28th, the request must be received before 5pm on Tuesday the 14th. 

If your issue is placed on the agenda, be aware that your presentation is limited to 5 minutes. 

 
Office hours are Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

Regular Board meetings are scheduled for the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month. 
 
Subject: Up to 6 words (example: Town Park, Potholes, Open Meetings, etc.) 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Requester or Presenter: _______________________________ 

Representing: (Group or Agency name, or Self) ___________________________ 

Date of submittal: ______________________________________________ 

Date of Requested Board Meeting: (Insert Board Meeting date) _______________ 
 
Specific request:  

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Amy DeLuca, President

 NF Valley Creative Coalition

2/27/23

March 14

133



 

Describe the problem that requires resolution* or the topic(s) to be presented:  

 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
    
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation (Please state your recommendation here, along with the main points 
needed for approval of your request, at most 50 words.) Example: The Paonia Association 
recommends the Board pass an ordinance preventing elk from standing in the road. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
What staff member have you spoken to about this?  Please summarize your discussion:  
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
  

 

 

 

• What is the problem that needs to be addressed? 
•  Please start with defining the problem, not describing the solution. 
• Please explain briefly why it is essential that the Town address this 

problem. 
•  This section should be no more than 4-5 sentences long. 

For the past 6 years Paonia has been a partner with 4 other districts that 
define the “Creative Cooridor”  with Carbondale, Crested Butte, Salida and 
Ridgeway. 

This partnership supports economic developement in each community and 
the region of Creative Districs. The Corridor collaborates with print media & 
online advertising with an annually contribution dues  of $1000. 

The North Fork Valley Creative Coalition recommends the Board reimburse
the Creative Cooridor annual dues of $1000.See receipt attached

Samira regarding protocol to be on the agenda

134



Contact information: 

Name: 
Physical Address: 
Mailing Address: 

E-mail:
Daytime Phone:  _____________________ 

Office Use Only: 
Received:  2/28/23

Approved for Agenda:
 2/28/23 
Board Meeting Date:
3/14/23 

NFVCC

PO Box 304 Paonia CO 81428

nfvcreativecoalition@gmail.com
805-798-4806

Print Form Email Form

135



Invoice
Date

1/27/2023

Invoice #

211

Bill To

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition/
Susie Kaldis
PO Box 143
Paonia, CO 81428

Tourism Council of Carbondale

Carbondale Chamber
P.O. Box 1645
Carbondale, CO  81623

P.O. No. Terms

Due on receipt

Project

Thank you for supporting the 2023 Creative Corridor Project!
Total

DescriptionQuantity Rate Amount

2023 Colorado Creative Corridor Grant Partners cash commitment 1,000.00 1,000.00

$1,000.00

136



137



138



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition Request for Letter of Support for 

Town of Paonia for Colorado Creative District Renewal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

139



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

140



TOWN OF PAONIA 
REQUEST TO BE PLACED ON AGENDA 
PO Box 460 
Paonia, CO 81428  
970/527-4101 
Paonia@townofpaonia.com 
 
Here are things you need to know: 

 

Formal Board agenda items should be matters of substance for the Board to consider. Examples 
include: Presentations to the Board seeking support or wishing to inform the Board of plans 

that affect the Town, Committees presenting their goals and accomplishments, Items that need 
Board approval to proceed.  

Submitting an agenda request does not guarantee placement on an agenda.  The Mayor will 
determine if this is an appropriate item for consideration on the Board of Trustees’ formal 

agenda.  

Should this request be denied, the requester may present their item in writing to the Board 
under correspondence received or by making a verbal comment within the established time 

limit at the beginning of a regular meeting. 
 

Please complete the following information and return this form no later than Tuesday, two  
weeks prior to the Board meeting to the Town Hall at 214 Grand Avenue. If the regular meeting 

is on the Tuesday the 28th, the request must be received before 5pm on Tuesday the 14th. 

If your issue is placed on the agenda, be aware that your presentation is limited to 5 minutes. 

 
Office hours are Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

Regular Board meetings are scheduled for the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month. 
 
Subject: Up to 6 words (example: Town Park, Potholes, Open Meetings, etc.) 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Requester or Presenter: _______________________________ 

Representing: (Group or Agency name, or Self) ___________________________ 

Date of submittal: ______________________________________________ 

Date of Requested Board Meeting: (Insert Board Meeting date) _______________ 
 
Specific request:  

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Amy DeLuca, President

NF Valley Creative Coalition

Monday Feb. 27th, 2023

March

141



 

Describe the problem that requires resolution* or the topic(s) to be presented:  

 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
    
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation (Please state your recommendation here, along with the main points 
needed for approval of your request, at most 50 words.) Example: The Paonia Association 
recommends the Board pass an ordinance preventing elk from standing in the road. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
What staff member have you spoken to about this?  Please summarize your discussion:  
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
  

 

 

 

• What is the problem that needs to be addressed? 
•  Please start with defining the problem, not describing the solution. 
• Please explain briefly why it is essential that the Town address this 

problem. 
•  This section should be no more than 4-5 sentences long. 

NFVCC is up for renewal of our Colorado Creative District status.   All
Creative Districts must have municipal support for this important designation
which Paonia has held via a volunteer board of directors for 10 years.  We
are requesting a Letter of Support for our renewal  by April 5th.

NFVCC recommends the Board draft a Letter of Support for the North Valley 
Creative Coalition’s - Creative District renewal.  

*  Please see previous MOU and LOS attached.

Communicated with Samira about the protocol for requesting a LOS

142



Contact information: 

Name: 
Physical Address: 
Mailing Address: 

E-mail:
Daytime Phone:  _____________________ 

Office Use Only: 
Received: 2/28/23

Approved for Agenda:
2/28/23 
Board Meeting Date:
3/14/23 

NFVCC

Po Box 143

nfvcreativecoalition@gmail.com
805-798-4806

Print Form Email Form

143



144



145



146



 

March 7, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Approval to Enter into Contract Negotiations with Selected Housing Firm 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

147



1 
 

To: The Honorable Mayor Mary Bachran and Board of Trustees 

From: Leslie Klusmire, Interim Administrator 

Date: March 14, 2023 

RE: Housing Needs Assessment & Housing Action Plan consulting firm selection and direction 

to enter into contract negotiation 

 

Recommendation:  Select a firm and direct the Interim Town Administrator and Town Attorney 

to enter into contract negotiations. 

Background:   
 
At a special meeting on March 1st, 2023, the Board of Trustees interviewed three firms who 

submitted proposals to provide the Town with a Housing Needs Assessment & Housing Action 

Plan.  They were: 

1. Matrix 

2. EPS 

3. Urban-Rural Continuum 

Please select a firm to negotiate with. The Town Attorney will prepare a contract using the 
Town’s services template, and the Interim Town Administrator will send it to the firm. The 
result will be a final contract for the Board to approve. 

148



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Ordinance 03-2023: Amending Street Closure Permits 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

149



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

150



 

 

Town Board Staff Report Template 

Subject:  Ordinance No. 2023-03; An Ordinance 
Amending Section 11-1-80 of the Paonia 
Municipal Code Regarding Street Closures 

Author: Nick Cotton-Baez, Town Attorney  

Representing: Legal 

Date: March 14, 2023 
 
Specific request: Consider Approval of Ordinance 

 

Summary Recommendation 

 The Town staff recommends approval of the Ordinance if the Board desires to strictly (1) limit 
street closures to a maximum of 10 hours in any 24-hour period, and (2) prohibit the closure 
of any “city block” (defined in the Executive Summary) to 2 times in any 30-day period. 

 

 If the Board desires more flexibility, the Town staff recommends that the Board adopt the 
Ordinance with amendments to subsections (m) and (n).  

 
Executive Summary 

 The Board directed the Town Attorney to prepare the draft Ordinance for the Board’s 
consideration of approval.  

 The draft included in the packet is intended to reflect the discussions had, and motions 
adopted, at the Board’s regular meetings on November 22, 2022, and February 14, 2023. 

 In addition, after finding PMC § 11-1-80 does not contain an adequate enforcement 
mechanism, the Town Attorney has included language that would allow the Town to draw 
on the deposit provided by the applicant under certain circumstances (i.e., failure to clean 
up, and failure to remove items from, the event area). See subsections (c) and (o).  

 The Town Attorney has also included clarifying amendments to subsection (f), regarding 
insurance, and subsection (i), regarding proof of street closure notification. 

 The revisions to subsection (m) [formerly subsection (l)] would limit street closures to a 
maximum of 10 hours in any 24-hour period. 

 The new subsection (n) would prohibit the closure of any “city block” to 2 times in any 30-
day period. “City block” is defined in subsection (n) as “the distance along the subject street 
between the two (2) nearest intersecting through streets or, where there is no second 
intersecting through street, the distance along the subject street from the intersecting 
through street to the dead end.” 

 Subsection (l) contains a new definition of “event area,” which would include “the area of 
street closure, abutting sidewalks, and all other areas utilized by the event.” The defined 
term is used in subsection (l) regarding trash cleanup, and subsection (o) regarding draws 
on the applicant’s deposit.  

 

151



The Intent 

 The draft Ordinance seeks to strike the balance between the desire to allow events 
within the Town’s commercial districts, and perceived business owner concerns with 
closures of the streets abutting their businesses 

 The draft Ordinance further seeks to ensure event organizers return the Town’s 
streets and other areas utilized by the event free of trash and to the condition existing 
prior to the event 

 
Background 

 The Board discussed, and adopted motions regarding, potential revisions to PMC § 11-1-80 at its 

regular meetings on November 22, 2022, and February 14, 2023.  

 Motions adopted at the February 14 meeting supersede conflicting motions adopted at the 

November 22 meeting (to the extent of the conflict). 

 Summary of (main) motions adopted on November 22:  

o Motion to require the event holder to be responsible for providing proof of general 

liability insurance with the application.  

o Motion that section (l) limit the closure of commercial streets (C-1 and C-2 zone 

districts) to no more than 6 times in one calendar year.  

o Motion that section (m) limit Town Administrator-approved street closures to not 

more than 10 hours in duration and 1 day in a row; and that Board must approve 

closures falling outside those limits. 

 Summary of (main) motions adopted on February 14:  

o Motion that Section (f) remain as is, such that organizer provides insurance. 

o Motion that Section (I) should be revised to limit the frequency of “block” closures to no 

more than 2 times in a calendar month. 

o Motion to allow Town Administrator to approve street closure for up to 10 hours in any 

one day, with no ability of the Board to approve a longer closure. 

 The Board’s adoption of this Ordinance would have the effect of superseding any motions adopted 

on November 22, 2022, and February 14, 2023, to the extent that such motions are not reflected 

in the adopted Ordinance.  
 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 

 
See Summary Recommendation (above). 

 
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 

 No perceived fiscal impact. 

 No perceived increase in staff time.   

 Would eliminate Board’s need to review applications for street closures that exceed the Town 
Administrator’s approval authority.  

 
Attachments 

 (Draft) Ordinance No. 2023-03; An Ordinance Amending Section 11-1-80 of the Paonia 
Municipal Code Regarding Street Closures 

152



153



154



1 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2023-03 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 11-1-80 OF THE PAONIA 

MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING STREET CLOSURES 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the “Town”) is a municipal corporation duly organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Board of Trustees desires by this Ordinance to amend the street 

closure permitting requirements of Section 11-1-80 of the Paonia Municipal Code. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1.  Section 11-1-80 of the Paonia Municipal Code is hereby amended to read 

as follows (words added are underlined; words deleted are stricken through):   

 

Sec. 11-1-80. - Street closure; permit.  

 

 (a)  Persons and/or organizations requesting a parade or other event 

involving street closure within the Town limits must apply in writing to the Town 

Clerk for a street closure permit. The Town Clerk shall submit such application to 

the Chief of Police for comment and to the Town Administrator Manager for review 

and denial or approval. by the Town Manager.  

 

 (b)  The issuance of a street closure permit shall be in accordance with 

applicable provisions herein, the provisions for street closure as set forth below, 

and any applicable provisions of the ordinances of the Town regarding the private 

usage of public property. Such permit is revocable by the Town Administrator 

Manager, the Mayor, or Mayor Pro Tem.  

 

 (c)  The fee and deposit amount for submittal of a street closure permit 

application will be set by Resolution as determined from time-to-time by the Board 

of Trustees. The deposit, minus any amounts lawfully drawn upon by the Town in 

accordance with subsection (o) of this Section, shall be returned to the applicant 

within the thirty (30) day period subsequent to the event and upon the Town 

Administrator's determination that the street and adjoining area are returned to the 

same condition as prior to the closure as further detailed in subsection (o).  

 

 (d)  The application shall be submitted no less than thirty (30) days in 

advance of the event.  

 

 (e)  The Town Administrator Manager shall not approve any street 

closure if the Town does not have sufficient resources to properly manage the event 

in a manner consistent with the preservation of the public peace, health and safety 

155



 

 

  

 

2 

and to provide for adequate traffic control or if an adequate alternate route is not 

available, if applicable.  

 

 (f)  The applicant shall provide proof of a commercial general liability 

insurance policy with in a minimum limits of not less than the maximum amount 

that may be recovered from public entities pursuant to coverage equal to that 

specified in Section 24-10-114, C.R.S., which names the Town, its officers, agents 

and employees as additional insureds for claims arising out of the event.  

 

 (g)  The closure shall be implemented and the route chosen in a manner 

that will cause the least inconvenience to the driving public, adjacent residents or 

businesses consistent with the reasonable requirements of the event. The applicant 

shall submit and implement an adequate plan to control and organize the event in a 

manner consistent with all applicable ordinances of the Town.  

 

 (h)  Applicable open container laws within the Town shall apply in all 

street closure events.  

 

 (i)  The applicant shall also provide, as a requirement of permit 

issuance, written proof of street closure notification to all adjoining property 

owners and businesses abutting the area of the street closure.  

 

 (j)  The applicant shall also provide a detailed description of any 

vending or commercial activity occurring coincident with the event. Separate 

vending permits shall not be required for all such commercial activities so 

described, but vendors shall be subject to all other permitting requirements, 

including but not limited to sales tax licenses.  

 

 (k)  For street-closure events, the Town shall provide and install 

barricades, and to be installed and monitored by the applicant as necessary to 

prevent vehicles from entering the area of street closure. shall arrange for and 

provide necessary trash containers. 

 

 (l) The applicant shall arrange for and provide trash containers in an 

amount necessary to serve the event, and shall empty such containers as necessary  

to prevent the accumulation of trash in the event area. The applicant shall maintain 

the event area in a clean and orderly condition at all times during the event, and 

shall ensure all trash is picked up and properly disposed of following the event’s 

conclusion. For purposes of this Section, “event area” shall mean and include the 

area of street closure, abutting sidewalks, and all other areas utilized by the event. 

 

 (m) (l)  Street closures shall not exceed ten (10) five (5) hours in duration in 

any twenty-four (24) hour period., except on Sundays and state-recognized holidays 

when closure may occur for up to ten (10) hours.  

156



 

 

  

 

3 

  

 

 (n) The Town Administrator shall not approve the closure of any city 

block more than two (2) times in any thirty (30) day period. For purposes of this 

subsection, “city block” shall mean the distance along the subject street between 

the two (2) nearest intersecting through streets or, where there is no second 

intersecting through street, the distance along the subject street from the 

intersecting through street to the dead end.  

 

 (o) The Town may draw on the deposit under the following 

circumstances:  

 

  (1) The applicant’s failure to ensure the removal of all 

barricades, event organizer and vendor equipment and personal property, trash 

containers and receptacles, and any other items placed by the applicant in the event 

area by such time as the event is required to conclude as established in the street 

closure of the permit; or  

 

  (2) The applicant’s failure to return the event area free of trash 

and to the condition existing prior to the event within twelve (12) hours of the 

conclusion of the event;  

 

The Town will draw fifty dollars ($50.00) from the deposit if the applicant fails to 

meet the deadlines set forth above, and an additional fifty dollars ($50.00) for every 

thirty (30) minute period thereafter until such time as the applicant has complied 

with its obligations pursuant to this subsection, or the deposit is depleted. In 

addition, the Town will draw such amounts from the deposit as are necessary to 

offset the Town’s costs in removing trash or items remaining in the event area 

following the deadlines set forth above, including but not limited to staff time and 

any fuel and equipment costs. 

 

 (p) (m)  The Town, upon permit approval, shall notify all emergency 

service providers accordingly. 

 

Section 2. All other ordinances or portions thereof inconsistent or conflicting with this 

Ordinance or any portion hereof are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict. 

 

Section 3. If any article, section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 

Ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such decision shall not affect 

the validity or constitutionality of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.  The Board of Trustees 

hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each part or parts hereof irrespective 

of the fact that any one part or parts be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

 

Section 4. This Ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after adoption and 

157



 

 

  

 

4 

publication.  

 

 HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, 

Colorado, this 14th day of March, 2023. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, 

a Colorado municipal corporation  

 

 

By:_________________________________ 

Mary Bachran, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Samira Vetter, Town Clerk 
 

 

158



 

March 9, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Direction from the Board regarding zoning violation investigation - 

Interim Town Administrator 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

159



160



161



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Request for Board Direction Establishing Needs & Desires Boundaries for 

Liquor Licensing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

162



 

March 2, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

 

163



 

 

Town Board Staff Report  

Subject: Resolution for Neighborhood Boundaries for Liquor 
Licensing 

Author: Samira Vetter 

Representing: Clerk’s Office 

Date: March 14, 2023 
 
Specific request: That the Town’s Local Licensing Authority set a standard ‘neighborhood’ boundary for 
Liquor Licensing application requirements. 

 

Summary Recommendation 

To either provide direction to the Town Attorney about a Resolution for the establishment of 
Neighborhood Boundaries 

 -or- 

To send the issue to the Planning Commission for a more in-depth discussion and recommendation of 
neighborhood boundaries based on potential future planning. 
 
Executive Summary 

When a business applies for a liquor license, before their  public hearing they are required to show 
the Local Licensing authority the ‘Needs & Desires’ of the neighborhood. This is often done by 
petition, and it seems that the’ neighborhood’ is the town limit. Paonia has an ever-evolving 
business structure and has a community that is forward looking and creative when it comes to 
building a sustainable economy, so this could be an important distinction to have in the future. 
 
State statute requires that the Local Licensing Authority consider many things including the ‘needs & 
desires’ of the neighborhood. There is also no definition in the State Statute of ‘neighborhood’ or 
guidelines to determine those boundaries. However, at the time a complete application is turned in 
and when a public hearing is scheduled, the Clerk’s office needs to be able to provide a boundary for 
applicants. 

 

The Intent 
As Paonia continues to develop and be surrounded by tourism, food, festivals, vineyards and 
breweries; having an official ‘neighborhood’ established by Resolution is just good practice. It ensures 
that everyone has to meet the same standards, all licensees know from the start what their 
requirements are and it provides a solid base for the Local Licensing Authority/ Board of Trustees to 
provide consistent and equitable treatment.  
 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 

I offered a second recommendation of sending the issue to the Planning Commission for a more in-
depth discussion and recommendation because while the boundaries could be changed if desired 

164



later, with Master Plan work being done and planning for growth after the water moratorium is 
lifted, it might be a good time to look at what the business/tourism growth might look like alongside 
the residential growth.  

 
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
None at this time 
 
Attachments 

Pages from the Colorado Municipal Leagues ‘Liquor & Beer Handbook 2022’ 

165



166



167



 

March 9, 2023 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Approve the Mayor to sign documents allocating the Town’s 2023 Opioid 

Settlement Funds to the Region 14 Opioid Abatement Council (Delta, 

Gunnison, Hinsdale, Montrose, Ouray, and San Miguel Counties) 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



 
Mayor’s Report  

3-14-23 
 

Prop 122: Access to Natural Psychedelic Substances 

 CML is looking for feedback on the desire of local municipalities for legislation to allow 
for local control over psilocybin. They want to know if they should lobby for this. 

 
Grants Submitted 

 Congressionally Directed Spending submitted 
o Requests to Senators Bennet and Hickenlooper for $3,000,000 each 
o Department of Agriculture  

 Community Facilities Grant 
 Grant of 75% = $2,250,000 
 Match 25% - $750,000 (Match can be DOLA housing land/building 

purchase funds, CHAFA funds) 
o Soonest expect to hear if we are included in 2024 budget - Fall of 2023  
o Working on MOU with School District  

 
Grants in progress 

 Colorado Water Conservation Board Water Supply Reserve Fund Grant 
o Purpose – Hydrogeology study for Paonia and Crawford springs 
o Amount – TBD 
o Due – April 1 

 Colorado River District Community Funding Partnership Grant 
o Purpose – matching funds for hydrogeology study for Paonia and Crawford 

springs 
o Amount – Up to $25,000 
o No set due date at this time 

 DOLA Planning Grant 
o Purpose – matching funds for hydrogeology study for Paonia and Crawford 

springs 
o Amount - $25,000 
o Due date - ASAP 

 DOLA EIAF TIER I Grant 
o Purpose – Dorris Ave sewer line replacement 
o Amount  - TBD 
o April 1 

 

199



NEWSLETTER

Empowered cities and towns, united for a strong Colorado

Vol. 48, No. 25, December 16, 2022

CML identifies key legislative issues for upcoming session
By Kevin Bommer, CML executive director, 
and Heather Stauffer, CML legislative & 
policy advocate 

The Colorado Municipal League Executive 
Board held its final meeting of 2022 on 
Dec. 9. At the meeting, the Board made 
key decisions related to positions on 
legislative proposals set to be introduced 
in the 2023 session beginning Jan. 9, the 
procedure for filling an upcoming vacancy 
on the board in the Small Municipality 
(under 8,000 population) category, and 
approval CML’s 2023 budget and strategic 
plan. 

KEY LEGISLATIVE ISSUES FOR 2023 
State preemption of municipal authority: 
We are aware of a number of potential 
bills that seek to preempt local authority 
in areas such as local zoning and land 
use ordinances, broadband, and building 
codes. CML remains opposed to state 
preemption of local authority in these 
and other areas and any interference with 
home rule authority granted by Art. XX, s. 6  
of the Colorado Constitution. 

Affordable housing: The availability 
and affordability of housing is of utmost 
concern to Colorado’s municipalities. CML 
supports continued work in partnership 
with the state and public private 
partnerships to give local governments 
the tools to work on solutions in their 
communities. 

Criminal justice: CML supports 
collaborative relationships with the state 
on criminal justice issues that avoid 
expansion of local taxpayer liability and 
will support efforts to mitigate increased 
rates of vehicle theft in communities across 
Colorado.  

Regulated substances: CML supports 
maximum local control of regulated 
substances and will support efforts to 
include a greater degree of local control in 
the operation of natural medicine facilities 
legalized by Proposition 122.  

For a full list of CML’s 2023 legislative 
priorities, visit https://bit.ly/3FC3OT7. 

UPCOMING CML BOARD VACANCY 
— SMALL CATEGORY 
With a vacancy to occur in January, 
the board decided to accept letters of 
application through 5 p.m. Monday, Jan. 9, 
to fill a position on the Colorado Municipal 
League Executive Board “Small” category 
(under 8,000 population). 

Elected or appointed municipal officials 
in municipalities with a population under 
8,000 who wish to be considered for 
appointment by the CML Executive Board 
should follow the instructions below. 
Under CML bylaws, population figures are 
based upon population estimates from the 
Colorado Department of Local Affairs used 
in computing 2023 municipal dues. 

Any eligible official who desires to be 
considered for the position must: 

b Submit an application for nomination, in 
a letter or other written form, no later than 
5 p.m. Monday, Jan. 9 

b Include an endorsement in writing from 
the applicant’s city council or board of 
trustees with the application by 5 p.m. 
Monday, Jan. 9. The endorsement need 
not be a formal resolution. A letter signed 
by the mayor affirming the support of the 
council or board will suffice. A city council 
or board of trustees may endorse the 
nomination of only one official. 

b Be prepared to attend the CML 
Executive Board meeting Friday, Jan. 27, 
from 10 a.m.-1:30 p.m., if selected to 
be recommended to the full board for 
appointment.  

Application materials and any questions 
should be emailed to Executive Director  
Kevin Bommer at kbommer@cml.org.  
Clerks and managers in small munici-
palities will be sent this information plus 
additional details to share with interested 
individuals. 

200



2 CML Newsletter

EMPOWERED 
CITIES  

AND TOWNS, 
UNITED FOR 

A STRONG 
COLORADO

CML

CML Newsletter (ISSN 7439903) is published 
biweekly by the Colorado Municipal League, 
1144 Sherman St., Denver, CO 80203-2207, for 
Colorado's municipal officials. (USPS 075-590)
Periodical postage paid in Denver, Colorado.

Designer: Alex Miller 
Circulation/mailing lists: Mark Vanderbrook

POSTMASTER: Send address change form 3579 
to Colorado Municipal League, 1144 Sherman St., 
Denver, CO 80203-2207; (p) 303-831-6411 / 
866-578-0936; (f) 303-860-8175.

Subscription to CML Newsletter is offered as a 
portion of member dues. 

Get this newsletter by email. The CML Newsletter 
is available by email three days before it arrives 
in the mail! Sign up at bit.ly/CMLNewsletter.

NEWSLETTER

CONGRATULATIONS

Massey receives IMLA service award
Wynetta Massey, Colorado Springs city attorney and 
CML secretary-treasurer, received the James H. Epps, II 
Award for Longevity of Service to a Community from the 
International Municipal Lawyers Association. The award 
recognizes the significant achievement of attorneys 
having the political and legal skills necessary to represent 
the same community for at least 30 years and who have 
been active in IMLA.

Plans are underway for the Colorado 
Municipal League’s 101st Annual 
Conference, to be held June 25-28 at the 
Gaylord of the Rockies in Aurora. 

This conference is the signature event of 
the year, where municipal officials from 
around the state gather to network and 
exchange ideas. Year after year, attendees 
rave about the valuable experience and 
how inspired they are to get back to work 
and put their newfound knowledge to use. 
In addition to the time devoted to educa-
tional and programmed meetings, many 
delegates feel the conference gives them 
a unique opportunity to meet and network 
with municipal officials from communities 
across the state with similar concerns. 

CML is pleased to offer 10 scholarships to 
the 2023 annual conference. Scholarships 
are open to all member municipalities. 
Applicants can be a manager, clerk, mayor, 
councilmember, town board member, or 
key department head. Scholarship recip-
ients (one application per municipality) 

will receive complimentary registration; 
lodging (arranged by CML at a contract-
ed hotel); travel stipend; and tickets for 
lunch on Monday and Tuesday and one of 
the following: Elected Officials Breakfast, 
Managers Breakfast, or Attorneys Lunch 
on Wednesday. (Note: Municipalities that 
had a scholarship awarded to someone in 
their city or town in 2022 are not eligible to 
receive a scholarship for 2023.) 

For more information and to apply, visit 
https://bit.ly/3E5PUGU. Please complete 
the application, include all necessary 
paperwork, and return to CML by Feb. 24.  
Incomplete applications will not be 
considered. 

If you have any questions about the 
conference or scholarships, please contact 
Karen Rosen at krosen@cml.org.  

We hope you will consider this opportunity 
to join your colleagues from around the 
state for a very productive, exciting, and 
rewarding conference.

CML announces scholarships available  
for 2023 Annual Conference in Aurora

New faces on CCCMA Board of Directors
Congratulations to the newly elected 
members of the Colorado City & 
County Management Association 
Board of Directors.  

b President-elect: Travis Machalek, 
Town of Estes Park town administrator 

b At-large representative: Carly Lorentz, 
City of Golden deputy city manager 

b Emerging Manager representative: 
Grace Johnson, City of Woodland Park 
assistant to the city manager 

b Colorado Veterans Leading 
Government representative: John 
Trylch, City of Fountain administrative 
services director 

CCCMA exists to connect local 
government managers and assistants 
through professional networking and 
career development, supporting their 
service to Colorado communities. CML 
is grateful for the relationship we have 
with CCCMA and its members.

201



Crisis Communications: When the Never Expected 
Happens — Marshall Fire Lessons Learned

December 16, 20223

WEDNESDAY, JAN. 11, 12-1 P.M. 

Presented by Robert Sheesley, CML General Counsel, 
and Rachel Bender, CML Associate Counsel. 

Three of the citizen-initiated statutes approved 
by voters in November 2022 will impact Colorado 
municipalities: Proposition 122 (legalizing natural 
medicine); Proposition 123 (affordable housing 
funding); and Proposition 125 (allowing the sale of wine 
in grocery stores). CLE credits anticipated. 

To register, please visit https://bit.ly/3he6Rri.

WEDNESDAY, JAN. 18, 12-1 P.M. 

When wildfire hit highly populated areas never imagined to be in a 
danger zone, it put Boulder County government communicators to 
the ultimate test.   

Join leaders from the Town of Superior, the City of Louisville, and 
Boulder County to hear: 

b Lessons gained and reinforced in terms of thinking about crisis 
response communications, frameworks, and tactics; plus, real-
life examples that can help you ensure you’re prepared both 
professionally and personally 

b How times of crisis offer an opportunity for government to build 
bridges between partner agencies, community groups, subject 
matter experts, department leadership, media, and residents 

b Key takeaways on the importance of a digital-first strategy for 
crisis response and other communication channels to reach all 
audiences 

b Valuable ways for monitoring community sentiment during 
and after crisis response to ensure optimal support, appropriate 
services, and long-term healing 

To register, please visit https://bit.ly/3iUygPG.

WEDNESDAY, JAN. 20, 12-1 P.M. 

Presented by the CML Advocacy Team. 

Learn what to expect during this session of the 
Colorado General Assembly. Get the latest news on 
potential legislation and ask questions about issues 
that could affect your city or town. 

To register, please visit https://bit.ly/3HFJUbx.

2023 Legislative Update

Psychedelics, Housing & Wine: A Review  
of 2022’s Propositions 122, 123, and 125

Upcoming  
CML webinars on 
psychedelics, Statehouse, 
crisis communications 

202



4 CML Newsletter

GRANT OPPORTUNITIES  
FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENTS















Grant program for remote education,  
health resources in rural, tribal communities  
U.S. Department of Agriculture is accepting 
grant applications for the Distance Learning 
and Telemedicine program, https://bit.
ly/3VxCpav, to help people in rural and tribal 
communities access remote education and 
health care resources. 

The program helps fund real-time, 
interactive distance learning and 
telemedicine services in rural and tribal 
areas to increase access to education, 
training and health care resources that are 
otherwise limited or unavailable. This effort 
is part of the Biden-Harris Administration’s 
goal that every American has access to 
affordable, reliable, high-speed internet. 
Digital equity is an important component 
of that mission. For instance, the program 
gives students the opportunity to participate 
in classes that may be in places that are too 
far to access. Funds can help connect rural 
people virtually to medical professionals 
without leaving their home. USDA plans 
to make $64 million available in fiscal year 

2023. Of this amount, $12 million is intended 
for projects that provide substance use 
disorder treatment services to people in 
rural areas. 

Eligible applicants include state and local 
governmental entities, federally recognized 
tribes, nonprofits, and for-profit businesses. 

Applications must be submitted 
electronically through grants.gov no later 
than Jan. 30. For additional information 
on projects in Colorado contact Bradley 
Clausen, bradley.clausen@usda.gov. 

USDA is offering priority points to projects 
that advance key priorities under the 
Biden-Harris Administration to help 
communities create more and better market 
opportunities, advance equity and combat 
climate change. These extra points will 
increase the likelihood of funding. More 
information is available online at  
https://bit.ly/3gVAM7r.

$2.5M available  
to fight opioid crisis
The Colorado Opioid Abatement Council 
is accepting applications for $2.5 million 
of the 2022-23 Opioid Infrastructure Share 
funds. Local governments that participated 
in the Colorado Opioid MOU and Colorado 
Opioid Regions are eligible to apply for 
Infrastructure Share funds to develop the 
infrastructure necessary to combat the 
opioid crisis in Colorado. Deadline is  
Jan. 13. More information is available on the 
Opioid Abatement Council website,  
https://bit.ly/3EZfcXA.

Waste diversion 
grants available
The Recycling Resources Economic 
Opportunity program provides funding that 
promotes economic development through 
the management of materials that would 
otherwise be landfilled. Funds are available 
to support recycling, composting, anaerobic 
digestion, source reduction, and beneficial 
use/reuse. The application deadline is Jan. 5,  
and more information is available online, 
https://bit.ly/3VstR4N.

BHA releasing $130 million in community grant programs
The Behavioral Health Administration is 
excited to announce over $130 million of 
grant opportunities for local governments. 
BHA will be accepting applications on a 
rolling basis beginning Dec. 8. The first 
group of applications should be submitted 
by Jan. 15 and will be awarded by March 1.  

There are four grant programs to choose 
from. The Criminal Justice Early Intervention 
Grant Program was created by Senate 
Bill (SB) 22-196, Health Needs Of Persons 
In Criminal Justice System. The program 

has $49 million of funding available, and 
allowable uses of the program include the 
establishment of a court reminder program 
for municipal courts.  

There are three grants related to House 
Bill (HB) 22-1281, Behavioral Health-care 
Continuum Gap Grant Program:  

b Community Investment Grant Program 
($34 million) 

b Children, Youth, and Families Grant 
Program ($39 million) 

b Substance Use Workforce Stability Grant 
Program ($14 million).

The BHA will also offer technical assistance 
and support for local governments 
submitting applications.  For more 
information, including how to apply, 
deadlines, and technical information visit the 
BHA Funding Opportunities website,  
https://bit.ly/3PcuI7p, which has more 
information on the grant process, 
application requirements and review 
timeline.

203



December 16, 20225

Outdoor recreation grant deadline Dec. 31
The Colorado Outdoor Recreation Industry 
Office is accepting applications for 
projects related to economic development 
and recovery in the outdoor recreation 
sector.  

The next application deadline is Dec. 31.  
More information is available online, 
https://bit.ly/3ulBONm. 

Eligible entities include government 
bodies, nonprofits, colleges/universities, 

economic development organizations. 
Applications will be accepted on a rolling 
basis with quarterly review deadlines of 
March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, and Dec. 31  
of each year through 2025 or until all 
funding is allocated. These funds are 
made available through the Economic 
Development Administration as a part of 
the American Rescue Plan Act.

Webinar is an opportunity to weigh in 
on Colorado’s new energy codes, funding

Colorado Energy Office survey  
will shape vehicle replacement program 

The Colorado Energy Office and the Colo-
rado Department of Local Affairs, in part-
nership with Colorado Counties Inc., the 
Colorado Municipal League, the Colorado 
Chapter of the International Code Council, 
and the Colorado City & County Managers 
Association, invite you to participate in a 
webinar and listening session that will cov-
er the new building energy code require-
ments that passed in the 2022 Colorado 
legislative session in House Bill 22-1362 
and the funding opportunities included in 
that legislation to support local govern-
ments and the building industry in meeting 
those requirements.  

The sessions will provide an opportunity 
for building officials, city councilors, city 

and county managers, county commission-
ers, and other local government officials 
and staff to provide input to the Energy 
Office and DOLA on the development of 
energy code funding programs to ensure 
they meet the needs of local governments. 

There will be three opportunities to partic-
ipate in a session on the dates and times 
listed below. Each session will provide the 
same information. 

b Jan. 12, 1-3 p.m.  
Register https://bit.ly/3VN6TWe.

b Jan. 19, 10 a.m.-12 p.m.  
Register https://bit.ly/3hhGqkE.

b Jan. 20, 11 a.m.-1 p.m.  
Register https://bit.ly/3iTtzFP.

The Colorado Energy Office is requesting 
feedback on a program that will provide 
financial incentives to income-qualified 
Coloradans to help replace old, inefficient 
cars and trucks with electric vehicles. 

The program may also provide financial 
incentives for other transportation options, 
such as electric bikes or carshare mem-
bership. To gain input on the design of this 
vehicle replacement program, the State of 
Colorado is inviting Colorado residents to 
fill out a brief survey, https://bit.ly/3gSGnve,  
(English and Spanish versions available). 
The program is targeted to launch in spring 
2023.

Transportation is the largest single source 
of greenhouse gas pollution in Colorado. It 
is a major source of other forms of pollu-
tion, including ozone precursors, hazard-
ous air pollutants, nitrogen oxides, and 
particulate pollution. Electric vehicles will 
provide many benefits to program partici-
pants, including reduced fuel and mainte-
nance costs, lower vehicle emissions, and 
improved air quality.

Electric vehicles (also known as “EVs”) 
include fully electric vehicles and plug-
in hybrid electric vehicles. The Colorado 
Energy Office will share more information 
about this vehicle replacement program in 
the coming months. 

State ethics panel 
seeks applicants

Saving Places 
Conference 2023

The Colorado Independent Ethics 
Commission is seeking applications from 
local government officials or employees to 
fill an upcoming commissioner’s vacancy 
through June 30. The commission will 
thereafter consider appointment to a full 
four-year term. Interested applicants may 
submit a resume to iecinfo@state.co.us.  
Questions may be directed to Dino 
Ioannides, the commission’s executive 
director, at (720) 625-5697 or by email to 
iecinfo@state.co.us. 

Join Colorado Preservation, Inc. in 2023 
to celebrate the heart of preservation—the 
people, partners, and funders making 
a difference in communities throughout 
Colorado. The conference will explore 
stories behind the preservation of 
place, cultural heritage, and the context 
behind some of our most well-known and 
overlooked communities. The conference 
will take place Feb. 8-10 in Boulder. More 
information and registration are available 
online, https://bit.ly/3Y5iphl.

204



LEGAL CORNER
CML

6 CML Newsletter

By Ashlyn DuThorn, CML law clerk

This November, Coloradans voted to pass 
Proposition 122 (to be codified at C.R.S. 
§§ 12-170-101 to -115), which legalizes the 
supervised use of “natural medicine” at 
state-licensed facilities by individuals over 
21 years old and decriminalizes the per-
sonal use of natural medicine by individ-
uals over 21 years old. “Natural medicine” 
means any form of psilocyn and psilo-
cybin until 2026, and may later include 
dimethyltryptamine (DMT), ibogaine, or 
mescaline (excluding peyote) if approved 
by the Department of Revenue. Personal 
use includes possessing, using, growing, 
ingesting, or sharing with other persons 
over 21 years of age. The sale of natural 
medicine, however, will still be illegal out-
side of state-licensed healing centers.

NATURAL MEDICINE WILL NOT BE 
TREATED THE SAME WAY AS MARI-
JUANA 
Although one might be inclined to com-
pare this measure to the legalization of 
marijuana in Colorado, there are several 
significant differences between how the 
state treats marijuana and how it will treat 
natural medicine, or “natural psychedelic 
substances.” One especially important 
difference is that the sale of marijuana 
for recreational use is legal in Colorado, 
but it will not be for natural psychedelic 
substances. Giving away the substances 
for free, however, will be lawful.

Additionally, unlike the marijuana regula-
tory structure, local authority to regulate 
natural medicine is strictly curtailed. 
Instead of operating under the same dual- 
licensing system that marijuana busi-
nesses do, healing centers will be solely 
state-licensed. The state will also be 
responsible for regulating the manufac-
ture, cultivation, testing, storage, transfer, 
transport, delivery, sale, purchase, and 
provision of natural medicine.

While local governments are authorized 
to regulate the time, place, and manner 
of the operation of healing centers, local 
authority is otherwise strictly limited. 
Under the law, local governments cannot 
ban healing centers (unless required by a 
federal grant) or the transportation of nat-
ural medicine in the same way that they 
can deny marijuana dispensaries within 
their jurisdictions. Local governments are 
also prohibited from enacting laws that 
are “unreasonable or in conflict with” the 
statute.

PREPARING FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
In its current form, the new law’s ambigu-
ities and restrictions on local control will 
likely create confusion. Municipalities will 
be impacted in their law enforcement, 
business licensing, code enforcement, 
court, and employment roles. For exam-
ple, the broad permission for personal use 
and gifting of natural medicine will test 
the boundaries of lawful searches and 
seizures. Whether conduct is permitted by 
the law may be difficult to determine since 
the law maintains many prohibitions while 
limiting the ability of law enforcement 
to act. Consequently, police and code 
enforcement will have to take extra care 
not to violate the mandate that natural 
medicine can be harmed or destroyed.

Local governments should consider 
appropriate “time, place, and manner” 
regulations for healing centers. Modifi-
cations to zoning laws will be needed. 
Changes can include identifying where 
such uses may be right for a community. A 
cap on the number of establishments may 
also be lawful.

OTHER AREAS FOR CONCERN 
The law’s broad preemption language 
will particularly impact local ordinances 
involving the possession or sale of natural 
medicine and policies that might be based 

on the possession of controlled substanc-
es. Other concerns include:

b The impact on drug-testing and drug-
free workplace policies, Colorado’s 
lawful off-duty activities statute, and the 
remote work environment. The law does 
not require an employer to permit the 
possession or use of natural medicine 
in the workplace, but it also does not 
discuss an employee being under the in-
fluence of natural medicine while in the 
workplace or while otherwise perform-
ing job duties.

b The permission to cultivate natural med-
icine for personal use, which may conflict 
with building codes and zoning standards. 
The law has no limits on the amount of 
natural medicine that can be grown or 
where it can be grown.

b The limitation or denial of public assis-
tance based on now-lawful conduct. 

b The permission to seal prior offenses 
based on conduct that would have been 
lawful under the new law. 

b The reclassification of offenses that may 
affect law enforcement authority.

WHAT’S NEXT FOR  
PROPOSITION 122?
The law will likely be effective by Dec. 31. 
The implementation of Proposition 122 is 
just beginning, and the 2023 legislative 
session may bring changes to the new law. 
In the meantime, municipalities should 
use caution when taking any action with 
respect to natural medicine, particularly 
when it comes to law enforcement and 
code enforcement activities.

Note: CML will be hosting a CLE webinar 
on Propositions 122, 123, and 125 on Jan. 11.

This column is not intended and should 
not be taken as legal advice. Municipal 
officials are always encouraged to consult 
with their own attorneys.

What the passage of Proposition 122 means for local governments 

205



Advocacy, information, and training to build strong cities and towns

7 December 16, 2022

26
CML’s year in webinars, by the numbers

RESEARCH CORNER

26 444
1,8621,8621,862

290290290

NUMBER OF WEBINARS HOSTED

TOTAL ATTENDEES

ATTENDEES OF THE YEAR’S MOST HEAVILY 
ATTENDED WEBINAR, WATER LAW 101

297297297
VIEWERS OF THE MOST WATCHED CML WEBINAR 

ON YOUTUBE, RESILIENT LEADERSHIP TOOLS FOR 
ELECTED OFFICIALS AND EXECUTIVE LEADERS

2,3812,3812,381
TOTAL VIEWS ON CML’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL

WEBINARS HOSTED PER MONTH IN THE BUSIEST 
MONTHS FOR WEBINARS: MARCH, APRIL & MAY

26

STATEHOUSE REPORT
7 WEBINARS

ELECTIONS
3 WEBINARS

HOUSING
3 WEBINARS

ACCESSIBILITY
3 WEBINARS

BROADBAND
2 WEBINARS

RESILIENT LEADERSHIP
2 WEBINARS

SUSTAINABILITY
2 WEBINARS

Popular topics

206



Periodical postage
PAID

at Denver, Colorado

USPS 075-590

1144 Sherman St. • Denver, CO • 80203-2207

NEWSLETTER Vol. 48, No. 25, December 16, 2022

• CML identifies key municipal issues for 2023
• Upcoming webinars on psychedelics, wildfire, Statehouse 
• Behavioral Health Administration offers $130 million in grants
• Legal Corner: What does Proposition 122 mean for natural medicine and municipalities?
• Research Corner: CML’s year in webinars, by the numbers

Featured in this issue:

207



Proposition 122 Amendments 

Local Approval Requirement: Rewrite 12-170-105: 

 12-170-107. Localities. (1) A locality may regulate the time, place, and manner of the operation 

of healing centers licensed pursuant to this article 170 within its boundaries.  

 (2) A locality may not ban or completely prohibit the establishment or operation of healing 

centers licensed pursuant to this article 170 within its boundaries. A LOCALITY MAY PROHIBIT THE 

ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION OF HEALING CENTERS, THE PROVISION OF NATURAL MEDICINE 

SERVICES, THE CULTIVATION, PROCESSING, OR TESTING OF NATURAL MEDICINE FOR USE IN THE 

PROVISION OF NATURAL MEDICINE SERVICES, AND THE CULTIVATION OF NATURAL MEDICINE FOR 

PERSONAL USE THROUGH THE ENACTMENT OF AN ORDINANCE OR THROUGH AN INITIATED OR 

REFERRED MEASURE. SUCH PROHIBITION WILL APPLY ONLY TO THE AREA SUBJECT TO THE 

JURISDICTION OF THE CITY OR TOWN OR IN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA SUBJECT TO THE 

JURISDICTION OF THE COUNTY.  UPON RECEIVING NOTICE OF A PROHIBITION UNDER THIS SECTION, THE 

DEPARTMENT SHALL DISCONTINUE LICENSING THOSE PREMISES TO WHICH THE PROHIBITION APPLIES. 

(3) A locality may not ban or completely prohibit a licensed health-care facility or individual 

within its boundaries from providing natural medicine services if the licensed health care facility or 

individual is permitted to provide natural medicine services by the department pursuant to this article 

170. A LOCALITY MAY PROHIBIT THE CULTIVATION OF NATURAL MEDICINE FOR PERSONAL USE 

THROUGH THE ENACTMENT OF AN ORDINANCE OR THROUGH AN INITIATED OR REFERRED MEASURE. 

SUCH PROHIBITION WILL APPLY ONLY TO THE AREA SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE CITY OR 

TOWN OR IN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE COUNTY.  

(4) A locality may not prohibit the transportation of natural medicine through its jurisdiction on 

public roads A STATE HIGHWAY by a licensee or as otherwise BY A PERSON CARRYING NATURAL 

MEDICINE FOR THEIR PERSONAL USE AS allowed by this article 170. 

(5) A locality may not adopt ordinances or regulations that are unreasonable or in conflict with 

this article 170, but may enact laws imposing lesser criminal or civil penalties than provided by this 

article 170. WITHOUT LIMITATION, A LOCALITY MAY: 

(I) ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE OVERSIGHT OF HEALING CENTERS AND 

RECORDKEEPING THAT ARE MORE STRINGENT THAN THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS ARTICLE 170; 

(ii) ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE ZONING, LAND USE, OR BUILDING REGULATIONS AFFECTING THE 

ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION OF HEALING CENTERS AND OTHER CONDUCT ALLOWED BY 

THIS ARTICLE 170; AND 

(III) RESTRICT THE SHARING OF PREMISES BY HEALING CENTERS OR THE OPERATION OF 

HEALING CENTERS OR THE PROVISION OF NATURAL MEDICINE SERVICES IN PRIVATE 

RESIDENCES OR PREMISES NOT OWNED OR CONTROLLED BY A LICENSEE.  

(6) NOTHING IN THIS ARTICLE 170 SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO SUPERSEDE, INVALIDATE, OR 

PREEMPT ANY CHARTER PROVISION, ORDINANCE, OR REGULATION OF A LOCALITY ENACTED PURSUANT 

TO THIS SECTION OR TO AUTHORIZE OR EXCUSE ANY ACTION OR CONDUCT THAT WOULD VIOLATE ANY 

208



CHARTER PROVISION, ORDINANCE, OR REGULATION OF A LOCALITY ENACTED PURSUANT TO THIS 

SECTION. 

• Legislative Declaration (12-170-102): Remove subsection (k) regarding interpretation of statute. 

• State Rulemaking (12-170-104):  

o Delay acceptance of applications until after rulemaking and remove timeline for making 
decisions on applications (3). 

o Require General Assembly approval to include more items in the definition on natural 
medicine (4). 

o Require confirmation of local approval and zoning authorization for permitting (6)(c). 

o Reconsider confidentiality of participant information, in light of lawful subpoenas and 
warrants (6)(c)((III). 

o Delete provisions regarding statewide access (6)(c)(VIII).  

o Delete requirement that rules allow for sharing premises between healing centers 
(6)(c)(X) 

o Delete requirement that rules allow for natural medicine services in private residences 
or other premises not controlled by the licensed healing center (6)(c)(XI).  

o Consider impact of proposed training recommendations from this board for public 
safety and social services and potential conflict with specific regulatory agencies (6)(f). 

• Advisory Board Membership (12-170-105): Add representatives of local government and law 
enforcement. 

• Protections (12-170-108): The breadth of certain provisions needs to be reduced and clarified, 
especially if the scope of the law regarding home cultivation, transfers of natural medicine by 
non-licensees, etc., is not reduced. For example: 

o Remove “but notwithstanding any other provision of law” (1) 

o Add a clarification recognizing local regulation (1)(a). 

o Modify (e): Nothing in this section shall be construed or interpreted . . . to limit a state 
or local law enforcement agency’s ability to investigate AND PROSECUTE unlawful 
activity in relation to a licensee OR TO LIMIT THE STATE OR ANY LOCALITY’S ABILITY TO 
INVESTIGATE, CHALLENGE, OR PROSECUTE ACTIVITY THAT IS UNLAWFUL UNDER STATE 
OR LOCAL LAW. 

o Section also needs to be renumbered – there is no (2). 

• Personal Use (12-170-109):  

o Consider limiting the ability to purchase, obtain, or ingest, or give away, natural 
medicine for personal use regardless of age (1)(a). 

o Consider reducing the allowed actions for personal use to respect building safety 
requirements, prevent improper use of property not zoned for such use, and avoid 
illicit markets (1)(b). A quantity limitation may be appropriate. 

209



o Delete the concept of cultivating or sharing with others for personal use, regardless of 
age, as these are outside of the state regulatory system (2). Clarify that personal use 
does not include these things. 

o The concept of seizure and harming/destroying needs to be revised to avoid confusion 
and account for the difficulty in determining if the possession or cultivation or other 
action is actually allowed. Law enforcement and other agencies cannot be responsible 
for maintaining natural medicine. (5)  

• Personal Use Penalties (12-170-110):  

o Delete requirement of “no cost” education or counseling (1). 

o Broaden scope of penalties for other acts (3) and remove limitation on establishing 
penalties for anything but cultivating natural medicine that is not secure from access 
(4). 

• Limitations (12-170-111):  

o Expand prohibition on transfer to include transfer to any person, except for by a 
licensee in the context of healing center operation (1)(d). 

o Expand employer protection to not require the employer to permit actions “in the 
performance of job duties” or to require the employer to allow work performance while 
the person is under the influence of natural medicines (1)(g). 

o Consider adding other limitations as provided for marijuana (e.g., adulteration of natural 
medicine, false or misleading advertising, providing public premises for consumption, 
destroying natural medicine to avoid investigation, prohibiting public consumption, 
etc.). 

• Preemption (12-170-113):  

o This needs to be deleted or modified to account for local regulation as provided by the 
amendment. 

210



PACKET MODIFICATIONS 
March 14, 2023 

Addition of Chase Credit Card Statements 02232023 
Addition of Disbursement Summary 2023 
Disbursements 03142023
Payroll 03102023
Payroll Taxes 03102023
Phillips66 Fuel Card 02232023
Letter of Support- Lucas



Manage your account online at : Mobile:  Download the
Chase Mobile app today® 

ACCOUNT SUMMARY

YOUR ACCOUNT MESSAGES

AUTOPAY IS ON

P.O. BOX 15123
   WILMINGTON, DE 19850-5123

For Undeliverable Mail Only

$

This Statement is a Facsimile - Not an original

Payment Due Date: 03/17/23
New Balance: $5,443.43
Minimum Payment Due: $54.00

0000001 FIS33339 C 1 N Z 23 23/02/23 Page 1 of 3 05686 MA DA 46723 05410000010004672301 

46723 BEX Z 05423 C 

Manage your account online at :  Customer Service: Mobile:  
www.chase.com/cardhelp 1-800-945-2028

Download the
Chase Mobile app today

Late Payment Warning:  

Minimum Payment Warning: 

Account Number:  4246 3152 5990 8901

New Balance $5,443.43

Past Due Amount $0.00

Balance over the Credit Limit $0.00

Account number: 4246 3152 5990 8901

AUTOPAY IS ON

If we do not receive your minimum payment
by the due date, you may have to pay a late fee, and existing and new
balances may become subject to the Default APR.

 Enroll in Auto-Pay and avoid missing
a payment.  To enroll, go to www.chase.com

Previous Balance $2,700.45

Payment, Credits -$2,700.45

Purchases +$5,443.43

Cash Advances $0.00

Balance Transfers $0.00

Fees Charged $0.00

Interest Charged $0.00

Opening/Closing Date 01/24/23 - 02/23/23

Credit Limit $45,000

Available Credit $39,556

Cash Access Line $2,250

Available for Cash $2,250

_________________________.____________________________________.___________ Amount Enclosed

SCENARIO-1D

CINDY JONES
TOWN OF PAONIA
PO BOX 460
PAONIA CO 81428-0460

Payment Due Date

New Balance

Minimum Payment Due

March  2023

S M T W T F S

26 27 28 1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8 9 10 11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18

19 20 21 22 23 24 25

26 27 28 29 30 31 1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

`

`

CARDMEMBER SERVICE
PO BOX 6294
CAROL STREAM IL 60197-6294

See Your Account
Messages for details.

Your next AutoPay payment for $5,443.43 will be deducted from your Pay From account and credited on your due 
date.  If your due date falls on a Saturday, we'll credit your payment the Friday before.

42463152599089010000540000544343000000000

ACCOUNT SUMMARY

03/17/23

$5,443.43

$54.00

YOUR ACCOUNT MESSAGES

Late Payment Warning:

Minimum Payment Warning:

Remit Coupon for

A500016028A15952599089015C

® 



To contact us regarding your account:

Mail Payments to:
P.O. Box 6294
Carol Stream, IL 60197-6294

Send Inquiries to:
P.O. Box 15298
Wilmington, DE 19850-5298

To manage your account, including card payments, alerts, and change of address, visit 
 or call the customer service number which appears on your

account statement.
www.chase.com/cardhelp

Visit Our Website:

Call Customer Service:

www.chase.com/cardhelp

In U.S. 1-800-945-2028
Spanish 1-888-795-0574
Pay by phone1-800-436-7958
International   1-480-350-7099
We accept operator relay calls



Manage your account online at : Mobile:  Download the
Chase Mobile app today® 

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY

Year-to-date totals do not reflect any fee or interest refunds
you may have received.

INTEREST CHARGES

This Statement is a Facsimile - Not an original
0000001 FIS33339 C 1 N Z 23 23/02/23 Page 2 of 3 05686 MA DA 46723 05410000010004672302 

Manage your account online at :  Customer Service: Mobile:  
www.chase.com/cardhelp 1-800-945-2028

Download the
Chase Mobile app today

2023  Totals Year-to-Date

Annual Percentage Rate (APR) 

Balance Type
Annual

Percentage
Rate (APR)

Balance
Subject To

Interest Rate
Interest
Charges

PURCHASES

CASH ADVANCES

Page 2 of 3 Statement Date: 02/23/23CINDY JONES

Date of
Transaction Merchant  Name or Transaction Description $ Amount

02/17     AUTOMATIC PAYMENT - THANK YOU -2,700.45

02/01     WALTHER ARMS 479-646-4210 AR 599.70

02/08     MESA COUNTY HEALTH WWW.MESACOUNT CO 40.00

02/18     SPRINT STORE #3290 GRANDJUNCTION CO 106.15

02/20     SPRINT *WIRELESS 800-639-6111 KS 365.65
CINDY JONES
TRANSACTIONS THIS CYCLE (CARD  8901) $1588.95-
INCLUDING PAYMENTS RECEIVED

01/26     USPS PO 0769660541 PAONIA CO 9.96

01/30     AMZN Mktp US*TZ3QQ02M3 Amzn.com/bill WA 56.88

02/22     AMZN Mktp US*HP1T61XW1 Amzn.com/bill WA 212.89
TOWNOF PAONIA
TRANSACTIONS THIS CYCLE (CARD  8181) $279.73

01/28     STAPLES DIRECT 800-3333330 MA 201.46

02/01     WORDCAB, INC. HTTPSWORDCAB. NY 24.00

02/03     WWW.SPSWORKS.COM WWW.SPSWORKS. MN 21.45

02/08     COLORADO CWP 719-5456748 CO 50.00

02/09     PAYPAL *JUMPSTARTTE 402-935-7733 CA 75.00

02/09     PAYPAL *JUMPSTARTTE 402-935-7733 CA 75.00

02/09     PAYPAL *JUMPSTARTTE 402-935-7733 CA 75.00

02/09     PAYPAL *JUMPSTARTTE 402-935-7733 CA 75.00
TOWNOF PAONIA
TRANSACTIONS THIS CYCLE (CARD  4100) $596.91

01/24     IIMC 909-9444162 CA 185.00

01/29     Amazon.com*S617J7AL3 Amzn.com/bill WA 44.60

02/06     AMZN Mktp US*4Y5KK2U63 Amzn.com/bill WA 42.36

02/15     AMZN Mktp US*HE3Y581U2 Amzn.com/bill WA 19.94

02/21     CEDAREDGE DOCTORS OFFICE CEDAREDGE CO 170.00

02/22     ABC-NV 913-8954600 KS 100.00
TOWNOF PAONIA
TRANSACTIONS THIS CYCLE (CARD  8158) $561.90

01/24     CO MOTOR VEH SERV EMV DENVER CO 12.59

02/02     GOVX INC 888-468-5511 CA 180.61

02/19     AMZN Mktp US*HE5KP7RW2 Amzn.com/bill WA 50.57
MATT LAIMINGER
TRANSACTIONS THIS CYCLE (CARD  7897) $243.77

01/24     ALLIED ELECTRONICS INC 800-433-5700 TX 535.26

01/27     TRACTOR SUPPLY CO #1791 DELTA CO 2,055.69

02/16     CONOCO - STOP N SAVE 9 PAONIA CO 58.67
CORY HEINIGER
TRANSACTIONS THIS CYCLE (CARD  9828) $2649.62

Total fees charged in 2023 $0.00
Total interest charged in 2023 $0.00

Year-to-date totals do not reflect any fee or interest refunds
you may have received.

Your  is the annual interest rate on your account.

Purchases 17.74%(v)(d) - 0 - - 0 -   

Cash Advances 29.49%(v)(d) - 0 - - 0 -   

Your AutoPay amount will be reduced by any payments or merchant credits that post to your account before we 
process your  AutoPay payment.  If the total of these payments and merchant credits is more than your set  AutoPay 
amount, your AutoPay payment for that month will be zero.

YOUR ACCOUNT MESSAGES  (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY

INTEREST CHARGES

Table Summary

Table Summary

empty cell empty cell empty cell

empty cell empty cell empty cell

® 

WATER SAMPLES-605032

PW CELL PHONE-ALLOCATED

CELL PHONES-ALLOCATED

POSTAGE-104117
TRASH BAGS-104125
SHARK VACUUM-104125

STORAGE BINDER-104115
MEETING SOFTWARE-104133
DOG TAG RECEIPT BOOK-144215
WASTEWATER CERT-705126
WASTEWATER TESTING-705126
WASTEWATER TESTING-705126
WATER TESTING-605026
WATER TESTING-605026

ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP FEE-104131
TAPE DISPENSER-104115
SECURITY ENVELOPS-104115
ENVIROCARE VACUUM BAG-104125

DOT PHYSICAL-805227
WASTEWATER EXAM-705126

VEHICLE REGISTRATION-144223
PD JACKET-144216
CHARGER+STYLUS-144215

TOOLS-ALLOCATED
LUNCH FOR PW-204542

SOLENOID FOR 2MG PLANT-605022

PD HOLSTERS-144216



x
This Statement is a Facsimile - Not an original

0000001 FIS33339 C 1 N Z 23 23/02/23 Page 3 of 3 05686 MA DA 46723 05410000010004672302 

Annual Percentage Rate (APR) 

Balance Type
Annual

Percentage
Rate (APR)

Balance
Subject To

Interest Rate
Interest
Charges

BALANCE TRANSFERS

31 Days in Billing Period

Your  is the annual interest rate on your account.

Balance Transfer 17.74%(v)(d) - 0 - - 0 -   

(v) = Variable Rate
(d) = Daily Balance Method (including new transactions)
(a) = Average Daily Balance Method (including new transactions)
Please see Information About Your Account section for the Calculation of Balance Subject to Interest Rate, Annual Renewal Notice,
How to Avoid Interest on Purchases, and other important information, as applicable.

INTEREST CHARGES  (CONTINUED)

empty cell empty cell empty cell



DESCRIPTION DATES AMOUNT
CURRENT FSBC OPS BALANCE 347,633.93                
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 02/17/2023 - 03/09/2023 (77,061.45) 
LOAN PAYMENT
BOND PAYMENT 4/3/23-AMKO 1ST BOND PMT-APPROVED 2/14/23 (73,250.00) 
NORRIS RETIREMENT PAYMENT 3/24/2023 (1,120.00) 
CHASE CREDIT CARD 01/24/23 - 02/23/23 (5,443.43) 
PHILLIPS 66 FUEL CARD 02/23/23 (3,149.02) 
TRANSFER TO SUMMIT *

TRANSFER TO PAYROLL 3/10/2023 (33,221.96) *

PAYROLL TAXES 3/10/2023 (14,359.26) 
BALANCE AFTER PAYMENT 140,028.81                

DESCRIPTION DATES AMOUNT

CURRENT FSBC SUMMIT BALANCE 2,397,852.27             
TRANSFER FROM OPS - *
TRANSFER FROM INT. GRANTS - 
TRANSFER TO OPS
CURRENT FSBC PAYROLL BALANCE 1,703.82 

TRANSFER FROM OPS 3/10/2023 33,221.96 *

PAYROLL (DIRECT DEPOSIT) 3/10/2023 (33,221.96) *
BALANCE AFTER PAYMENT 2,399,556.09             

DESCRIPTION DATES AMOUNT
CURRENT INTERNAL GRANT BALANCE SALE OF ASSETS-AUCTION 40,912.00 

BALANCE AFTER PAYMENT 40,912.00 

*Transfer from Operations Account to Payroll Account then disbursed as Direct Deposit

UBB INTERNAL GRANT DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 

FOR: 03/14/2023
UBB OPS DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 

UBB SUMMIT/PAYROLL DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 



FSBC COLOTRUST TOTAL DESCRIPTION
3/9/2023

GENERAL 545,799.59        COMBINED FUNDS
SEWER RESTRICTED 543,840.75        PROPERTY SALE-RESTRICTED
DEBT RESERVE 109,581.77        AMKO BOND REQUIRED RESERVE
BRIDGE RESERVE 603,528.87        BRIDGE RESERVE

CONS.TRUST 10,421.22           RESTRICTED TO PARK USE ONLY
GRANT PASS THRU 25,025.00           PLACE HOLDER-COMBINED FUNDS
INT GRANT 40,912.00           PLACE HOLDER-COMBINED FUNDS
OPS 387,840.58        COMBINED FUNDS
PARK CONTRIBUTIONS 12,750.00           SPECIFIC PARK PROJECTS
PAYROLL 1,703.82             PLACE HOLDER-COMBINED FUNDS
SUMMIT 2,397,852.27     COMBINED FUNDS
WWTP 58,608.94           OLD SEWER REHAB ONLY
CD#2-402 204,126.61        COMBINED FUNDS-LOC COLLATERAL
CD#3-2578 261,378.93        COMBINED FUNDS

3,400,619.37     1,802,750.98     5,203,370.35     

COMBINED RESTRICTED TOTAL DESCRIPTION
3/9/2023

GENERAL 545,799.59        
SEWER RESTRICTED 543,840.75        RESTRICED TO SEWER CAPITAL PROJECT

DEBT RESERVE 109,581.77        RESTRICTED LOAN REQUIRMENT
BRIDGE RESERVE 603,528.87        RESTRICTED TO BRIDGE REPAIRS 

CONS.TRUST 10,421.22           RESTRICTED TO PARK CAPTIAL PROJECT
GRANT PASS THRU 25,025.00           
INT GRANT 40,912.00           RESTRICED LOAN REQUIREMENT
OPS 387,840.58        

PARK CONTRIBUTIONS 12,750.00           SPECIFIC PARK PROJECTS AS DONATED

PAYROLL 1,703.82             

SUMMIT 2,397,852.27     

WWTP 58,608.94           OLD SEWER REHAB ONLY

CD#2-402 204,126.61        

CD#3-2578 261,378.93        

3,823,726.80     1,379,643.55     5,203,370.35     

BANK BALANCES

CASH POSITION

CASH POSITION



Town of Paonia Cash Requirements Report - Paonia Page:     1
Due date(s): All-All Mar 10, 2023  06:40PM

Check Issue Date: 3/10/2023

Due Vendor Vendor Invoice Invoice Discount Partial Net Due Pay Partial Part Pmt
Date Number Name Number Amount Amount Payments Amount Pmt Amt Disc Amt

03/14/2023 661 All Points Transit I 4522 3,100.00 .00 .00 3,100.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1245 Archuleta, Benny ARCH3-1-20 1,500.00 .00 .00 1,500.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 901 Blue Sage Center  013123(EXT 480.00 .00 .00 480.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1126 Browns Hill Engine 953 1,710.00 .00 .00 1,710.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 21 Caselle, Inc 123329 1,261.00 .00 .00 1,261.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 673 City Of Grand Junc 2023-000730 131.00 .00 .00 131.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1183 Column Software  8DFD59D8-0 18.34 .00 .00 18.34 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1183 Column Software  8DFD59D8-0 132.04 .00 .00 132.04 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1183 Column Software  8DFD59D8-0 22.94 .00 .00 22.94 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 39 Delta County Inde 0223519674 100.30 .00 .00 100.30 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 56 Delta County Land 393301-3941 2,352.50 .00 .00 2,352.50 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 43 Delta Montrose Ele 3-2023-W 1,956.29 .00 .00 1,956.29 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 711 Delta Rigging & To GRA-PSI001 302.00 .00 .00 302.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 46 Dependable Lumb 2302-266864 285.69 .00 .00 285.69 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 48 Don's Market 01-1751479 26.49 .00 .00 26.49 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1238 Dooley Enterprises 65000 888.21 .00 .00 888.21 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 50 Duckworks Auto P 11044-40499 114.60 .00 .00 114.60 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 50 Duckworks Auto P 11044-40543 42.56 .00 .00 42.56 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 50 Duckworks Auto P 11044-40587 20.18 .00 .00 20.18 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 986 Elevate Fiber 66210_2717 676.59 .00 .00 676.59 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1172 Flowpoint Environ 2023 1,095.00 .00 .00 1,095.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1294 Garfield County Tr 2023-000000 197.50 .00 .00 197.50 ____ ________ ________
03/10/2023 81 High Country Printi 19542 59.63 .00 .00 59.63 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1124 JDS-Hydro Consul INV-0123-13 3,948.75 .00 .00 3,948.75 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1277 Kelly PC 2012023 10,202.70 .00 .00 10,202.70 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1277 Kelly PC 3022023 8,498.70 .00 .00 8,498.70 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1296 LADS Welding LL 12 300.00 .00 .00 300.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 482 Larry D Gillenwate 693109 43.74 .00 .00 43.74 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 470 Leon, Susan 030123-0331 775.00 .00 .00 775.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 645 Mail Services, LLC 1874999 537.81 .00 .00 537.81 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 228 North Fork Farmer 2023 320.00 .00 .00 320.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 141 North Fork Service  629671-6296 432.39 .00 .00 432.39 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 122 Paonia Auto Parts 397372-3978 404.58 .00 .00 404.58 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 125 Paonia Farm & Ho 146792-1480 332.06 .00 .00 332.06 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1197 Phonetics, Inc 38421-2023 83.40 .00 .00 83.40 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 499 Phonz + 14565 4,011.54 .00 .00 4,011.54 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 499 Phonz + 14655 2,128.13 .00 .00 2,128.13 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 931 Roop Excavating L 1491 480.00 .00 .00 480.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1295 Santiago, Ruben 03072023 350.00 .00 .00 350.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1170 Shums Coda Asso 16460 480.00 .00 .00 480.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1170 Shums Coda Asso 16461 910.00 .00 .00 910.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1170 Shums Coda Asso 16462 960.00 .00 .00 960.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 226 Stewart Ditch and  6285 648.45 .00 .00 648.45 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1283 Sustainable Future 02-2023 13,893.84 .00 .00 13,893.84 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 861 The Paper-Clip LL 2046269-204 186.13 .00 .00 186.13 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1256 The UPS Store #5 POS5734A-0 165.05 .00 .00 165.05 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 1039 Tribble & Sons Co 293 4,884.00 .00 .00 4,884.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 161 UNCC 223020967 47.73 .00 .00 47.73 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 162 United Companies  1505488 293.26 .00 .00 293.26 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 162 United Companies  1506646 1,101.46 .00 .00 1,101.46 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 441 USA Blue Book 266418 643.36 .00 .00 643.36 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 441 USA Blue Book 266719 442.38 .00 .00 442.38 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 441 USA Blue Book 271183 773.63 .00 .00 773.63 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 441 USA Blue Book 277364 62.17 .00 .00 62.17 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 441 USA Blue Book 280602 62.94 .00 .00 62.94 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 441 USA Blue Book 283634 400.55 .00 .00 400.55 ____ ________ ________

Dial-a-Ride Funding-104131

ORC CONTRACT AGREEMENT-605042

LODGING-104102

2023 SCADA LEASE-605031
MONTHLY SOFTWARE FEE - ALLOCATED

WATER SAMPLES-605032

LEGAL NOTICES - 104130

LEGAL NOTICES - 605030

LEGAL NOTICES - 104130

CLASSIFIED AD-104130

LANDFILL FEES-805242
UTILITIES - ALLOCATED

TIRE CHAINS - 805225

VARIOUS-ALLOCATED

PROPANE-204525

RIFLE TRAINING AMMO-144216

KODIAK D.TRUCK-ALLOCATED

KODIAK D.TRUCK-ALLOCATED

MEYER SNOW PLOW REPAIR-204542

TELEPHONE & INTERNET - ALLOCATED

ANNUAL SOFTWARE FEE-605033

ENERGY SYMPOSIUM-104126
BUSINES CARD-104115

GENERAL ENGINEERING-ALLOCATED

ATTORNEY - ALLOCATED

ATTORNEY - ALLOCATED

LIFT ON TRASH TRUCK REPAIR-805223

CAR WASH - ALLOCATED

CLEANING CONTRACT-104125

BILLING POST CARDS-ALLOCATED
ANNUAL ASSESSMENT-705132
FUEL+TIRES-ALLOCATED

VARIOUS-ALLOCATED

VARIOUS-ALLOCATED
SEWER ALERT SYSTEM-705131

PRINTER/LAPTOPS-ALLOCATED

MONTHLY IT FEES-ALLOCATED

GRAVEL DELIVERY-ALLOCATED
OFFICE DESK-104125

BUILDING INSPECTOR-PLAN REVIEWS-124302
BUILDING INSPECTOR-INSPECTION SERVICES-124302

BUILDING INSPECTOR-CONSULTING SERVICES-124302

ANNUAL ASSESSMENT-164632

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR SERVICES-104102

OFFICE SUPPLIES-ALLOCATED

WATER SAMPLE SHIPPING-605017

SEWER REPAIR-705122

LOCATES-ALLOCATED

SEWER ROAD REPAIR-705122

3/4" ROAD BASE-ALLOCATED

PARTS & SUPPLIES-ALLOCATED

WATER REPAIR-605022
WATER REPAIR-605022

WATER MARKING FLAGS-605025

WATER REPAIR-605022

WATER PARTS-605022



Town of Paonia Cash Requirements Report - Paonia Page:     2
Due date(s): All-All Mar 10, 2023  06:40PM

Check Issue Date: 3/10/2023

Due Vendor Vendor Invoice Invoice Discount Partial Net Due Pay Partial Part Pmt
Date Number Name Number Amount Amount Payments Amount Pmt Amt Disc Amt

03/14/2023 946 Varner Equipment 38475 510.00 .00 .00 510.00 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 946 Varner Equipment 38575 37.34 .00 .00 37.34 ____ ________ ________
03/14/2023 588 Wilbur-Ellis Compa 15548064 1,237.50 .00 .00 1,237.50 ____ ________ ________

Grand Totals: 59 77,061.45 .00 .00 77,061.45

Cash Requirements Summary

Date Invoice Amount Discount Amount Partial Payments Net Due Amount Net Cumulative Amount

03/10/2023 59.63 .00 .00 59.63 59.63
03/14/2023 77,001.82 .00 .00 77,001.82 77,061.45

Grand Totals:
77,061.45 .00 .00 77,061.45

F250 PLOW TRUCK REPAIR-204523

F350 MEYER SNOW PLOW REPAIR-204542

SEWER CHEMICALS-705116



Town of Paonia Pay Code Transaction Report - CHECK Page:     1
Pay period: 2/18/2023 - 3/3/2023 Mar 10, 2023  07:10PM

85-00
Employee Net Pay
Number Name Emp Amt

1055 Byrge, Rodney A 1,671.73
1053 Cecil, Raymond Cole 1,388.78
1051 Erickson, Jason C 1,831.48
1071 Garcia, Jeremiah 1,623.80
1023 Gilliam, William J 1,719.84
1072 Heiniger Burum, Derek J 1,508.90
1050 Heiniger, Cory 2,050.05
1021 Henderson, Garrett W 1,929.95
1022 Hinyard, Patrick 1,828.19
1001 Jones, Cynthia 2,485.34
1010 Katzer, JoAnn 1,160.05
1024 Kramer, Lance W 1,535.91
1020 Laiminger, Matt 1,726.18
1003 Mojarro-Lopez, Amanda 864.70
1070 Redden, Jordan 2,271.10
1052 Reich, Dennis 1,416.68
1056 Rose, Clinton A 1,258.29
1006 Santiago, Ruben 1,392.28
1025 Seeley, Thomas J 983.87
1005 Vetter, Samira 1,637.96
1063 Walton, Matthew 789.12
1004 Wuollet, Candice C 147.76

Grand Totals:
22 33,221.96










	Regular Town Board Meeting Packet Document_Redacted.pdf
	Top
	Correspondence Recieved
	ASF - Correspondence recieved
	Purchase of the Votech Bldg Comment - M. Pattison
	CR- Janicky Omniprocessor
	Citizen Kudos to Town Staff
	Citizen complaint

	Consent Agenda
	1122_RegMeet Min
	0228_RegMeetMIn
	Staff Memo for Flying Fork Cafe
	Flying Fork Cafe

	Staff Reports
	Town Administrator's Report 3 14 2023
	Finance Report 03142023
	BANK BALANCES 2023_Jan_Feb
	BANK BALANCES 2022_Nov_Dec
	Staff Memo_Transfer of Funds 03_2023
	2021-09-28 COLOTRUST PLUS+ Profile
	2022-10.11-COLOTRUST-PLUS-Information-Statement
	2022-04-COLOTRUST-PLUS-Investment-Policy
	MARCH - 23 PROGRESS REPORT PD
	Blotter
	Staff Memo Public Works
	Image
	Image2
	Regional Asbestos Mitigation Services Bid
	Valley Restoration & Construction Bid

	Public Hearings
	Staff Memo for Mason_Sipos_ Home_Occupancy
	Mason- Home Occupation Permit Appliocation
	Sec._16_11_20.___Home_occupations.
	Ordinance 2019-06 Home Occupation
	Affidavit of Publication
	Public Hearing Notice- Mason
	Mailings

	Other Items
	Delta County
	ASF - FIre and Fuel Mitigation
	Request for Support and Direction regarding Wildfire Mitigation on Town of Paonia Property

	NFV/ Hotchkiss Chamber of Commerce
	ASF - NFV Hotchkiss Chamber
	RequesttobeonAgenda NFV Hotchkiss Chamber

	Needs and Desires Boundaries
	ASF- Needs & Desires Boundaries
	Staff Memo Needs & Desires Boundaries
	Exerpt_Needs and Desires

	Opioid Settlement
	ASF Opioid Settlement
	2021-08 Opioid Settlement
	MOU
	ExhibK
	ExhibK_Updates

	Mayor's Report 3-14-23
	Mayor report 3-14-23
	cml-newsletter-2022-12-16
	CML_Prop 122 Amendments

	Bottom

	Modifications for 03142023 packet
	Packet Modifications Sheet
	Disbursement addedum.pdf
	Chase CC Statement 02232023.pdf
	DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 2023
	Disbursements 03142023
	Payroll 03102023
	Payroll Taxes 03102023
	Phillips66 Fuel Card 02232023


	Correspondence Recieved- Lucas



